P4 therapy for the treatment of severe bacterial infections

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

at The University of Liverpool by Suzanna Gore

July 2016

Declaration

This thesis is the result of my own work and effort. The material contained in the thesis has not been presented, nor is currently being presented, either wholly or in part, for any other degree or other qualification.

Research in this thesis was carried out at the Institute of Infection and Global Health (University of Liverpool, UK) and the Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine (Liverpool, UK).

Abstract

Background:

Severe bacterial infections and sepsis are a major global cause of mortality and morbidity and with the number of antibiotic resistance cases on the rise. Despite the introduction of treatment guidelines such as those implemented by the surviving sepsis campaign mortality remains high and new therapies are desperately needed. One new therapy, which may be of benefit, is P4 therapy – the combination of the immunomodulating peptide P4 and intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG). The ability of P4 to augment phagocytosis in models of pneumococcal infections, decreasing bacterial burden and improving survival has previously been shown. This thesis goes on to investigate the efficacy of P4 therapy in models of Gram-negative infections, with and without antibiotics and in *ex vivo* studies from patients with severe community acquired pneumonia (CAP).

Methods:

Murine models of *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* infection were used to evaluate the efficacy of P4 peptide with IVIG in the treatment of severe Gram-negative infections. Flow cytometry and ELISA were used to assessed immune responses to infection with P4 treatment.

Neutrophils from patients with severe CAP were isolated and their responses to P4 assessed with *ex vivo* phagocytosis assays and flow cytometry. *In vivo* and *ex vivo* studies were performed with naïve mice and tissue culture cell lines to evaluate the effect of P4 on neutrophil receptor expression and the binding of P4 peptide to cells.

Results:

Treatment with P4 and IVIG in combination with antibiotics led to significant improvements in survival and bacterial burden in *Klebsiella pneumoniae* infection. Treatment of *Escherichia.coli* infection with P4 and IVIG in combination with antibiotics showed no benefits over treatment with antibiotic with IVIG, this was likely due to the infection being too severe.

In neutrophils from CAP patients increases in bacterial killing when treated with P4 in phagocytosis assays were seen in 60% of patient. Patients who did not respond to the P4 treatment showed higher levels of IL-8 and IL-10 in their serum and higher disease severity scores.

Conclusions:

P4 treatment showed efficacy in the treatment of *Klebsiella* infection but data from *E. coli* infections and *ex vivo* treatment of CAP patient neutrophils suggest that infection severity and levels of IL-8 and IL-10 may effect treatment success. P4 could be a potential new treatment option for patients with severe bacterial infections but further studies are needed to better establish which patients would benefit from this treatment and the influence of host immune status on treatment efficacy.

Acknowledgements

This thesis would not have been possible without the support of my supervisors Aras Kadioglu and Stephen Gordon, whose guidance and encouragement has seen me through the past five years and I will always be grateful for. I'd also like to thank our collaborators Edwin Ades and Gowrisankar Rajam for their support and enthusiasm throughout this project.

Thanks to the members of our research group past and present and fellow scientists who have helped me along the way, especially Daniel Neill, Elaine Waters, Mathieu Bangert, Stavros Panagiotou, Simon Abrams and Toni Banyard, who have given me so much support, patience and friendship over the years.

I am thankful to the friends I have made during my time at the institute who have been there when I needed someone to commiserate with, complain to or just when what I really needed was a drink – Thanks to Simon, Stacey, Matt, Dan, Jen, Yasmina, Laura and Steph.

Finally, I'd like to thank my parents Helen and Jeremy and my family: James, Robert, Olive, Danielle and Gordon. I'm grateful for the love, support and encouragement.

Table of Contents

Chapter I. Introduction 18			
Α.	Sepsis	19	
1.	Disease burden	19	
2.	Diagnosis	20	
3.	Costs of sepsis	23	
В.	Gram negative infections	25	
1.	Escherichia coli	25	
2.	Klebsiella pneumoniae	32	
3.	Antibiotic resistance	34	
4.	Antibiotic failure	37	
C.	Neutrophils and phagocytosis	38	
1.	Neutrophils during infection	39	
2.	Immune dysfunction	50	
3.	Sepsis Treatment	53	
D.	P4 therapy	57	
1.	Passive immunotherapy	57	
2.	P4 peptide	61	
Ε.	Aims and objectives	67	
1.	Gram negative infections	67	
2.	Ex vivo CAP	67	
3.	Mechanism of P4 action	67	
Chapter II. In vivo murine study of effects of P4 peptide during severe			
E. col	infection	68	
Α.	Introduction	69	
1.	Animal Model	69	
2.	Cell surface marker and cytokines	69	

В	. 1	Methods and Materials	. 72
	1.	Media Preparation	. 72
	2.	Bacterial strain and inoculum preparation	. 72
	3.	Animal model techniques	. 73
	4.	Tissue collection	. 77
	5.	Statistical analysis	. 79
С	. r	Nodel development	. 80
D). F	Results	. 82
	1.	Single dose P4 treatment	. 82
	2.	Single dose combination treatment	. 86
	3.	Double dose P4 and antibiotic combination treatment	. 94
E	. F	Results Summary	115
F	. C	Discussion	120
	1.	Survival and bacterial burden	120
	2.	Inflammatory Markers	123
	3.	Cell populations	125
	4.	Endotoxcin (LPS)	127
	5.	Summary	127
Cha	apte	er III. In vivo murine study of effects of P4 peptide during	
pul	moi	nary Klebsiella pneumoniae infection1	128
Α	. I	ntroduction	129
	1.	Animal Model	129
	2.	Cell surface marker and cytokines	129
В	. r	Methods and Materials	131
	1.	Media preparation	131
	2.	Bacterial strain and inoculum preparation	131
	3.	Mouse Strains	132

4.	Infection and monitoring	132
5.	P4 treatment	132
6.	Antibiotic treatment	133
C .	Results	134
1.	Survival	134
2.	Bacterial Burden	137
3.	Inflammatory Markers	139
4.	Cell populations and receptor expression	145
D.	Results Summary	150
E. I	Discussion	151
1.	Survival and bacterial burden	151
2.	Inflammatory Markers	151
3.	Cell populations	152
4.	Summary	153
4. Chapte	Summary Fr IV. Ex vivo study of the effect of P4 peptide on neutrophils	153 of
4. Chapte patient	Summary er IV. Ex vivo study of the effect of P4 peptide on neutrophils ts with severe community acquired pneumonia	153 of 154
4. Chapte patient A.	Summary For IV. Ex vivo study of the effect of P4 peptide on neutrophils ts with severe community acquired pneumonia	153 of 154 155
4. Chapte patient A. 1 1.	Summary	153 of 154 155
4. Chapte patient A. 1 1. 2.	Summary	153 of 154 155 155
4. Chapte patient A. 1 1. 2. 3.	Summary	153 of 154 155 155 156 157
4. Chapte patient A. 1 1. 2. 3. 4.	Summary	153 of 154 155 155 156 157
4. Chapte patient A. 1 1. 2. 3. 4. 5.	Summary	 153 of 154 155 156 157 157 157
4. Chapte patient A. 1 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. B.	Summary	153 of 154 155 155 157 157 157 157
4. Chapte patient A. 1 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. B. 1 1.	Summary	153 of 154 155 155 156 157 157 157 158
4. Chapte patient A. 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. B. 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 5. 5. 8. 1. 5. 8. 1. 5. 8. 1. 5. 8. 1. 5. 8. 1. 5. 8. 1. 5. 8. 1. 5. 8. 1. 5. 8. 1. 5. 8. 1. 5. 8. 1. 5. 8. 1. 5. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8	Summary	153 of 154 155 155 156 157 157 157 158 158
4. Chapte patient A. 1 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. B. 1 1. 2. 3. 3. 3. 3. 3. 3. 3. 3. 3. 3	Summary	153 of 154 155 155 156 157 157 157 158 158 158

	5.	Sampling	159
	6.	Data collection	160
	7.	Pneumococcal Stocks	160
	8.	Blood Cell Isolation	161
	9.	Alveolar Macrophage Isolation	162
	10.	Opsonisation of pneumococci	163
	11.	Opsonophagocytosis Assay - neutrophils	163
	12.	Opsonophagocytosis Assay – alveolar macrophages	164
	13.	P4 Stimulation	164
	14.	Flow-cytometry	165
	15.	Cytokines	166
	16.	Statistical Analysis	166
C	. R	esults	167
	1.	Healthy Controls	167
	2.	Patient Characteristics	169
	3.	Opsonophagocytosis Assays	173
	4.	Patient Characteristics – Clinical Parameters	179
	5.	Patient Characteristics – Neutrophils	183
	6.	Patient Characteristics - Cytokines	186
	7.	FcγR Expression	191
	8.	Complement receptor expression	195
	9.	IL-8R expression	200
	10.	CD88 Expression	202
	11.	Alveolar Macrophages	204
D	. S	ummary of results	206
E.	. D	iscussion	208
	1.	OPK	208
	2.	Receptor expression	209

3.	Inflammatory Markers 210
4.	Effect of time 211
5.	Alveolar macrophages 211
6.	Summary
Chapte	r V. Mechanism of P4 action 213
A. I	ntroduction 214
1.	P4 treatment of naïve mice in vivo
2.	P4 treatment of naïve mouse neutrophils ex vivo
B. I	Nethod and Materials
1.	P4 treatment of naïve mice in vivo
2.	P4 treatment of naïve mice ex vivo
C. F	Results 217
1.	P4 treatment of naïve mice in vivo
2.	P4 treatment of bone marrow neutrophils form naïve mice ex vivo 220
D. F	Results summary 224
1.	P4 treatment of naïve mice in vivo 224
2.	P4 treatment of bone marrow neutrophils form naïve mice ex vivo 224
E. [Discussion 225
1.	P4 treatment of naïve mice in vivo 225
2.	P4 treatment of bone marrow neutrophils form naïve mice ex vivo 226
Chapte	r VI. Discussion and Future work 227
A. [Discussion 228
1.	Animal models 228
2.	Ex vivo CAP study 232
3.	Future Work 233
Appen	dix237
A. F	Fluorescent P4 – Methods and Materials

Refere	nces	243
C. I	Discussion	242
2.	Fluorescent P4 – confocal imaging	240
1.	Fluorescent P4 – flow cytometry	238
B. I	Results	238
2.	Confocal imaging	237
1.	Peptide binding	237

List of Figures

Figure 1. Incidence of sepsis according to source of infection, stratified by sex. From Moss et al. 2005 (7) 20

Figure 3 Direct costs of sepsis in German ICUs 23

Figure 4 Blood infection-causing organisms 25

Figure 5. Cause of death in children under 5 years, 2015 28

Figure 6 Positive "string test" on a hypervirulent strain of *K. pneumoniae* 34

Figure 7 Dates of discovery of distinct classes of antibacterial drugs 36

Figure 8 Production of the neutrophil lineage in the bone marrow. 39

Figure 9 Schematic describing the cascade of events by which bacteria induce neutrophil infiltration and tissue damage in the lung 40

Figure 10 Phagosome formation and maturation 45

Figure 11 Comparison of human and murine FcyRs 47

Figure 12 Complement system pathways 49

Figure 13 Competing theories of host immunity in sepsis 51

Figure 14 Fc and Fab mediated IVIG activity 60

Figure 15. P4 peptide 61

Figure 16 Comparison of P4, P6 and P7 sequence with PsaA sequence. 62

Figure 17 Transmission electron micrographs of P4-treated and non-treated Detroit 562 cells (1900×) 63

Figure 18 Effect of removing assay components from OPK on P4 enhancement of phagocytosis in human alveolar macrophages. 64

Figure 19 P4 enhances phagocytosis of IVIG opsonised bacteria through increased expression of $Fc\gamma R$ 66

Figure 20 CXCL1 -mediated signaling cascades leading to bacterial clearance in the organs in response to polymicrobial sepsis 70

Figure 21 Anatomy of murine tail 75

Figure 22 Blood CFUs of mice infected with *E. coli* over 48 hrs 81

Figure 23 Single dose treatment of P4 peptide in severe *E. coli* infection model – Blood CFUs 84

Figure 24 Single dose treatment of P4 peptide in severe *E. coli* infection model – Tissue CFUs 85

Figure 25 Blood CFU after single treatment of Tazocin in *E. coli* infection model 87

Figure 26 Single dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Blood CFU 90

Figure 27 Single dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Lung CFU 7 hours post infection 90

Figure 28 Single dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model -Survival 92

Figure 29 Single dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection – Survival time 93

Figure 30 Time of death blood CFUs 93

Figure 31 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Survival 96

Figure 33 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Blood CFU 100

Figure 34 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Lung CFU 101

Figure 35 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Plasma CXCL1 104

Figure 36 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Plasma IL-10105

Figure 37 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Plasma C5a 106

Figure 38 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection – % Neutrophil (CD45+, CD11b+, Gr-1+) of CD45+ cells 108

Figure 39 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Neutrophil receptor expression $Fc\gamma Rs$ 110

Figure 40 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Neutrophil receptor expression CD88 112

Figure 41 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Serum endotoxin levels 114

Figure 42 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model - Survival 135

Figure 43. Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model – Survival 136

Figure 44. Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in K. pneumoniae infection model – Blood and Lung CFUs 138

Figure 45. Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model – Inflammatory markers in plasma (CXCL1 and MIP-2) 140

Figure 46 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model – Inflammatory markers in plasma (C5a) 141

Figure 47 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model – Inflammatory markers in Lung (CXCL1 and MIP-2) 143

Figure 48 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model – lung (C5a) 144

Figure 49 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model – Lung IL-10 144

Figure 50 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model – percentage neutrophils in blood and lungs 146

Figure 51 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model – blood neutrophil receptor expression ($Fc\gamma R$) 148

Figure 52 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model – blood neutrophil receptor expression C5aR 149

Figure 53 Pathogen Detection among U.S. Adults with Community-Acquired Pneumonia Requiring Hospitalization, 2010–2012. 155

Figure 54 Blood cell isolation – dextran sedimentation and density centrifugation 161

Figure 55 OPKs from blood neutrophils and alveolar macrophages of healthy volunteers 168

Figure 56 – Fold increase in killing index of peripheral blood neutrophils treated with P4 peptide 174

Figure 57 – Difference in killing index between P4 treated peripheral blood neutrophils and untreated neutrophils 175

Figure 58 Killing index for peripheral blood neutrophils treated with P4 peptide and untreated neutrophils 177

Figure 59 Killing index for peripheral blood and untreated neutrophils for individual patients neutrophils treated with P4 peptide 178

Figure 60 APACHE II and time of sampling SOFA scores 180

Figure 61 Effect of sampling time 182

Figure 62 Patient neutrophil and WBC count 184

Figure 63 Neutrophil count vs fold increase in killing index 185

Figure 64. Patient serum cytokines – IL-8 and IL-10 187

Figure 65 Patient serum cytokines IL-6 and INF-y 188

Figure 66 Patient neutrophil count vs. serum IL-8 190

Figure 67 Fc gamma receptor expression - CD64 (Fc γ RI), CD32 (Fc γ RIIA/B)and CD16 (Fc γ RIII) 192

Figure 68 Effect of P4 on expression of CD32 on peripheral blood neutrophils 193

Figure 69 Effect of P4 on expression of CD64 (FcγRI) and CD16 (FcγRIII) on peripheral blood neutrophils 194

Figure 70 Complement receptor expression – CD35 and CD11b (CR1 and CR3) 196

Figure 71 Effect of P4 on expression of CD35 and CD11b on peripheral blood neutrophils 197

Figure 72 CD66b (CEACAM8) expression 199

Figure 73 Effect of P4 on expression of CD66b on peripheral blood neutrophils 199

Figure 74 IL-8 receptor (CXCR1) expression 201

Figure 75 Effect of P4 peptide on IL-8R expression on peripheral blood neutrophils 201

Figure 76 CD88 expression 203

Figure 77 Effect of P4 peptide on CD88 expression on peripheral blood neutrophils 203

Figure 78 Alveolar macrophage OPK from CAP patients 205

Figure 79 Effect of P4 on expression of CD88 on neutrophils of naïve mice 218

Figure 80 Effect of P4 on expression of CD35/21 (CR1/2) on neutrophils of naïve mice 218

Figure 81 Effect of P4 on expression of CD182 (CXCR2) on neutrophils of naïve mice 219

Figure 82 Difference in killing index with P4 treatment - naïve bone marrow neutrophils 221

Figure 83 Effect of P4 treatment on expression of CD64 (FcγRI) on naïve bone marrow neutrophils 223

Figure 84 Effect of P4 treatment on expression of CD32/16 (FcγRII/III) on naïve bone marrow neutrophils 223

Figure 85 Direct translocation of cationic peptide 234

Figure 86 Binding of fluorescent P4 to naïve mouse bone marrow neutrophils 239

Figure 87 Live confocal imaging of J774 macrophages treated with fluorescently labelled P4 241

Figure 88 Live confocal imaging of J774 macrophages treated with fluorescently labelled P4 – Z stacks 241

List of Tables

Table 1 E. coli pathotypes
Table 2 Potential etiology of intra-abdominal infections (35)
Table 3 Aerobic bacteria identified from intra-operative peritoneal fluid (36) 31
Table 4 Bacteria commonly causing infections in hospitals and communities
Table 5 Major human and murine neutrophil-active chemoattractants and their receptors expressed on neutrophils. Adapted from Sadik 2011 (65) 41
Table 6 Human phagocytic receptors Adapted from Freeman et al 2014 (96) 44
Table 7 Sepsis bundles55
Table 8. Comparison of immune serum, human monoclonal antibodies and chemotherapy for treatment of infection
Table 9. Published P4 in vivo research
Table 10 Animal model scoring
Table 11 Mouse flow cytometry antibodies 78
Table 12 Single dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in <i>E.coli</i> infection model – Survival time 92
Table 13 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in <i>E. coli</i> infection model – Survival time
Table 14 Comparison of single and double dose treatment of P4-IVIG in combination with antibiotics- Blood and lung CFUs116
Table 15 Summary of CXCL1, IL-10 and C5a mean plasma levels at seven hours post infection for mice treated with a double dose of P4-IVIG and antibiotics in combination
Table 16 – Patient Characteristics – Orange = Responders, Blue = Non responders
Table 17 Mouse flow cytometry antibodies 216
Table 18 Comparison of <i>E. coli</i> and <i>K. pneumoniae</i> in vivo models

List of abbreviations:

APACHE II	Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II
BAL	Bronchoalveolar lavage
BHI	Brain heart infusion
CAP	Community acquired pneumonia
CFU	Colony forming unit
CNS	Central nervous system
COPD	Chronic pulmonary obstructive disease
DEPC	Diethylpyrocarbonate treated water
EOS	Early onset sepsis
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FcγR	Fc gamma receptor
GBS	Group B Streptococcus
GI	Gastrointestinal
ICU	Intensive care unit
lg	Immunoglobulin
INF	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
IP	Intraperitoneal
IQR	Interquartile range
IVIG	Intravenous immunoglobulin
IV	Intravenous
LOS	Late-onset sepsis
LRII	Lower respiratory tract infection
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MPO	Myeloperoxidases
NEI	Neutrophil extracellular trap
OPK	Opsonophagocytosis killing assay
P4	Immunoactivating peptide
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PsaA	Pneumococcal sufface adnesin A
RUS	Reactive oxygen species
RNS	Reactive nitrogen species
	Stanuard error of the mean
SUFA	Sequential organitation
	Urinary tract intection

Chapter I. Introduction

A. Sepsis

The word sepsis dates back over 2000 years to ancient Greece, when Hippocrates defined sepsis, $\sigma \dot{\eta} \psi_I \zeta$, as a process similar to putrefaction, the festering of wounds (1). Since that date sepsis has varied in meaning as understanding of the condition has developed, arriving at its current clinical definition as: a life-threatening organ dysfunction caused by a dysregulated host response to infection and septic shock defined as sepsis with persisting hypotension despite adequate volume resuscitation (2).

1. Disease burden

Sepsis presents a significant burden on healthcare systems; global annual cases are documented at 1.8 million although due to low rates of recognition this is likely an underestimate (3). In England alone there were 122,822 cases between 2013 and 2014 and the number of cases is rising at a rate of around 10% year on year, this is likely due to people living longer with more chronic illnesses (4). Case-fatality rates for sepsis vary depending on severity: sepsis has a mortality of 30%, whereas severe sepsis and septic shock have mortality rates of 50 and 80% respectively (5). Mortality and incidence of sepsis also vary greatly with age; below 40 years in hospital mortality is between less than 5% and 15% whereas in those above 40 years there is a linear relationship between age and mortality. Incidence is highest in those under five years, is low between five and 40 years and then increases with age (6). Severe infections can progress into sepsis due to factors such as treatment failure and patient immune status; the most

19

common source of infection in sepsis is the respiratory tract followed by the genitourinary and gastrointestinal tracts (7).



Figure 1. Incidence of sepsis according to source of infection, stratified by sex. From Moss et al. 2005 (7)

2. Diagnosis

Until this year (2016) sepsis diagnosis followed fairly rigid criteria: evidence of suspected infection and 2 or more SIRS criteria:

- Temperature >38°C or <36°C
- Heart rate >90/min
- Respiratory rate >20/min or Paco₂ <32 mm Hg (4.3 kPa)
- White blood cell count >12 000/mm³ or <4000/mm³ or >10% immature bands

This definition, which focused in on excess inflammation was deemed to be unhelpful in diagnosis as it had poor discriminant and concurrent validity when identifying potential sepsis patients and fails to take into account the role of anti-inflammatory processes in disease progression (2).

The new guidelines for the identifying of sepsis patients (workflow detailed in figure 2) are intended to ease early diagnosis of a condition which is protean in nature and in which a myriad of clinical signs and symptoms can be used for identification, many of which can be influenced by both pathogen and host heterogeneity. The quick SOFA (qSOFA) score was introduced to help highlight patients that were likely to have sepsis and are in need of further investigation (2).





3. Costs of sepsis

Sepsis is associated with high costs, both to healthcare systems and to the patients themselves. Sepsis patients account for almost one third of ICU admissions in the UK and almost half of these patients die in hospital (8). The cost of a single day in ICU in a European hospital ranges from €1168 - €2025 with ICU departments estimated to consume 20% of the total hospital budget (9). Figure 3 shows the breakdown of these direct costs, with the biggest expensive being staffing.





With sepsis patients making up such a high proportion of ICU patients they present a significant financial burden and are estimated to cost the NHS £2 billion a year. Direct cost of treatment per case of severe sepsis range from \in 23,000 to \in 29,000 in Europe and \in 34,000 in the US; this cost only represents 20-30 % of the total cost with 70-80 % of costs being indirect, mainly due to productivity losses (11).

As well as high fiscal costs patients can also suffer from long term sequela such as cognitive and physical impairments, muscle weakness, wasting and fatigue as well as the worsening of existing chronic conditions (12-14). Sepsis patients are 1.5 times more likely to be readmitted to hospital within 30 days of discharge than non-sepsis patients and are also more likely to die or move into hospice care (15).

B. Gram negative infections

Although Gram-positive infections are the most common cause of sepsis, having superseded Gram-negative infections as the leading cause in the mid-late 1980s, Gram-negative infections still constitute a high proportion of cases (16). Gram-negative infections account for only 38% of reported cases sepsis (Gram-positive cases constitute 52% of cases, while fungal infections constitute 10%) but they are highly prevalent as bloodstream infections and infections with *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella spp.* are on the rise (17).



Figure 4 Blood infection-causing organisms



1. Escherichia coli

E. coli is an extremely versatile microorganism and is the most prevalent commensal in the gut of humans and warm-blooded animals. As well as being a harmless commensal, *E. coli* also exists as a number of pathotypes capable of causing disease in health humans. Of these pathotypes (listed in Table 1) the extra-intestinal *E.coli*: uropathogenic (UPEC) and neonatal

meningitis (NMEC) are of particular interest as the causative agents of urosepsis and neonatal meningitis and sepsis.

Pathotype (acronym)	Diseases		
Enteric E.coli			
EnteroPathogenic <i>E. coli</i> (EPEC)	Diarrhoea in children		
EnteroHaemorrhagic <i>E. coli</i> (EHEC)	Haemorrhagic colitis, haemolytic-uremic syndrome		
EnteroToxigenic <i>E. coli</i> (ETEC)	Traveller's diarrhoea		
EnteroAggregative <i>E. coli</i> (EAEC)	Diarrhoea in children		
Diffusely Adherent E. coli(DAEC)	Acute diarrhoea in children		
EnteroInvasive <i>E. coli</i> (EIEC)	Shigellosis-like		
Adherent Invasive E. coli (AIEC)	Associated with Crohn disease		
Extraintestinal E. coli (ExPEC)			
UroPathogenic <i>E. coli</i> (UPEC)	Lower UTI and systemic infections		
Neonatal Meningitis <i>E. coli</i> (NMEC)	Neonatal meningitis		
Avian Pathogenic <i>E. coli</i> (APEC)	Probable source of food-borne disease		

Table 1 E. coli pathotypes

From Allocati et al. 2013 (18)

a) Urosepsis

Urinary tract infections (UTI) are extremely common with approximately 150 million cases globally per year and they are the second most common reason for antibiotic prescription (19). In elderly patients, diabetics and immunosuppressed patients there is a higher risk of UTIs developing into urosepsis, this risk is multiplied further by hospitalisation where interventions

such as the placement of indwelling urethral catheter, ureteric stents and nephrostomy tubes further increase risk (20). Catheter-associated UTIs account for 40% of hospital acquired infections (19). *E. coli* is the most common cause of UTI and UPEC isolates account for 75-95% of total cases and 65% of hospital acquired UTIs (*Klebsiella spp, Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Proteus spp* have higher incidence in a hospital setting than the community) (21). Urosepsis constitutes 5% of sepsis cases overall with *E. coli* the causative agent in 50% of these cases (21). Urosepsis is becoming an increasing public health issues with the aging population and increases in antibiotic resistance, which is highly prevalent in UPEC strains due to their propensity to cause occult chronic infections.

b) Neonatal sepsis and meningitis

Infection remains a major cause of mortality in neonates with 7% of all deaths in children under five year old caused by neonatal sepsis (Figure 5). Neonatal sepsis can be divided into two groups: early-onset sepsis (EOS), within one week of birth (some studies state 72 hours) and late-onset sepsis (LOS), after one week from birth. EOS is thought to be due to maternal intrapartum transmission of infectious organisms whilst LOS is thought to be due to be due to postnatal infection with preterm infants being particularly at risk as a result of prolonged hospitalization and use of indwelling catheters, endotracheal tubes, and other invasive procedures (22).

27





Neonatal sepsis due to *E. coli* has increased in recent years and is the most common cause of early on-set sepsis in very low birth weight neonates (VLBW); those weighing less than 1500 grams. *E. coli* is often associated with more severe infections and meningitis and it has become the principal cause of sepsis-related mortality among VLBW infants (24.5%) and the second most common cause in infants at term (22).

Premature births are more susceptible to infection due to their immature immune systems; compared with adults, neonate cells have lower proinflammatory cytokine production, lower expression of neutrophil adhesion molecules, decreased response to chemoattractants and increased induction of IL-10 (24-26). The majority of transplacental passage of IgG occurs in the later stages of pregnancy with IgG concentrations only reaching 50% between weeks 28-32 of gestation, which means premature births have a reduced level of humoral immunity compared with term births (27). Complement levels increase with age but are still significantly lower than adult levels at term, with a marked deficiency in the levels of C9 limiting the formation of the membrane attack complex (28).

Neonatal meningitis is primarily caused by *E. coli* isolates belonging to the NMEC pathotype, the condition has a high mortality rate of between 15 and 40% and is associated with severe long term neurological defects in survivors (29). Bacteraemia is a prerequisite to meningeal infection with the infection being spread haematogenously; 80% of NMEC isolates possess a K1 capsule, which although not necessary for traversing the blood-brain barrier is essential for survival (29, 30). Invasion of the blood-brain barrier by *E. coli* is a function of bacterial burden with the risk of invasion increasing with bacterial counts of more than 10^3 per ml of blood (31).

Treatment of neonatal infections are complicated as the drug dosing schedules and concentrations are based on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics data from adult trials. Intrapartum interventions for the prevention of Group B *Streptococcus* (GBS) infection (antibiotics for prophylaxis or suspected chorioamnionitis) have shown great benefits in reducing the incidence of EOS caused by GBS – no such intervention exists of *E. coli* and prevention remains a challenge (32). Improvements in the recognition of EOS are needed in order to help prevent the unnecessary treatment of neonates with antibiotics (33).

29

c) Peritonitis and intra-abdominal sepsis

The term intra-abdominal infection covers an array of different etiologies (see Table 2) and abdominal infection is the third most common cause of sepsis after pulmonary and genitourinary infection (34).

Gastrointestinal	Anastomotic leak	latrogenic perforations		
	Appendicitis	Inflammatory bowel disease		
	Clostridium difficile colitis	Meckel diverticulum		
	Diverticulitis	Peptic ulcer disease		
	Fistula formation	Perforated neoplasm		
	Gastrointestinal malignancy	Perforating trauma		
Biliary	Acalculous cholecystitis	Ascending cholangitis		
	Acute calculous cholecystitis	Intrahepatic abscess		
Retroperitoneal	Acute pancreatitis			
	Kidney abscess			
	Pyelonephritis			
Pelvic	Endometritis	Parametritis		
	Extrauterine pregnancy	Pelvic inflammatory disease		
	Oophoritis	Salpingitis		
	Ovarial abscess	Tubal abscess		
Others	Blunt trauma	Spontaneous bacterial peritonitis		
	Intrasplenic abscess			

Table 2 Potential etiology of intra-abdominal infections (35)

Peritonitis can be categorised into primary, secondary or tertiary peritonitis. Primary peritonitis is defined as peritonitis with no obvious cause (such as breach of the GI tract), is usually monobacterial and its most frequent presentation is spontaneous bacterial peritonitis in patients with cirrhosis or ascites (35). Secondary peritonitis is caused by perforations of a hollow viscus due to inflammation or malignancy, less common causes include superinfection of ischemic necrosis, fistulas, trauma, or iatrogenic causes such as leakage from anastomotic sites (35). Tertiary peritonitis is defined as a persistent or recurrent peritoneal infection, usually the result of failed treatment of a secondary peritonitis, 20% of secondary peritonitis patients progress to tertiary peritonitis and it is associated with a high incidence of nosocomial and multidrug resistant infections, high mortality, immune dysfunction and more severe organ dysfunction (35). Enterobacteriaceae are by far the most commonly isolated pathogens from peritoneal infections within which *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* predominate, although infections from secondary peritonitis are often polymicrobial (seeTable 3).

 Table 3 Aerobic bacteria identified from intra-operative peritoneal fluid (36)

Total	1330 (100%)		
Aerobic Gram-negative bacteria	957 (71.9%)		
E. coli	548 (41.2%)		
(E. coli resistant to third generation cephalosporins)	75 (5.6%)		
K. pneuumoniae	140 (10.5%)		
(K. pneumoniae resistant to third generation cephalosporins)	26 (1.4%)		
K. oxytoca	11 (0.8%)		
(Klebsiella oxytoca resistant to third generation cephalosporins)	2 (0.1)		
Enterobacter	64 (4.8%)		
Proteus	47 (3.5%)		
Pseudomonas	74 (5.6%)		
Others	73 (5.6%)		
Aerobic Gram-positive bacteria	373 (29.1%)		
Enterococcus faecalis	153 (11.5%)		
Enterococcus faecium	58 (4.4%)		
Staphylococcus Aureus	38 (2.8%)		
Streptococcus spp.	85 (6,4%)		
Others	39 (2.9%)		
Detiente elder these 40 verse underseine european en interventionel during as to			

Patients older than 18 years undergoing surgery or interventional drainage to address

2. Klebsiella pneumoniae

Klebsiella spp. are ubiquitous in the environment as well as being a common commensal in the human and animal gastrointestinal tract. *K pneumoniae* and *K oxytoca* are the two species responsible for most human infections.

a) K. pneumoniae in community acquired pneumonia

Although thought to be an important cause of community acquired pneumonia between the 1920s-1960s *K. pneumoniae* is now a relatively uncommon cause of CAP with incidence in the US estimated at less than 1%. It should be noted however that diagnosis rates in CAP are low with failure to identify the etiological agent being as high as 65% (37, 38). In some regions (Taiwan and South Africa) and in specific patient groups (alcoholics and males with leukopenia) *K. pneumoniae* does still cause a significant proportion of CAP (39). These cases of primary CAP, caused by hypervirulent *K. pneumoniae* isolates (discussed further below) have higher mortality rates (55.1%) and marginally higher incidence (31%) than CAP caused by *S. pneumoniae* (mortality 27.3%) in these regions (39, 40).

K. pneumoniae in western countries is however still an important cause of nosocomial infections accounting for around 10% of hospital-acquired and ventilator-acquired bacterial pneumonias as well as being a common cause of hospital-acquired UTI and is also commonly found in the lungs of chronic pulmonary obstructive disorder (COPD) patients (38, 39, 41).

b) Hypervirulent Klebsiella pneumoniae

In addition to *K. pneumoniae* causing respiratory infections and UTIs, invasive liver abscess syndrome (defined as *K. pneumoniae* liver abscess with extrahepatic complications, particularly CNS involvement, necrotising fasciitis, or endophthalmitis) has become a significant problem, spreading out from Southeast Asia over the last 20 years and being increasingly identified in the west (42, 43). This infectious syndrome is of particular concern as it is caused by hypervirulent (also referred to as hypermucoviscous) isolates of *K. pneumoniae* capable of causing infection in healthy adults in the community and has mortality ranging from 3-42% despite infecting a relatively healthy group of patients compared with those infected with the "classical" *K. pneumoniae* isolates common in respiratory infections (44).

The reason for the increased virulence of these isolates is not well defined although higher production of siderophores (resulting in improved iron acquisition) compared to "classical" isolates is thought to play an important role (45). The hypermucoviscous phenotype is also thought to be significant factor, with the trait being used to provisionally identify hypervirulent isolates via a "string test" (Figure 6). Whether this phenotype is a result of increased capsule production or due to the presence of extracapsular polysaccharide is contested, although it has been shown that the majority of hypervirulent isolates possess copies (both chromosomally and on plasmids) of both the *rmpA* and *rmpA2* genes (positive regulators of capsule production). The presence of both these genes is uncommon in capsular serotypes not associated with hypervirulent isolates (46).

33



Figure 6 Positive "string test" on a hypervirulent strain of *K. pneumoniae* String test is deemed positive if the dipping of a loop into a culture can produce a viscous string of more than 5 mm (44).

Hypervirulent *K. pneumoniae* isolates, in general, are more susceptible to antibiotics than their "classical" counterparts, with speculation that their higher levels of capsule expression make them less able to acquire plasmids or that antibiotic resistance genes have been lost in these isolates when they become hypervirulent (47). However, studies from China have shown resistance to antibiotics is increasing over time, with carbapenems being the only antibiotic some hypervirulent isolates show sensitivity to (47). With this in mind, hypervirulent *K. pneumoniae* has the potential to become the next "super-bug".

3. Antibiotic resistance

Antibiotics have been in use for over 60 years and have long been considered the panacea for infectious disease and hence have been extensively misused in the treatment of both humans and in food-producing animals. In Alexander Fleming's Nobel Prize speech in 1945, awarded for the discovery of penicillin, he warned of the development of antimicrobial resistance and already by the 1950s penicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* was common place in hospitals (48). Since that time antibiotic resistance has increased to the extent that bacteria commonly causing infections in hospitals and the community show resistance of 50% or more to commonly used antibiotics across the globe (Table 4).

Name of bacterium/ resistance	Examples of typical diseases	No. of 194 MS providing national data	No. of WHO regions with national reports of 50 % resistance or more	Range of reported proportion of resistance
Escherichia coli	Urinary tract infections, blood stream infections			
-vs 3 rd gen. cephalosporins		84	5/6	0-82
-vs fluoroquinolones		90	5/6	3-96
Klebsiella pneumoniae	Pneumonia, blood stream infections, urinary tract infections			
-vs 3 rd gen. cephalosporins		85	6/6	2-82
-vs carbapenems		69	2/6	0-68
Staphylococcus aureus	Wound infections, blood stream infections			
-vs methicillin "MRSA"		83	5/6	0.3-90

Table 4 Bacteria commonly causing infections in hospitals and communitiesFrom WHO Antimicrobial Resistance Global Report on Surveillance 2014

Along with increasing antibiotic resistance there has been a paucity of new antibiotics coming into use, with no new antibiotic classes discovered since the late 1980s (Figure 7). The development of new antimicrobials is high cost and antimicrobials do not constitute a good investment for pharmaceutical companies as the public health policy to limit the usage of antibiotics in order to preserve their efficacy runs in direct opposition of traditional sales-based models of cost recovery (49).



Figure 7 Dates of discovery of distinct classes of antibacterial drugs From Silver et al. 2011 (50)

The evidence that antibiotic resistance exists in the environment and is hard wired into the microbial pangenome is increasing with studies from isolated environments such as the Lechugiilla caves in New Mexico showing 65% of Gram-negative isolates were already resistant to 3-4 commonly used antibiotics (51). With this in mind, development of resistance seems inevitable with the inappropriate use of antibiotics helping drive selection of genes mediating resistance.

Antibiotic resistance is becoming an increasing issue for both *E. coli* and *Klebsiella spp.*
4. Antibiotic failure

Inappropriate antibiotic treatment (i.e. where the pathogen shows no sensitivity *in vitro* to the prescribed agent) is a significant issue in the management of infection. Inappropriate antibiotic treatment is estimated to be between 15 % for community-acquired infections and reaching as high as 35 % in nosocomial infections admitted to ICU (52). When initial empirical antimicrobial therapy fails in patients in septic shock there is an associated reduction in survival of approximately five-fold (55% to 11%); this rise in mortality risk applies to both Gram-positive, Gram-negative and *Candida* species (53).

With the spread of antibiotic resistance treatment failure is likely to become a more frequent occurrence. Resistance to last line antibiotics such as colistin and tigecycline is emerging and infections for which there is no treatment option available are starting to occur, especially in *E. coli* and *Klebsiella* infections (54-56).

The possibility of a "post-antibiotic era" speculated about in the media over the last few years might soon become a reality if new treatment options are not developed.

C. Neutrophils and phagocytosis

Elie Metchnikoff, holder of the epithet "the father of natural immunity", who pioneered research in phagocytosis, first coined the term phagocyte in 1883: a fusion of the Greek word *phago* "*eating*" and the New Latin *cyta* which takes its origin from the ancient greek kútos meaning "*vessel or jar*". Metchnikoff's description of the role of phagocytes still holds true to this day:

"The broad fact that the invasion of the organism by microbes most often induces, on the one hand, an inflammatory reaction with its associated emigration of leukocytes, and that, on the other hand, the phagocytes are capable of including and destroying the invaders, leads us to admit that the afflux of phagocytes to the invaded region and their bactericidal properties are mechanism which serve to ward off bacterial attack and to maintain the integrity of the organism" (57),.

Neutrophils, a subclass of granulocytes, are professional phagocytes and the most abundant of all the leukocytes constituting 40 - 75 % of the circulating population of leukocytes in humans. Neutrophils, like all myeloid cells, derive from the bone marrow where neutrophil production constitutes the primary function (by volume) of the bone marrow, with basal rate estimated at 5×10^{10} – 10×10^{10} neutrophils/day. Stages of maturation of neutrophils in bone marrow is summarised in Figure 8. Estimates of the half-life of neutrophils in the circulation vary significantly and can also be effected by disease state; estimates range from a few hours to over five days, although the study reporting a value of five days has received some criticism for its

techniques used, and a more conservative estimate sits at around six to eight hours (58, 59).



Numbers in brackets represent total amount of each cell type per kg bodyweight. From Tak 2013 (58).

1. Neutrophils during infection

Neutrophils are a crucial component of the host immune defence; patients with a neutrophil count of less than 0.5×10^9 /L or defects in phagocytosis have an increased risk of recurrent and severe bacterial or fungal infections (often from uncommon pathogens) as well as poor wound healing, skin and deep visceral abscesses (60, 61).

a) Neutrophil recruitment

The recruitment of neutrophils to the site of infection involves a cascade of events initiated by interactions between bacteria and host cells (62). The receptors that facilitate neutrophil infiltration are tissue specific; Figure 9 details the process in the lower respiratory tract and how the actions of the neutrophil can be a double-edged sword, facilitating clearance of infection but also causing tissue damage to the host (62-64).



Figure 9 Schematic describing the cascade of events by which bacteria induce neutrophil infiltration and tissue damage in the lung

Bacteria first interact with epithelial cells and macrophages within the respiratory airway (1), this induces release of cytokines and neutrophil chemoattractants (2). Adhesion molecules on capillary endothelial cells are upregulated (3) and allow the transmigration of neutrophils into the alveolar spaces, following the chemotactic gradient (4). Neutrophils produce ROS and RNS (5), this can lead to necrotic cell death (6) and lung injury. Taken from *Craig et al.* 2009

A myriad of chemoattractants are capable of recruiting neutrophils to the site of infect, a list of these is detailed in Table 5. With such an array of chemoattractants showing the capacity to recruit neutrophils one may expect a degree of redundancy yet studies in inflammatory diseases have shown a temporal and spatial pattern of expression and an ability for neutrophils to prioritise chemotactic signals for efficient tissue homing; for example C5a, C3a and formylated peptides (which are found closer to the foci) are prioritised over IL-8 which is found more distally from sites of infection (65, 66).

Chemokines						
Systematic	Human	Murine		Human Receptor	Murine Receptor	
CXCL1	GROα	KC		CXCR2	CXCR2	
CXCL2	GROβ	MIP-2		CXCR2	CXCR2	
CXCL3	GROγ	n/a		CXCR2	n/a	
CXCL5	ENA-78	LIX		CXCR2	CXCR2	
CXCL6	GCP-2	n/a		CXCR1/CXCR2	n/a	
CXCL7	NAP-2	NAP-2		CXCR1/CXCR2	CXCR2	
CXCL8	IL-8	n/a		CXCR1/CXCR2	CXCR2	
CCL3	MIP-1α	MIP-1α		n/a	CCR1	
CCL5	RANTES	RANTES		n/a	CCR1	
CCL6	(MPIF-1)	C10		n/a	CCR1	
CCL7	MCP-3	MARC		n/a	CCR1	
CCL9	(HCC-2)	MIP-1γ		n/a	CCR1	
CXCL12	SDF-1α	SDF-1α		CXCR4	CXCR4	
Peptides/Cytokines						
Receptor						
C5a			C5aR			
СЗа				C3aR		
Formylated peptides (e.g. fMLF)				FPR1		
Pro-Gly-Pro (PGP)				CXCR2		
LL37			FPR2			
MIF			CXCR2			
Eicosanoids						
			Receptor			
Leukotriene B4 (LTB4)				BLT1		
Platelet activating factor (PAF)				PAF	R	

Table 5 Major human and murine neutrophil-active chemoattractants and their receptors expressed on neutrophils. Adapted from Sadik 2011 (65)

Chemoattractants, along with microbial products, chemokines and inflammatory cytokines prime neutrophils, increasing phagocytosis efficiency

and ROS production in order to respond to infectious insults effectively (67). Priming of neutrophils increases expression of CD11b, CD35 Fc γ Rs and CD66b, all thought to be released from intracellular stores via the exocytosis of secretory vesicles, without the need for *de novo* synthesis, allowing for rapid (10-15 min) responses to infection (68-72). Inflammatory cytokines also augment respiratory burst by phosphorylating NADPH oxidase components and deployment of flavocytochrome b₅₅₈ from granules to plasma and phagosomal membranes (73-78). There is evidence from inflammatory conditions that a truly primed neutrophil also requires the expression of CD54 dectin-2 and IL-1 β promoter activation, which necessitates transcription of proteins and therefore is less rapid and takes several hours (67).

b) Neutrophil – Bacterial killing

Neutrophils utilise three methods for bacterial killing: phagocytosis, degranulation and the release of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs).

(1) Degranulation

Degranulation involves the release of granules containing proteins capable of killing microbes and digesting tissue: these are azurophilic (primary) granules, which contain myeloperoxidase (MPO), specific (secondary) granules, which contain lactoferrin, and gelatinase and (tertiary) granules, which contain matrix metalloproteinase 9. The production of granules marks the transition from myeloblast to promyelocyte with different granules appearing throughout development; specific granules occurring during the myelocyte and metamyelocyte stages are followed by the appearance of gelatinase granules in band cells (79). Degranulation can be triggered by

stimuli such as exposure to microbial products, binding of immune complexes, exposure to TNF- α and is regulated by interactions with cellular adhesins (80-82).

(2) Neutrophil extracellular traps

Neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) are extracellular strands of decondensed DNA in complex with histones and granule proteins released by neutrophils. Extracellular trap formation has also been shown in mast cells, eosinophils, basophils, fibrocytes, macrophages and monocytes (83-88). This release of DNA, histones and granule proteins is effective in immobilising and killing some bacteria although it has been shown to be detrimental in other infections, for example the Pseudomonas aeruginosa exotoxin pyocyanin induces NETosis, which has been shown to play a role in the chronic inflammatory condition found in the cystic fibrosis lung (89) (90). NET formation has also been shown to have some protective effects during experimental systemic viral infections (91); whether NETosis is beneficial or not to the host depends on the anatomical site and infecting pathogen (90). Initially NETosis was considered to be a pathway of neutrophil cellular death, distinct from apoptosis and necrosis however a study in Staphylococcus aureus infection has now shown that NETosis can occur whilst the neutrophil maintains viability (92). NETosis has also been shown to be regulated by the size of the pathogen encountered; small pathogens such as bacteria induce phagocytosis whereas larger pathogens, which neutrophils would not be able to phagocytose, such as fungal hyphae or bacterial aggregates induce NETosis (93). Induction of either the phagocytosis or the NETosis pathway results in the inhibition of the other pathway (93). Excessive NETosis can

have a harmful effect during infection; the levels of cell free DNA (a surrogate marker for NET formation) correlates with sepsis severity and organ dysfunction as they contribute to tissue damage and histones can disrupt the function of some anticoagulants, which could effect the efficacy of prophylactic anticoagulants (94) (95).

(3) Phagocytosis

The first step in phagocytosis is recognition of the target to be phagocytosed, phagocytes possess an array of receptors for this purpose listed in *Table 6*. Pattern-recognition receptors can bind directly to bacterial and fungal proteins and sugars whereas the opsonic receptors recognise an opsonin, which is in turn bound to the bacterial or fungal surface (96).

Table 6 Human phagocytic receptors Adapted from Freeman et al 2014 (96)			
Opsonic receptors	Pattern-recognition receptors		
FcγRI (CD64)	Dectin-1 (CLEC7A)‡		
FcγRIIA (CD32a)	CD14		
FcyRIIC (CD32c)	Mannose receptor		
FcγRIIIA (CD16a)	BAI1		
FcαRI (CD89)	CD36		
FcɛRI	MARCO		
CR1	Scavenger receptor A (CD204)		
CRIg			
CR3 (αMb2, CD11b/CD18, Mac-1)			
CR4 (αXb2, CD11c/CD18, gp150/95)			
α5b1 (VLA-5)			

Opsonic and pattern-recognition receptors work in concert to facilitate phagocytosis. For successful phagocytosis remodelling of the cytoskeleton is required in order to engulf the particle in question; this is influenced by signalling from cell surface receptors where a signalling threshold must be met, otherwise stalling of phagocytosis can occur. This threshold has been linked to the density of $Fc\gamma R$ signalling in the early stages of phagocytic cup formation and 3' phosphoinositide concentrations in later stages but is also influenced by properties of the target such as shape and rigidity (97-99).



iii-vi: phagosome maturation

Figure 10 Phagosome formation and maturation

i. Particle engagement, ii. Phagocytic cup formation and iii. Nascent phagosome After ligation of FcyRs the first detectabable signalling event occurs: rapid phosphorylation of tyrosine residues within an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM) domain, these are located either in the cytoplasmic tail of the receptor (CD32A) or in the associated homodimeric g-subunit (other FcyR) (100). This phosphorylation is mediated by Src- family tyrosine kinases (101). FcyR phosphorylation also promotes clustering of FcyR, which improves the efficiency of phagocytosis (102). ITAM-domain tyrosine residues form docking sites for Src homology 2 (SH2) domain-containing proteins. Syk is of particular importance to ITAM-dependent phagocytosis (101). This leads to activation of Rho GTP-binding proteins. FcyR-dependent engulfment requires Cdc42 and Rac2 (Rho-family proteins), whereas CR3 requires RhoA (without the requirement of tyrosine phosphorylation), both require RhoG (103). Arp2/3 is recruited and binds directly with WASP (Wiskott-Aldrich Syndrome Protein) and Scar/WAVE (Suppressor of cAMP receptor/WASP family Verprolin-homologous) proteins which act as nucleation points for actin (104) In addition to actin recruitment the surface area of the phagocyte increases during phagosome formation through the recruitment of recycling endosomes, late endosomes, endoplasmic reticulum and secretory vesicles to the site of phagosome cup (104). The actin forms pseudopod extensions, which engulf the particle, followed by the shedding of cytoskeleton proteins leaving the phagosome free in the cytosol (105).

iv. Early phagosome (2-10 min after sealing), v. late phagosome (10–30 min after sealing, vi. phagolysosome (>30 min after sealing).

Adapted from Steinberg et al. 2008 (106)

After sealing of the phagosome there is sequential fusion of early (EE), late (LE) endosomes and lysosomes (LY) with each step marked by the recruitment of specific molecules and a decline in pH:

Organelle	Markers	
early endosome; early phagosome	EEA-1, Rab5, PI(3)P, syntaxin-13, transferrin receptor, VAMP3 pH 6.1	
Late endosome; late phagosome	Rab7, Rab9, mannose-6-phosphate receptor, syntaxin-7, LAMPs, LBPA pH 5.5 –pH 6.0	
Lysosome; phagolysosome	LAMPs, mature cathepsin D; fluid-phase markers chased for ≥2 hr pH 4.5 – pH 5.5	
Adapted from Scott et al. 2003 (107)		

This process results in phagoslysosome with a very low pH, hydrolytic enzymes for particle digestion, defensins and other bactericidal peptides, and the ability to generate toxic oxidative compounds (108).

(a) Fc gamma receptors (FcγRs)

FcγRs, so named, as these are the receptors that bind to the Fc portion of IgG, are key to opsonophagocytosis. FcγRs form the bridge between the innate and adaptive immune response, utilising IgG produced via an adaptive immune response to react to an infectious insult. In humans there are four FcγR types that participate in phagocytosis: FcγRI (CD64), FcγRIIA (CD32a), FcγRIIC (CD32c), FcγRIIIA (CD16a) (109). FcγRIIB (CD16b) is another FcγR that does not directly contribute to opsonophagocytosis but is constitutively expressed by neutrophils and has a role in cell activation, Ca²⁺ release and cross-linking of this receptor has been shown to induce NETosis (110, 111). In mice, only FcγRI (CD64), FcγRIII (CD16) and FcγRIV have been identified; receptor affinities for IgG are show in Figure 11(109).



Figure 11 Comparison of human and murine FcyRs

FcγRs found on both humans and mice cells, their IgG binding affinity and whether binding of immune complexes results in activation or inhibition of cell function. Adapted from Schwab et al. 2013 (112)

In addition to the receptors mentioned above, FcyRIIB (CD32b), an inhibitory

receptor, belongs to this class. CD32b is not thought to be expressed on

human neutrophils with its expression limited to B cells; CD32b's role being the negative regulation of antibody production (109). In mice, however, CD32b is expressed on neutrophils (109).

(b) Antibodies

Antibodies are a major component of humoral immunity and are one of the most abundant protein components of the blood, making up about 20% of the total protein in plasma by weight. Patients with primary antibody deficiencies are more susceptible to infection and are often treated with immunoglobulin replacement therapy with products such as intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) (113)

In humans antibodies exist as 5 classes: IgA, IgD, IgE, IgG and IgM. IgG is important in opsonophagocytosis as it can interact with $Fc\gamma Rs$ (as well as glycan binding receptors DC-SIGN and CD23) and is capable of inducing antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis as well as complement-dependent cytotoxicity and antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (96). The structure of IgG can be split into two parts: the Fc region, which binds to $Fc\gamma Rs$ and the Fab region, which is responsible for recognising and binding antigen.

(c) Complement and complement receptors

Complement can act as an opsonin or can lyse pathogens directly via the membrane attack complex. Complement can become active and interact with pathogen surfaces in a number of ways: the classical, alternative or lectin pathway, each is briefly detailed in Figure 12.



Figure 12 Complement system pathways

The classical pathway activates with binding of C1q to antibody:antigen immune complex; the lectin pathway activates when mannose-binding lectin (MBL) binds to conserved microbial carbohydrate motifs resulting in the activation of MBL associated serine proteases – both of these pathways lead to in the cleavage of C4 and C2 to form C3 and C5 convertases. Alternative pathway activation results from the spontaneous hydrolysis of C3 forming the alternative pathway C3 convertase. C3 and C5 convertases generate the key effectors of the complement system: opsonins (C3b), anaphylatoxins (C3a, C4a and C5a) and the membrane attack complex. Taken from Dunkelberger et al 2009 (114)

C3b binds to complement receptors CR1, CR3 (CD11b/CD18, integrin aMb2) and CR4 (CD11c/CD18, integrin aXb2) and the recently discovered CRIg (found primarily on Kupffer cells) (114). As well as participating in phagocytosis, the complement and Fcγ receptors can modulate the expression of one another, for example: activation of C5aR (CD88) leads to an increase in the expression of CD16, which is protective in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection; CD88 knockout mice showing a similar phenotype

during *P. aeruginosa* infection (increased susceptibility) to CD16 knockout mice (115).

2. Immune dysfunction

Immune dysfunction is a defining feature of sepsis and plays a major role in the pathophysiology of the disease. Historically, sepsis has been thought of as a condition with two distinct phases: the initial hyper-inflammatory phase followed by a hypo-inflammatory/immunosuppressive stage. Recent studies now suggest that both occur simultaneously with the net initial effect being hyper-inflammatory (116). There are however competing views as to which aspect causes death in patients.

Figure 13 details two theories regarding immune responses in sepsis; theory 1 describes a model in which early deaths are caused by excessive inflammation whereas late deaths are a result of a failure to clear initial infection or the acquisition of secondary infection due to persistent immunosuppression (117). Theory 2 describes a model in which protracted inflammation driven by the innate immune system leads to organ dysfunction and that patients who die, although suffering impaired adaptive immunity, die due to the longer and more severe organ injury resulting from persistent innate immune driven inflammation (118). Data from post-mortems on patients who died from sepsis give greater support to theory 1; patients showed decreased production of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines, up regulation of inhibitory receptors (including PD1), increases in regulatory T cell and myeloid-derived suppressor cell populations, and down regulation of CD28 and HLA-DR-mediated activation pathways (119). It has also been

shown that the rate of positive blood cultures increase in late stages of sepsis along with an increase in the number of common opportunistic pathogens detected (120).



Figure 13 Competing theories of host immunity in sepsis From *Hotchkiss et al.* 2013 (116)

Further evidence to support theory 1 includes the results of surgical sepsis patient post-mortems, which showed that 80% of patients had evidence of an infectious focus still present at death (121).

The two-year mortality of patients who survive an initial bout of severe sepsis is 1.5 fold higher than other hospitalised patients with mortality varying between studies from mortality of 44.9 % to as high as 67 % (122). This increase in mortality in survivors is attributed to long-term (nine months – five years) sepsis-induced impairment of immune responses: exhibiting both a low-level inflammatory status and stunted cytokine production in response to inflammatory stimuli, leaving patients more susceptible to subsequent infections (123).

a) Neutrophil dysfunction

Neutrophil dysfunction is an important factor in the pathophysiology of sepsis. Many new treatments for sepsis have been aimed at modifying neutrophil responses during sepsis. Severe infection leads to release of immature weakly active neutrophils from the bone marrow with decreased phagocytosis, decreased chemotactic capability, decreased oxidative burst and an increased production of IL-10 (124). Chemotaxis of neutrophils in sepsis is impaired to the degree that it has been proposed as possible means of evaluating sepsis severity and in major burns (>20% body surface area, full thickness burns), where sepsis diagnosis is complicated by excessive inflammation, changes in neutrophil migration patterns can predict sepsis up to two days before sepsis diagnosis is confirmed (125, 126). Some of this neutrophil dysfunction has been shown to be mediated by C5a.

Neutrophil activation by C5a can result in the blocking of activation of other neutrophils by triggering the release of serine proteases; these then cleave CD88 from surrounding neutrophils (127). This is thought to prevent excessive neutrophil activation in the context of a small, localised infection, but has been implicated in neutrophil dysfunction in both sepsis and the cystic fibrosis lung (127). As well triggering the cleavage of CD88, C5a binding also inhibits the activity of RhoA and hence polymerization of actin and phagocytosis (128, 129). CD88 expression is being explored as a possible marker of infection severity in sepsis as reduced expression (due receptor cleavage or possibly internalisation) correlates with increased infection severity and poorer outcomes in patients (130). This reduction in CD88 expression was coupled with a reduction in IL-8 production by neutrophils in sepsis patients when stimulated with C5a (130). Anti-C5a therapies have been trialled in animals with successfully showing protective effects in experimental sepsis but none have yet been developed as far as human trials (131-133).

Due to the capability of neutrophils to produce ROS and NETs they also pose a risk to the host; NETosis as been associated with organ dysfunction and hence therapies to induce IL-10-mediated inhibition of neutrophil infiltration into tissue (95, 134)

3. Sepsis Treatment

Patients with sepsis and other severe infections present a significant challenge to treatment, often presenting with a diverse range of associated co-morbidities and identifying the etiologic agent is often unachievable (135).

Over recent years steps have been taken to improve the outcome in severe CAP (outlined in the Surviving Sepsis Campaign), yet mortality remains high (136). New treatment strategies are therefore urgently needed to complement the existing options currently available and limited to antibiotics, organ support and source control (137).

a) Antimicrobials

"Frapper fort et frapper vite" Paul Ehrlich, 1913 (Hit hard and fast)

Since 2002 when the Surviving Sepsis Bundles (Table 7) were introduced there has been a movement towards early goal-directed therapy (138). Now these bundles have been in place for a number of years it has been shown that of the measures introduced only rapid administration of antibiotics has had an effect on increasing survival above that of normal care, whilst the efficacy of the other measures is controversial (138). Each hour of delay in administration of antibiotics is associated with a 7% increase in mortality (139). These improvements of course depend on the antibiotic being administered being effective against the pathogen being treated, with antibiotic resistance increasing failure of antibiotics is possibly going to become more common.

Table 7 Sepsis bundles.

Resuscitation bundle (to be achieved within 6 hours from severe sepsis/septic shock diagnosis)

1 - Measure blood lactate				
2 - Blood cultures	At least 2 sets of blood cultures before administration of antibiotics			
3 - Antibiotics	Broad-spectrum antibiotics within 3 hours of admission to the emergency department or within 1 hour of admission to other hospital units			
4 - SvO ₂	Measure and achieve central venous oxygen saturation >70%			
5 - Fluid resuscitation	If hypotension and/or blood lactate >4 mmol/L, 1 L crystalloids (or 0.5 L of colloid equivalent) in 30 minutes			
6 - Central Venous Pressure	If hypotension despite fluid resuscitation and/or blood lactate >4 mmol/L, achieve CVP >8 mmHg			
7 - Vasopressors	If hypotension not responding to fluid resuscitation, maintain a mean arterial pressure >65 mmHg			
Management bundle (to be achieved within 24 hours from severe sepsis diagnosis)				
1 - Lung protective ventilation	Maintain inspiratory plateau pressures <30 cmH ₂ O for mechanically ventilated patients; avoid a tidal volume >6 mL/kg for patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome			
2 - Steroids	Administer low-dose steroids for septic shock in accordance with a standardized hospital policy			
3 - Drotrecogin alfa (activated)	In accordance with a standardized hospital policy			
	(drug withdrawn from market (140))			
4 - Glucose control	> 4 mmol/L but <8.3 mmol/L			

Adapted from Damiani et al 2015 (141)

b) Immune modulating treatments

Attention is now shifting towards the use of immunomodulatory drugs as adjunctive therapies in infectious disease (142). Treatments trialled so far in both CAP and sepsis have primarily targeted the hyper-inflammatory phase: however statins, steroids and activated protein C have all failed to show significant clinical benefit (140, 143, 144). Following on from these failures more interest has developed in targeting immunosuppression during infection: recombinant GM-CSF, IL-7 and anti-programmed cell death 1 receptor (PD-1) antibodies are all currently undergoing trials (142). The results of phase II clinical trials in Germany on the use of GM-CSF in sepsis were reported in 2009 and showed patients treated with GM-CSF had reduced time of mechanical ventilation and shorter hospital/ICU stays (145). Phase III trials in France are currently recruiting for a study investigating the effects of GM-CSF on rates of infection in ICUs (146). IL-7 is currently in phase II clinical trials in the US investigating the ability of IL-7 to restore lymphocyte counts in sepsis patients (147). Anti-PD-1 antibodies are still in the pre-clinical stages of development but in vitro studies have shown that blockade of the receptor decreases apoptosis and improves immune cell function in septic patients (148). The anti-PD-1 antibody pembrolizumab, produced by Merck already has FDA approval for treatment of melanoma so could quickly progress to human trials (149).

New treatment strategies are desperately needed to complement the existing options available that are currently limited to antibiotics, organ support and source control (137).

D. P4 therapy

One possible new immunomodulatory treatment is P4 therapy; a combination passive immunotherapy along with the immunoactivating peptide P4.

1. Passive immunotherapy



a) History

The transfer of antibodies as a treatment of infection has been used for over a century; early preparations used for passive immunotherapy were relatively crude, utilising serum from immunised animals and were associated with a high incidence of side effects, known as "serum sickness", in patients (up to 50%) ranging from relatively mild symptoms such as itching and rashes to more serious symptoms such as hypotension and shock (150, 151). Despite the severe side effects observed, by the 1930s serum therapy had become the standard therapy for pneumococcal pneumonia, although this treatment required early administration, having little effect if administered after 4 to 5 days after the onset of symptoms. Passive immunotherapy, along with potentially severe side effects during the treatment of pneumococcal disease, was also hindered by serotype specificity - a mixture of serum, from the immunisation of animals with different serotypes, was required in order to ensure efficacy in the absence of a specific diagnosis with regards to pneumococcal serotype, which more often than not was unknown at the time of treatment (152). Passive immunotherapy was also an expensive therapy to produce, as it required not only the animals used to produce the immune

serum but also required *in vivo* testing for efficacy and potency of each batch to determine treatment doses (152). Fleming's discovery of penicillin in 1928 and subsequent mass production of the drug pioneered by researchers lead by Howard Florey in the 1940s resulted in a decline in serum therapy in favour of penicillin with its broader specificity, more favourable side effect profile and cheaper production (152).

	Immune Serum	Human mAb	Chemotherapy
Specificity	Narrow	Narrow	Broad
Source	Animals Humans	Tissue culture	Fermentation Chemical synthesis
Toxicity	High	Low	Low
Cost	High	High	Low
Administration	Difficult	Easy	Easy
Pharmacokinetics	Variable	Consistent	Consistent
Mechanism of action	Antimicrobial Immune enhancement Toxin neutralisation	Antimicrobial Immune enhancement Toxin neutralisation	Antimicrobial

Antibody Therapy

 Table 8. Comparison of immune serum, human monoclonal antibodies and chemotherapy for treatment of infection
 Antibody based therapies have developed over the years as production techniques have improved and there are now an immense number of monoclonal antibody (MAb) therapies being utilised in other fields such as oncology and inflammatory disorders, yet usage in bacterial infection is limited. Table 8 compares immune serum, human MAb and chemotherapy (such as antibiotics) in the treatment of infection.

b) Intravenous immunoglobulin in passive immunotherapy

Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) is already used in the treatment of several autoimmune and inflammatory diseases but has potential for use in infectious disease (153). Utilising IVIG for the treatment of severe bacterial infections has the potential to bridge the gap between human mAb and conventional chemotherapy by offering a treatment with broad specificity, low toxicity, easy administration, consistent pharmacokinetics and diverse antimicrobial actions. Unfortunately the use of IVIG in clinical trials in the treatment of sepsis thus far have show conflicting results, with outcomes varying depending on the dose and the IVIG preparation used in each study (154, 155). As well as inconclusive results in clinical trials, IVIG is an expensive drug with a cost of £20,850 per quality adjusted life year, just above the £20,000 limit for treatments on the NHS (156). It is also not totally understood how IVIG acts during treatment for sepsis as there are numerous components of the immune response to infection whose actions can be modified by the administration of IVIG (detailed in Figure 14) (112).



Figure 14 Fc and Fab mediated IVIG activity

The top panel shows the Fab mediated mechanisms of immunomodulation: antibody-dependent cytotoxicity, blockade of cell surface receptors, the neutralisation of cytokines and scavenging of anaphylatoxins. The bottom pane show Fc mediated mechanism of immunomodulations: the blocking/saturation of cell surface receptors (such as Fc γ R), modulation of Fc γ R expression and expansion of T_{reg} cells. Taken from *Schwab et al.* 2013 (112)

Effectiveness of IVIG as an opsonin during passive immunotherapy is limited

by the requirement for frequent large doses of antibody (at significant

financial cost) and the capability of the host's cellular response to utilise the

IgG for clearance of pathogens (157).

2. P4 peptide

The P4 is a 28 amino acid peptide derived from the lipoprotein pneumococcal surface adhesin A (PsaA), which is being investigated due to its immunomodulating effects.

PsaA is a highly conserved molecule, which is partially exposed on the pneumococcal surface, although the majority of the molecule is concealed by capsular polysaccharides. PsaA functions as a manganese transporter in the pneumococcus and is also a putative adhesin binding to E-cadherin (158).



• MW = 3254.8 Da

- Amino acid residues 251–278
- Amino acid sequence:
 L-F-V-E-S-S-V-K-R-R-P-M-K-T-V-S Q-D-T-N-I-P-I-Y-A-Q-I-F

Figure 15. P4 peptide Crystal structure, molecular weight and amino acid sequence of P4 peptide.

P4 peptide was developed when the Center of Disease Control and Protection were looking for the functional epitope within PsaA, which allowed binding of the pneumococcus to epithelial cells with the intention of then using that epitope to develop treatments targeted at blocking bacterial binding through PsaA. A series of peptides were produced based on the sequence of PsaA, those of interest were named P4, P6 and P7. P4 is homologous to the PsaA sequence with a conservative substitution of two amino acid: a pair of aspartic acid to a lysine and arginine (detailed in Figure 16) this substitution was outside of areas in the sequence thought to be of functional importance (159).

P6 and P7 are truncations of P4, with P6 being truncated at the N-terminus whilst P7 was truncated at the C-terminus (sequences shown in Figure 16). They found that fluospheres coated in both P4 and P7 had high binging to nasopharyngeal cells (Detroit 562) whereas P6 had low binding (159). They went on to treating nasopharyngeal cells with 20 μ g/well of P4 peptide before adding 1 μ m fluorescent polystyrene spheres (fluospheres) coated in rPsaA, which resulted in a 95.5% inhibition of the rPsaA fluospheres to nasopharyngeal cells (159).

PsaA V P S	LFVES	s v	DD	R P M K T V S Q D T N I P I Y A Q I F	т
Р4	LFVES	sν	ΚR	RPMKTVSQDT <mark>NIP</mark> IYAQI F	:
P6				Q D T N I P I Y A Q I F	F
P7	LFVES	sν	ΚR	RPMKTVS	

Figure 16 Comparison of P4, P6 and P7 sequence with PsaA sequence. Amino acid sequences of PsaA, P4, P6 and P7 – orange boxes indicate areas thought to be functional domains of PsaA. Blue box indicates location of amino acid substitution.

When treatment with P4 was tried out on nasopharyngeal cells with live *S*. *pneumoniae*, rather than blocking binding, increased adhesion and invasion, electron micrographs of these cells showed that those treated with P4 had large vacuoles containing internalised material, which was thought to be suggestive of a strong cellular activation. Increases in adhesion/invasion were not serotype specific and were also observed with *Streptococcus pyogenes* and *Streptococcus mitis (160)*.



Figure 17 Transmission electron micrographs of P4-treated and non-treated Detroit 562 cells (1900×)

Panel A. Non-treated Detroit 562 cells. Panel B. Cells treated with P4. Arrows indicate large vacuoles containing internalised material (160).

This proposed cellular activation was also observed in undifferentiated human neutrophils (HL-60), mouse macrophages (RAW 261.4) and freshly isolated human blood neutrophils. In addition to cellular activation it was observed that P4 treatment led to an increase in basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF- β) and a reduction in IL-6, IL-8 and Vascular endothelial growth factor (V-EGF) secretion by nasopharyngeal cells. No differences were observed in the secreted levels of cytokines IL-1, IL-10, TNF- α , IFN- γ , and GM-CSF (160).

Following on from these studies P4 was used in opsonophagocytosis assays with HL-60, IVIG and complement to look at the effect of the peptide on phagocytosis of pneumococci. P4 significantly enhanced the phagocytosis of pneumococci by HL-60s in a dose dependent manner but its effect was dependent on the presence of antibody and complement as the response was mitigated by the removal of either two components (Figure 18) (161).



Figure 18 Effect of removing assay components from OPK on P4 enhancement of phagocytosis in human alveolar macrophages.

"OPK" = all components are included (macrophage, bacteria, antibody, complement), "no antibody" = without the presence of antibody, "no complement" = without the presence of complement, and " $Fc\gamma R$ block" = where $Fc\gamma$ receptors were occupied by IgG prior to the assay. Taken from (162)

Table 9. Published P4 in vivo research.

Year	Main findings
2008 (161)	P4 and antibody treatment via I.P. injection lead to 60% survival, I.V injection to 80% survival whilst untreated controls had only 10% survival
2009 (163)	Treatments with P4 and IVIG in combination with antibiotics reduced the dosage of antibiotic required and lead to increased survival when compared to antibiotics alone. Animals which survived pneumococcal pneumonia after treatment with P4 and IVIG were re-infected and treated a second time with P4 and IVIG – P4 still showed efficacy in repeat treatments.
2010 (164)	P4 treatment in two strains of aged mice was still effective against pneumococcal infection.
2011 (165)	Treatment with P4 and IVIG rescued mice from fatal <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> infection with survival increased from 20% to 70%.
2011 (166)	Mice were challenged with influenza before infection with pneumococcus – P4 and IVIG treatment improved survival from 20% to 80%
2012 (167)	Mice infected with pneumococcus were treated with P4 and IVIG. Mice receiving an intranasal dose at an early time point (12 and 18 hrs) saw significant improvements in survival from 0% for controls to 100% for treated mice at 48 hours post infection. Mice that received a later dose intravenously (24 and 30 hours) saw significant improvements in survival from 0% to 60%.

Having shown *in vitro* efficacy at enhancing phagocytosis, studies moved on to *in vivo* models of infection. Animal studies so far have looked at treatment of *S. pneumoniae* (with and with out influenza) and *Staphylococcus aureus* with P4 peptide in combination with antibodies and have shown treatment lead to increased survival. These studies are summarized in Table 9. From the *in vivo* work it was established that treatment with P4 peptide led to an increase in the surface expression of CD32/16 (FcyRII/III) on both neutrophils and macrophages of mice both during infection in in naïve mice (167).

Human ex vivo studies showed that treatment of alveolar macrophages and peripheral blood neutrophils with P4 peptide in an OPK assay also resulted in increased phagocytosis of pneumococci in healthy volunteers from both the UK and Malawi (162). Although populations showed significant increases in phagocytosis, the baseline killing of macrophages from UK volunteers was higher and treatment led to greater improvements in phagocytosis than were seen in Malawian volunteers (162). As well as increased phagocytosis this study also showed increased intracellular oxidation; this increase in intracellular oxidation was only significantly increased during OPK assay however and not in cell treatment directly with P4 only (162). This study also showed no increases in inflammatory cytokines or markers of cellular activation on alveolar macrophages treated with P4 following an OPK assay (162). Based on these in vitro and in vivo studies a hypothesis for P4 mechanism of action was formed (represented in Figure 19); this hypothesis was that the enhancement in FcyR coupled with the administration of pathogen specific IgG (in the form of IVIG) leads to increased phagocytosis

of bacteria during infection and hence a decreased bacterial burden and improvements in survival. As of yet the mechanism by which P4 increases FcγR expression is unknown.



Figure 19 P4 enhances phagocytosis of IVIG opsonised bacteria through increased expression of $Fc\gamma R$

By using P4 with IVIG (P4-IVIG therapy) as the source of IgG, for opsonisation of pathogens, this treatment has the potential for use in numerous infections as IVIG contains antibodies specific to a wide range of common pathogens. This would be beneficial in the treatment of sepsis and other severe bacterial infections were the causative agent is often not known when treatment is initiated and patients are often suffering from depletion of immunoglobulins (168).

E. Aims and objectives

1. Gram negative infections

Having shown efficacy in the treatment of Gram positive infections (*S. pneumonia* and MRSA) with P4 peptide treatment, the first aim of this study was to explore the use of P4 in combination IVIG in the treatment of Gram negative infections, namely *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* most commonly associated with severe invasive infections such as sepsis. This will be achieved through the development and use of murine models of sepsis from which I will determine the effects of P4 treatment on bacterial load, neutrophil responses to infection, and overall inflammation and host survival patterns.

2. Ex vivo CAP

The second aim of this study was to assess *ex vivo*, the capacity of P4 peptide to enhance bacterial phagocytosis by peripheral blood neutrophils and alveolar macrophages in a cohort of patients admitted to ICU with community acquired pneumonia. As well as looking at phagocytic killing as a primary endpoint for the study I aimed to determine the effects of *ex vivo* P4 treatment on neutrophil cell surface receptor expression, inflammation and whether patient clinical measures would give an indication as to which patient groups would most likely benefit from P4 treatment.

3. Mechanism of P4 action

The third aim of this study was to investigate the effect of P4 on receptor expression on the neutrophils of naïve mice in an attempt to learn more about the mechanism of P4 function.

Chapter II. *In vivo* murine study of effects of P4 peptide during severe *E. coli* infection

A. Introduction

Previous studies have shown the *in vivo* efficacy of P4 peptide in the treatment of acute pneumonia and sepsis caused by the Gram-positive pathogens *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) (161, 164, 165, 167). This study goes on to look at the efficacy of P4 treatment in severe *Escherichia coli* infection.

1. Animal Model

For this study an animal model of *E. coli* peritoneal infection that rapidly progresses to sepsis was developed in order to assess treatment efficacy. This model was used for both survival and time pointed experiments. Models utilised also assessed the efficacy of P4 treatment as an adjunctive therapy in combination with antibiotic treatment. An intra-peritoneal infection model was chosen as this site is the third most common site of initial infection in sepsis, with treatment failure being associated with persistent or recurrent infection and high mortality.

2. Cell surface marker and cytokines

Tissue and blood from time pointed experiments were collected for flow cytometry analysis of cell surface markers and measurement of cytokines in order to monitor the effect of treatment on the immune response to infection.

The cytokines chosen for analysis were CXCL1, IL-10 and C5a. CXCL1 was chosen as it regulates the production of a number of cytokines, chemokines and adhesion molecules essential for neutrophil recruitment and activation as shown in Figure 20.



Figure 20 CXCL1 -mediated signaling cascades leading to bacterial clearance in the organs in response to polymicrobial sepsis

(1 and 2) CXCL1 production by hematopoietic and resident cells as a result of interaction with pattern recognition receptors. (3, 4 and 5) CXCL1 activates NF- κ B, MAPK leading to upregulation of cell adhesion molecules (ICAM-1) and cytokines/chemokines, which results in neutrophil recruitment to the tissues from the bloodstream. (6, 7 and 8) CXCL1 regulates the production of IL-17 (IL-17A), resulting in the production of CXCL2/MIP-2 and IL-6 and hence neutrophil recruitment. (9) CXCL activates NADPH oxidase leading to the production of ROS, eventual NETosis and augmenting phagocytosis.(10) Enhanced neutrophil recruitment and activation leads to bacterial clearance. From Jin et al. 2014(169)

IL-10 was chosen as a cytokine of interest due the role it plays in immune

modulation, both beneficial and detrimental effects have been reported for IL-

10 in sepsis, on the one hand it can blunt the pro-inflammatory response,

reducing TNF and IFN-γ whilst on the other hand it has been shown to negatively effect splenocyte function (170-172). IL-10 has also been shown to play a major role in determining when animals enter a phase of irreversible shock and has shown to be protective in models of polymicrobial sepsis, with the timing of intervention being important and blocking of IL-10 being beneficial in the later stages of infection (173, 174).

C5a was measured due to the reported role in neutrophil dysfunction which was discussed in the introduction (Chapter I.C.2.a).

Cell surface markers investigated in this study included CD64, CD32/16, and CD88. CD64 and CD32/16; the FcγRs were measured as the proposed mechanism of P4 function is a modulation of FcγR expression. CD88 is the receptor for complement. CD88 is of interest because of the role of C5a-CD88 binding and its effects on neutrophil function as well as being a possible marker of infection severity.

B. Methods and Materials

1. Media Preparation

a) LB Agar

400 ml of distilled water was mixed with 8 g of Luria broth powder (Sigma, UK L3022) and 6 g of agar (Oxoid, UK LP0011) before autoclaving at 121°C for 15 minutes. Plates were poured once agar had cooled to 56°C. Plates were stored at 4°C until use.

b) LB Broth

400 ml of distilled water was mixed with 8 g of LB broth powder (Sigma, UK L3022) before autoclaving at 121°C for 15 minutes. BHI broth was cooled before use and stored at room temperature.

2. Bacterial strain and inoculum preparation

E. coli RS218, a K1 strain isolated from a case of neonatal meningitis was used for all *E. coli* infection models. This strain was gifted by Dr Stephen Smith, Trinity College, Dublin.

Infections were carried out with mid-log cultures. Strains were streaked on to LB agar plates from frozen stocks and incubated at 37° C for 16-18 hours. The following day universal tubes containing 5 ml of LB broth were inoculated from the plate and incubated at 37° C, 200 rpm for 16-18 hours. Following the 16-18 hour incubation 500 µl was subcultured into 20 ml of LB broth and adjusted to an OD₆₀₀ of 0.1. The culture was incubated at for 37° C, 200 rpm for 1-2 hours until reaching an OD₆₀₀ of 0.5, cultures were
centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 minutes, the supernatant discarded and the pellet resuspended in PBS, this was repeated and the culture then resuspended at 2 x 10^8 CFU per ml. Doses were plated onto LB agar to confirm inoculum CFUs.

3. Animal model techniques

All animal work was completed at the University of Liverpool under Home Office project licence No.40/3602. Female CD-1 mice aged between 6-7 weeks were used for all experiments.

a) Euthanasia and animal monitoring

During experiments animal behaviour was monitored to assess progression of infection and wellbeing of animals, scoring system is described in Table 10. In accordance with the home office licence under which experiments were performed, mice were culled when they reached lethargy ++.

b) Schedule 1 culls

Schedule 1 culls were carried out on animals during survival studies. Mice were culled by cervical dislocation or alternatively mice were place in an anaesthetics box and the CO₂ concentration increased slowly over a 6 minute period until mice stopped breathing and cervical dislocation was performed to confirm death.

Table 10 Animal model scoring

Score	Description				
Normal	Mouse is displaying normal behaviour and coat condition.				
Hunched +	Mouse displays slight arching of back.				
Hunched ++	Mouse displays very arched back				
Starry +	Coat looks poorly groomed around neck area with upright hairs.				
Starry ++	Coat looks poorly groomed over whole animal.				
Lethargy +	Mouse is moving slowly around cage.				
Lethargy ++	Mouse does not move without encouragement.				
Moribund	Mouse is poorly groomed, not moving and has laboured breathing.				

c) Cardiac puncture under terminal anaesthesia

Mice were placed in an anaesthetics box and with oxygen set to 0.8 L/min and isofluorane at 5%, mice were monitored, an absence of reflex responses, whisker twitching and a decreased respiratory rate confirmed anaesthesia. Mice were transferred to an anaesthesia cone and the paws and tail firmly pinched to ensure a lack of pain response. A 23 gauge needle attached to a syringe was inserted under the rib cage into the heart at a 45° angle and the syringe pulled back until 1-2 ml of blood is collect. Mice were then immediately culled by cervical dislocation.

d) Animal procedures

(i) Intraperitoneal injection

Intraperitoneal injections were used for the infection of animals during the *E coli* infection models and for administration of IVIG in all animal studies. Mice were manually restrained: held by the scruff with the thumb and forefinger non-dominant hand, securing tail with the remaining fingers. Mice were then tilted downward at a 45 ° angle and injected in either the left or right the lower quadrant of the abdomen, away from the midline to avoid puncturing the bladder with a 27 gauge insulin syringe.

(ii) Intravenous injection

Mice were warmed for 5-10 minutes prior to injection in a heating box to dilate the veins. Mice were secured in a restraint device and the tail held with slight traction and a 27 gauge needle inserted parallel to the vein (either of the lateral veins shown in Figure 21) and advanced 2-3 mm into the lumen before slowly injecting. If the infection is performed correctly the vein should blanche as the substance is injected.



Figure 21 Anatomy of murine tail

e) Infection and monitoring

The prepared dose was administered by intraperitoneal injection into mice as a 50 µl dose, using a 27g insulin syringe (detailed in methods and materials chapter). Because of the extremely rapid onset of disease symptoms mice were monitored hourly from administration of infectious dose. Animals were culled when they reached ++ lethargy (details of scoring in methods and materials).

f) P4 treatment

P4 peptide and IVIG were administered at one and three hours post infection. P4 peptide was administered via a 50 µl intravenous injection into the tail vein at a concentration of 2 mg/ml dissolved in DEPC treated water. This dose was chosen as it was what had been previously used successfully in the treatment of *S. pneumoniae* sepsis (167). IVIG was administered by a 100 µl intraperitoneal injection (I.P.) of Gamunex-C (Grifols, Spain), 100 mg of protein per ml. IVIG was injected I.P. as trials carried out at the CDC showed that the mice better tolerated it when compared with intravenous injection of of IVIG. Control animals received an injection of equivalent volume of sterile PBS.

g) Antibiotic treatment

Tazocin (Pfizer, USA) – piperacillin/tazobactam – was used in experiments at a dose of 9 mg/mouse, which equated to ¼ of the human equivalent dose. Tazocin was injected via the tail vein, 50 µl dissolved in DEPC treated water at the same time points as P4 treatment. Control animals received an

injection of equivalent volume of sterile PBS. Tazocin was chosen as it is a broad-spectrum antibiotic, which is commonly used for peritonitis and pneumonia.

4. Tissue collection

(a) CFUs

Tissue being processed for the determination of CFUs only was homogenised with a T10 homogeniser (IKA, Germany) in 3 ml of PBS, short 5 second bursts at a high speed were used until the tissue suspension appeared homogeneous. The Miles and Misra technique was used to determine CFU numbers from mouse tissues. Using a 96 well plate, 20 µl of bacterial suspension was serially diluted into wells each containing 180 µl of phosphate buffer solution (PBS). Each well was thoroughly mixed before transferring 20 µl to the next dilution; a sterile pipette tip was used for each of the dilutions. Dilutions were continued from 10¹ to 10⁶. Agar plates were marked into six sections and labelled from 10 to 10⁶, 20 µl of each dilution was plated in triplicate onto the corresponding segment. Plates were then incubated overnight at 37°C. Colonies were counted in sections containing between 30-300 colonies. Colony forming units (CFU) from the original samples were calculated using the following equation:

CFU/ml = Number of colonies in sector × dilution factor ×(1000/60)

b) Flow cytometry

Tissue being processed for flow cytometry was placed in a 40 μ m cell strainer on top of a 50 ml tube and forced through the membrane with the

plunger from a 2 ml syringe. Cell strainers were rinsed through with 5 ml of PBS. Cells were pelleted by centrifuging at 300 g and the supernatant discarded (or stored at -80 °C for later cytokine analysis). Red blood cells were lysed using red blood cell lysis buffer (eBioscience, UK) according to the manufacturers instructions. Cells were centrifuged at 300 g, the supernatant discarded and the cells resuspended in PBS, 2 % FBS ready for staining for flow cytometry.

Single cell suspensions were divided equally into the wells of a 96 round bottom plate. For each sample there was an unstained well, isotype control well and a stained well. Plates were centrifuged at 300 g and the supernatant removed. The antibodies detailed in Table 11 with corresponding isotype controls (Blolegend, USA), were used for flow cytometry analysis of mouse leukocytes. All antibodies were used at a dilution of 1:250 in staining buffer (PBS supplemented with 2% FBS).

Biolegend Product Code	Description
101325	APC anti-mouse CD16/32
101245	Brilliant Violet 510™ anti-mouse/human CD11b
135809	PE/Cy7 anti-mouse CD88 (C5aR)
123417	APC/Cy7 anti-mouse CD21/CD35 (CR2/CR1)
103127	Alexa Fluor® 700 anti-mouse CD45
139303	PE anti-mouse CD64 (FcγRI)
108405	FITC anti-mouse Ly-6G/Ly-6C (Gr-1)

Each well then had 50 µl of stain (or staining buffer for unstained controls) added and the wells were mixed. Cells were incubated for 20 mins at 4°C. Cells were then washed 3 times in staining buffer by centrifuging at 300 g, discarding supernatant and resuspending in 200 µl of staining buffer. Cells were then either immediately analysed by flow cytometry or were fixed with Cytofix (BD, UK) according to the manufacturers instructions, for analysis the following day. Sample acquisition was performed on the BD LSR II (BD Biosciences, USA) and analysis was performed with FlowJo 8.7 (Tree Star, USA).

c) Cytokine analysis

ELISA assays for CXCL1, IL-10 and C5a (R&D systems, UK) were performed according to the manufacturers instructions. Blood was collect in heparin and nafamostat mesylate (Sigma, UK) to prevent complement activation.

5. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with Prism 5 (Graphpad Software, USA), individual tests are noted in figure legends.

C. Model development

The mouse model of *E. coli* infection developed for this project, involved injection of *E. coli* RS218 into the peritoneal space of mice. Various doses were trialled during the establishment of this model.

Figure 22 shows the CFUs detectable in the blood of CD-1 mice infected at various doses. The dose of 1 x 10^7 CFU/mouse was chosen as lower infectious doses were clear by the mice within 48 hours without treatment.

Infection with 1 x 10⁷ CFUs progressed rapidly, with CFUs detectable in the blood at 3 hours post infection (Figure 22). Untreated mice progressed to lethargy quickly with subjects being culled from eight hours post infection. Other mouse strains were trialled to see if the model could be extended beyond 8 hour survival for untreated animals. No difference was observed in survival times between CD-1 mice and Balb/C, C57B6 or MF1 mouse strains.





Blood CFUS of mice (n=3 per group) infected with *E. coli* via I.P. injection at dose between 1×10^5 and 1×10^7 CFU/mouse. Blood was collected from the tail vein at intervals over a 48 hr period and CFUs determined by Miles and Misra.

D. Results

1. Single dose P4 treatment

In order to assess the viability of P4 as a treatment for E. coli infection I carried out preliminary experiments aimed at determining if a P4-IVIG treatment could reduce the bacterial burden in the blood, lungs and spleen of mice. Mice were infected with 10⁷ CFUs of *E. coli* via I.P. injection followed by a single treatment of P4 (50 µl of 2 mg/ml I.V.) and IVIG (100 µl of 100 mg/ml I.P.) at 1 hour post infection. Experiments tracking bacterial burden in the blood during the model development showed that by 3 hours post infection mice already had between 10⁶-10⁷ CFU/ml of blood and reached the humane endpoint within 8-12 hours (Figure 22); as the model was known to progress quickly, the earliest logistically possible time point, 1 hour post infection, was chosen for treatment. Animals were then culled at four and 7 hours post infection in order to collect the blood, lungs and spleen and determine the CFUs present. The hours post infection cull was chosen based on the model development data, which showed dissemination of the infection into the blood by 3 hours post infection. The 7 hour post infection cull was chosen as the last time point at which there was 100% survival of untreated animals during model development. Treatment doses of P4 and IVIG were based on those used to successfully treat mice in models of S. pneumoniae sepsis (167).

Treatment with a single dose of P4 and IVIG led to substantial decreases (1 log) in CFUs detected in the blood, lungs and spleen at both the four and 7 hour time points (Figure 23 and Figure 24), with the seven hour time point

showing a 2 log decrease in CFU burden in the blood and spleen (blood mean PBS = 4.4×10^8 CFU/ml vs P4-IVIG = 8.6×10^6 CFU/ml, *p*=0.0004, spleen mean PBS = 4.8×10^5 CFU/mg vs P4-IVIG = 3.1×10^5 CFU/mg, *p*=0.02) and a 5 fold decrease in lung CFUs (mean PBS = 5.0×10^4 CFU/mg vs P4-IVIG 1.0×10^4 CFU/mg, *p*=0.007).

During the model development it was observed that mice infected with lower doses of *E. coli* (10⁶ and 10⁵ CFU/mouse) had 10⁶ CFU/ml of blood or less at 3 hours post infection and that the bacterial burden would subsequently decline to undetectable levels over 48 hours without intervention; those with CFUs in the blood over 10⁶ CFU/ml succumbed to their infection. Although decreases in CFUs were promising, the number of CFUs in the blood and spleen of mice that received P4 treatment was static between the two time points, remaining at above 10⁶ CFU/ml in the blood. In addition to this the number of CFUs detected in the lung had increased by close to 1 log between the two time points (mean four hour = 1.3×10^3 CFU/mg vs 7 hours = 1.0×10^4 CFU/mg). With this in mind I concluded that a single dose regime was unlikely to lead to significant increases in survival and either concurrent treatment with antibiotics or additional treatment doses would be needed.



Figure 23 Single dose treatment of P4 peptide in severe *E. coli* infection model – Blood CFUs

Mice n=10 per group were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via the intraperitoneal route. 1 hour post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml), while control animals received injections of PBS of equal volume. Mice were culled 4 and 7 hours post infection and blood collected for determination of CFUs. Plotted as mean and SEM. Analysis by two-way ANOVA p=0.0004 (*** p<0.0001).



Figure 24 Single dose treatment of P4 peptide in severe *E. coli* infection model – Tissue CFUs

Mice n=10 per group were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via the intraperitoneal route. 1 hour post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml), while control animals received injections of PBS of equal volume. Mice were culled 4 and 7 hours post infection and tissue collected for determination of CFUs. Plotted as mean and SEM. Analysis by two-way ANOVA, spleen *p*=0.02, lung *p*=0.007, ** p<0.005.

2. Single dose combination treatment

a) Tazocin testing

The single dose P4 treatment experiments showed reductions in CFUs detected in the blood, lungs and spleen of P4-IVIG treated mice, however did not show reductions that were likely to lead to an increase in survival. Following these experiments I then went on to looked at P4 treatment in combination with antibiotics. The antibiotic chosen for these experiments was Tazocin; a dose of 9 mg/mouse was selected as $\frac{1}{4}$ of the human equivalent dose (based on an average mouse weight of 25 g). To test this dose animals were infected with 10^7 CFU of *E. coli* before treating one hour post infection with 9 mg/mouse of Tazocin via I.V. injection, mice were bled at four hours post infection and culled at seven hours post infection to monitor the bacterial burden in the blood.

Treatment with a single dose of Tazocin at 1 hour post infection lead to a reduction in CFUs recovered from blood of over 2 log (mean PBS = 6.8×10^7 CFU/ml vs Tazocin = 4.3×10^5 CFU/ml at the four hour time point; PBS = 9.7×10^8 CFU/ml vs Tazocin = 1.6×10^6 CFU/ml at the seven hour time point, two-way repeated measures ANOVA *p*<0.0001) (Figure 25).

Although this antibiotic concentration lead to a significant reduction in CFUs it did not clear the infection and the numbers of CFUs detected were increasing between the two time points. It was decided to continue with this dose in the combination treatment experiments as it was sufficient to reduce the numbers of CFUs but not so high that it would mask any potential benefit seen with P4 treatment.



Figure 25 Blood CFU after single treatment of Tazocin in *E. coli* infection model

Mice n=5 per group were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via intraperitoneal route. 1 hour post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of Tazocin (9 mg/mouse) or 50 µl of PBS. Mice were tail bled at four hours post infection and culled at seven hours post infection. Plotted as mean and SEM. Blood was collected for determination of CFUs. Analysis by two-way ANOVA *p*=0.0001 (*** p<0.0001)

b) Bacterial burden and survival

Having established that a single dose of P4 treatment was insufficient to treat the infection and identified a suitable concentration of Tazocin for use in the model I then went on to test the two treatments in combination. Treatment a single dose of P4-IVIG alongside Tazocin was trialled in the E. coli mouse model with both agents being administered at one hour post infection; P4 and Tazocin were both administered via I.V. injection whilst the IVIG was administered via I.P. injection. Initial experiments sought to establish the effect of combination treatment on the bacterial burden at four and seven hours post infection as well as survival over a 24 hour period. As in previous experiments, animals were infected with 10⁷ CFU of *E. coli* before treating one hour post infection with either PBS, P4-IVIG, Tazocin or the combination of P4-IVIG and Tazocin. Mice were bled at four hours post infection and culled at seven hours post infection to monitor the bacterial burden in the blood and lungs. A second set of mice were monitored over a 24 hour period as a survival experiment, with mice being culled when they reached their humane end point of lethargy.

Treatment with the two drugs in combination appeared to have an additive effect; the decrease in CFUs being approximately the sum of the decrease in CFUs of each of the two treatments individually (Figure 26). There were significantly lowers numbers of blood CFUs detected for all three treatments at seven hours post infection compared with PBS treated mice: P4-IVIG + Tazocin = 1.7×10^6 CFU/ml (*p*<0.005), Tazocin = 1.5×10^8 CFU/ml (*p*<0.05), P4-IVIG = 4.5×10^7 CFU/ml (*p*<0.005) and PBS = 5.3×10^8 CFU/ml. The four hour time point showed the same trend but no individual pairings were

statistically significant (two-way ANOVA p=0.04). The lung CFUs showed the same trend as the blood CFUs but was not statistically significant (p=0.1, one-way ANOVA) (Figure 27).



Figure 26 Single dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Blood CFU

Mice n=5 per group were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via the intraperitoneal route. 1 hour post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were tail bled at 4 hours post infection and culled at 7 hours post infection. Blood was collected for determination of CFUs. Plotted as mean and SEM. Analysis by two-way ANOVA and Bonferroni post tests p=0.0491 (** p<0.005, * p<0.05).



Figure 27 Single dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Lung CFU 7 hours post infection

Mice n=5 per group were infected with 1 x 10⁷ CFU *E. coli* via the intraperitoneal route. 1 hour post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were culled at seven hours post infection. Lung tissue was collected for determination of CFUs. Plotted as mean and SEM. Analysed by one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni's multiple comparison test p=0.1

In the survival model mice were monitored over a 24 hour period. The mean survival time was significantly higher for mice treated with either of the three treatment groups when compared to the untreated (PBS) control: Tazocin alone 15.8 hours (p<0.005), P4-IVIG alone 16.8 hours (p<0.005) and P4-IVIG + Tazocin 19 hours (p<0.0001) compared with PBS treated mice 8.4 hours (one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni's multiple comparison test, p=0.0004). There was no difference in mean survival between the three treatment groups (Figure 28, Figure 29 and Table 12).

The survival percentage at the end of the 24 hour period was 40% for the P4-IVIG + Tazocin treatment group but was 0% for all other treatment groups. Blood was collected at the time of death for mice in the survival experiments and the CFUs in blood determined; it was observed that some of the mice treated with Tazocin and P4-IVIG + Tazocin had lower CFUs than you would expect at the time of death (Figure 30). This could suggest that factors such as excessive inflammation or high levels of endotoxins could be contributing to mortality in addition to the bacterial burden.

As survival within the P4+IVIG and Tazocin group was still low, at 40% over 24 hours, I decided to increase the number of doses administered to try and improve survival.



Figure 28 Single dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model - Survival

Mice n=5 per group were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via intraperitoneal infection. 1 hour post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were monitored for signs of disease and culled when they reached ++ lethargic.

	PBS	Tazocin	P4-IVIG	P4-IVIG Tazocin	+
Group size	5	5	5	5	
Mean	8.40	16.80	15.80	19.00	
Minimum	8.00	14.00	15.00	15.00	
Maximum	9.50	24.00	16.00	24.00	

Table 12 Single dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E.coli* infection model – Survival time



Figure 29 Single dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection – Survival time

Mice n=5 per group were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via the intraperitoneal route. 1 hour post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (1 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were monitored for signs of disease and culled when they reached ++ lethargic. Survival time in hours and the median plotted. Analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparison test *** p<0.001, ** p<0.005





Mice n=5 per group were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via the intraperitoneal route. 1 hour post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (1 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were monitored for signs of disease and culled when they reached ++ lethargic. Blood was collect at time of death and CFUs determined.

3. Double dose P4 and antibiotic combination treatment

a) Bacterial burden and survival

The next treatment schedule tested was a double dose P4 and antibiotic combination. A second dose was added to the treatment schedule to try and improve survival in the model beyond the 40% survival seen with a single dose. For this set of experiments the Tazocin + IVIG and IVIG alone groups were added after observing that mice in the Tazocin alone treatment group which were culled upon reaching ++lethargic often had considerably lower CFUs at time of death than PBS groups or treatments that did not include Tazocin (Figure 30). The reasoning behind this was that if the mice were succumbing to the infection despite clearing significant numbers of bacteria then perhaps they were having a severe inflammatory response which could be mediated by the via the anti-inflammatory properties of IVIG.

(1) Survival

As the single dose experiments (Figure 26 and Figure 27) had shown the combination of P4-IVIG and Tazocin were effective at reducing the bacterial burden the survival experiments were performed first. As with previous experiments mice were infected with 10⁷ CFU/mouse of *E. coli*, treatments were administered at one and four hours post infection with P4 and Tazocin administered via I.V. injection and IVIG via I.P. injection. Mice were then monitored over a 24 hour period and culled when they reached their humane end point.

The P4-IVIG + Tazocin group and the Tazocin + IVIG had 24 hour survival of 55% and 60% respectively Survival for PBS, IVIG, Tazocin and P4-IVIG treated mice were 0%, 10%, 11% and 28% respectively (Figure 31). The mean, minimum and maximum survival times for each group are detailed in Table 13. All treatments bar IVIG alone had significantly longer mean survival times than PBS controls.. P4-IVIG + Tazocin had significantly longer mean survival times than PBS, IVIG and Tazocin alone (p<0.0001). Tazocin + IVIG had significantly longer mean survival times than PBS, IVIG and Tazocin alone (p<0.0001). Tazocin + IVIG had significantly longer mean survival than IVIG alone (p<0.05) but did not show a significant difference compared to Tazocin alone. There was no significant difference between mean survival times for P4-IVIG + Tazocin and Tazocin + IVIG (Figure 32).

The mean survival time and survival percentage showed improvements with the double dose compared with the single dose; survival percentages over 24 hours increased from 40% to 55% for P4-IVIG and Tazocin and the survival percentage for Tazocin increased from 0% to 60% (Figure 28 and Figure 31). However, mean survival times did not show improvements: P4+IVIG and Tazocin mean survival time single dose = 19 hours vs. double dose = 20.6 hrs, Tazocin mean survival time single dose = 16.8 hours vs. double dose = 13.8 hours (Table 12 and Table 13).

As there was no significant difference between the survival percentages or mean survival times of mice treated with P4-IVIG and Tazocin versus those treated with Tazocin and IVIG I went on to look at the bacterial load and inflammatory markers.



Figure 31 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Survival

Mice n=18 (except IVIG and Tazocin + IVIG n=10) per group were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via the intraperitoneal route. 1 and 4 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were monitored for signs of disease and culled when they reached ++ lethargic.

	PBS	IVIG	Tazocin	Tazocin + IVIG	P4-IVIG	P4-IVIG + Tazocin
Group size	18	10	18	10	18	18
Mean	8.972	12.30	13.83	19.19	15.25	20.69
Minimum	6.000	9.000	9.000	10.50	9.000	12.00
Maximum	10.50	24.00	24.00	24.00	24.00	24.00

Table 1	3 Double	dose P	4 therapy	with	antibiotics	in E.	coli	infection	model -	-
Surviva	l time									



Figure 32 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Survival time

Mice n=18 (except Tazocin + IVIG n=10) per group were infected with 1 x 10⁷ CFU *E. coli* via the intraperitoneal route. 1 and 4 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were monitored for signs of disease and culled when they reached ++ lethargic. Survival time in hours and the mean plotted. Analysed by one-way ANOVA test, *p*<0.0001 and Bonferroni's multiple comparison test – right hand table (*** p<0.0001, ** p<0.005, * p<0.05)

Pairing	Significance
PBS vs IVIG	ns
PBS vs Tazocin	*
PBS vs P4-IVIG	**
PBS vs P4-IVIG + Tazocin	***
PBS vs Tazocin + IVIG	***
IVIG vs Tazocin	ns
IVIG vs P4-IVIG	ns
IVIG vs P4-IVIG + Tazocin	***
IVIG vs Tazocin + IVIG	*
Tazocin vs P4-IVIG	ns
Tazocin vs P4-IVIG + Tazo	cin ***
Tazocin vs Tazocin + IVIG	ns
P4-IVIG vs P4-IVIG + Tazo	cin *
P4-IVIG vs Tazocin + IVIG	ns
P4-IVIG + Tazocin vs Tazo	cin + IVIG ns

(2) Bacterial burden

Having seen an improvement in survival percentages for mice treated with a double dose of treatment but not an improvement in mean survival time I then went on to look at the bacterial burden. Mice were infected with 10⁷ CFU/mouse of *E. coli* via I.P. injection; mice were then treated at one hour and four hours post infection with P4 and Tazocin administered via I.V. injection and IVIG via I.P. injection. At seven hours post infection mice were culled and Blood, lungs and spleen tissue were collected and processed for the determination of CFUs. IVIG alone was not included as a group as it showed no benefit over PBS treated mice in survival studies.

(a) Blood CFUs

All treatments containing Tazocin showed a statistically significant reduction in CFUs compared to PBS controls (*p* value of specific comparisons as determined by Dunn's multiple comparison indicated in Figure 33). Differences between the three groups containing Tazocin; Tazocin alone, Tazocin-IVIG and P4-IVIG + Tazocin were not statistically significant although the differences observed in blood CFUs were far larger than in other tissues, with Tazocin + IVIG showing far superior bacterial clearance; Tazocin only median = 8.2×10^4 , IQR 3.1×10^3 - 2.9×10^5 , Tazocin-IVIG median = 0, IQR 0-12, P4-IVIG + Tazocin median = 1.9×10^3 , IQR 77 – 1.5×10^4 (Figure 33).

(b) Lung CFUs

As was seen in the blood, all treatments containing Tazocin showed a statistically significant reduction in CFUs when compared to PBS controls and P4-IVIG (p value of specific comparisons as determined by Bonferroni's post test indicated in Figure 34). Differences between the three groups containing Tazocin; Tazocin alone, Tazocin + IVIG and P4-IVIG + Tazocin were not statistically significant. The numbers of CFUs detected in the lungs were far closer for the Tazocin containing groups than was seen in the blood with the medians for the three groups ranging from 10 to 30 CFU/ml (Figure 34). The number of CFU recovered from the lungs of P4-IVIG treated mice did not differ greatly between single and double dose treated mice with a slight increase in the double dose (mean log CFU single dose = 4.3 vs. double dose = 5.2); this could suggest that treatment with P4-IVIG was not as effective it penetrating tissues as antibiotics.

As the bacterial burden was significantly reduced with a double dose of treatment when compared to a single dose of treatment and increased the percentage of survivors over 24 hours, but did not significantly alter the mean survival time of subjects. In an attempt to explain the discordance between these three measures I then went on to look at inflammatory markers, cell populations and endotoxins.



Figure 33 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in E. coli infection model -Blood CFU

Mice n=18 (except IVIG and Tazocin + IVIG n=10) per group were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via the intraperitoneal route. 1 and 4 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were culled at 7 hours post infection and tissue collected for determination of CFUs. Analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparison test with median and interquartile range (*** p<0.0001, ** p<0.005, * p<0.05).



Figure 34 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in E. coli infection model – Lung CFU

Mice n=18 (except IVIG and Tazocin + IVIG n=10) per group were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via the intraperitoneal route. 1 and 4 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were culled at 7 hours post infection and tissue collected for determination of CFUs. Analysed by one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni post test with mean and SEM *** p<0.0001

b) Inflammatory markers

I went on to look at the plasma levels of CXCL1, IL-10 and C5a in mice that had been infected with *E. coli* and treated with a double dose of P4-IVIG and Tazocin. I looked at the time point of seven hours post infection in line with the time point used for assessing bacterial burden. There were two aims to these experiments: looking to see if the different treatment combinations resulted in differences in inflammatory marker levels and to see if the levels of these markers gave any clue as to why mice that had low levels of CFUs reached their humane endpoint and had to be culled.

As with previous experiments mice were infected with 10^7 CFU/mouse of *E. coli* and treated one and four hours post infection before culling at seven hours post infection for blood collection.

Significantly lower levels of CXCL1 (p<0.005), were detected in mice treated with P4-IVIG + Tazocin compared with Tazocin alone (Mean P4-IVIG + Tazocin = 181.2 ng/ml vs. Tazocin 824.0 ng/ml, (Figure 35). It should be noted however that all the CXCL1 levels were very high.

The levels of IL-10 detected in plasma were lower in all mice with treatments containing IVIG although these differences were only significant between PBS and Tazocin only treated mice, which had the highest levels (mean IL-10 PBS = 609 pg/ml, Tazocin = 499 pg/ml) and P4-IVIG and Tazocin-IVIG treated mice which had the lowest levels (mean IL-10 Tazocin-IVIG = 90 pg/ml, P4-IVIG = 57 pg/ml) (Figure 36).

There was no difference between groups in the level of C5a detected in plasma (Figure 37). These samples were treated with nafamostat mesylate (FUT-175, Sigma, UK) a serine protease inhibitor that prevents the activation of C5 and production of C5a *ex vivo*, however it is still possible that *ex vivo* activation has occurred that would effect the reliability of this measurement (175). C5a and its corresponding receptors are rapidly internalised upon binding so a lack of difference in plasma concentrations could also be a result of difference in consumption rate between groups (130).



Figure 35 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Plasma CXCL1

Mice n=8 per group were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via the intraperitoneal route. 1 and 4 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were culled at seven hours post infection and blood collected for determination of cytokine concentrations in plasma. Plotted as mean and SEM. Analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparison test *p*=0.0068 ** p<0.005



Figure 36 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Plasma IL-10

Mice (PBS =11, Tazocin= 13, Tazocin+IVIG=8, P4-IVIG=8, P4-IVIG+Tazocin=17 per group) were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via the intraperitoneal route. 1 and 4 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were culled at seven hours post infection and blood collected for determination of cytokine concentrations in plasma. Plotted as mean and SEM. Analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparison test *p*=0.0008 (*** p<0.0001, ** p<0.005, * p<0.05)



Figure 37 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in E. coli infection model – Plasma C5a

Mice n=8 per group were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via the intraperitoneal route. 1 and 4 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were culled at seven hours post infection and blood collected for determination of cytokine concentrations in plasma. Plotted as mean and SEM. Analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparison test *p*=0.7613 (*** p<0.0001, ** p<0.005, * p<0.05)

c) Cell populations

Previous work looking at P4 treatment of *S. pneumoniae* infection and administration of P4 to naïve mice has shown that P4 treatment resulted in an increase on the percentage of neutrophils found in the blood as well as an increase in expression of Fc γ Rs on neutrophils; with this in mind I performed experiments to look at the neutrophil populations in the blood of *E. coli* infected mice treated with Tazocin or Tazocin and P4-IVIG in combination (167). In addition to Fc γ R expression I looked at the expression of CD88 (C5aR) as binding of C5a to this receptor was been linked to neutrophil dysfunction as well as modulation of Fc γ R expression (115, 128). As with previous experiments mice were infected with 10⁷ CFU/mouse of *E. coli* and treated one and four hours post infection before culling at seven hours post infection for blood collection. Blood samples were washed and stained with antibodies before sample acquisition on a BD LSR II flow cytometer.

Significantly higher percentages of neutrophils were seen in Tazocin (p<0.05, median = 60%) and P4-IVIG + Tazocin (p<0.0001, median = 72%) treated groups when compared to PBS treated mice (median = 31%) (Figure 38). When analysed in isolation the difference between Tazocin and P4-IVIG + Tazocin was statistically significant (p<0.03, unpaired t-test). Both high and low levels of circulating neutrophils have been associated with poor prognosis; low neutrophil count indicates possible immunosuppression whereas an overly high neutrophil count is suggestive of excessive inflammation (176).



Figure 38 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection – % Neutrophil (CD45+, CD11b+, Gr-1+) of CD45+ cells

Mice n=10 per group were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via intraperitoneal route. 1 and 4 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were culled at seven hours post infection and blood collected for staining of neutrophils to determine neutrophil (CD45+, CD11b+, Gr-1+) % of CD45+ cells. Plotted as median and IQR. Analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparison test *** p<0.0001, * p<0.05
In order to look at the expression levels of FcyRs on neutrophils, cells were gated using anti-CD45, GR-1 and CD11b antibodies. Expression of CD64 and CD32/16 were measured on these neutrophil populations. CD32/16 antibodies were used, as there is no antibody commercially available that can distinguish between the CD32 and CD16 receptors in mice. No difference was seen in the level of CD64 (FcyRI), between groups although there was a trend towards lower expression with PBS<Tazocin<P4-IVIG + Tazocin; the median value for CD64 expression was highest in PBS treated mice (MFI = 354) followed by Tazocin (MFI = 275) and P4-IVIG + Tazocin had the lowest expression (MFI = 225) (Figure 39- top panel). This decrease in CD64 expression as opposed to being related directly to augmentation of Fc receptor expression by P4 treatment could reflect the severity of infection as high CD64 has been shown clinically to be an indicator of infection and sepsis (177, 178). Expression of CD64 is also highest in immature cells, which could indicate that the PBS treated groups have a higher proportion of immature neutrophils in the blood stream compared with treated groups.

Expression of CD32/16 (Fc γ RII/III) on neutrophils was significantly higher in both the Tazocin (*p*<0.05, median MFI = 6950) and P4-IVIG + Tazocin (*p*<0.005, median MFI = 7343) groups when compared to the PBS (median MFI = 3918) treated group (Figure 39 - bottom panel). These increased levels of CD32/16 could be due to augmentation of Fc γ R by P4 peptide treatment but could also be indicative of a more mature neutrophil population in Tazocin and P4-IVIG + Tazocin groups or alternatively a result of CD16 downregulation during sepsis; CD16 decreases with increased infection severity, CD32 expression has not been shown to alter during infection (179).



Figure 39 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Neutrophil receptor expression FcγRs

Mice n=10 per group were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via the intraperitoneal route. One and four hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were culled at 7 hours post infection and blood collected for staining of neutrophils (CD45+, CD11b+, Gr-1+) to determine expression levels of CD32/16 (FcγRII/III) and CD64 (FcγRI). Plotted as median and IQR. Analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparison test ** p<0.005, * p<0.05

Expression of CD88 was also measured; isotype controls were used for these experiments as previous studies have reported P4 altering Fc receptor expression, which could effect the measurement of non-Fc recptors through non specific binding of the Fc region to Fcy receptors (166, 167).

CD88 expression was significantly higher in both the Tazocin (p<0.05, median MFI = 42668) and P4-IVIG + Tazocin (p<0.05, median MFI = 40609) groups when compared to the PBS (median MFI = 24870) treated group (Figure 40). Decreased CD88 is a marker of increased severity and binding of C5a to its receptor can have negative implications for neutrophil function.



Figure 40 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Neutrophil receptor expression CD88

Mice n=10 per group were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via the intraperitoneal route. One and four hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were culled at 7 hours post infection and blood collected for staining of neutrophils (CD45+, CD11b+, Gr-1+) to determine expression levels of CD88. Plotted as median and IQR. Analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparison test * p<0.05

d) Endotoxins – LPS

After observing that P4-IVIG and Tazocin treatments only lead to a modest extension in survival time of around 10 hours, despite significant reductions in CFUs in the blood, LPS was measured from the plasma of animals culled at seven hours post infection. LPS is a potent driver of inflammation and plasma levels can be affected by antibiotic treat meant so this was measured to see if it could be a possible factor driving mortality in the model (180).

Plasma endotoxin levels as measured using a *Limulus* amebocyte lysate assay (LAL). As expected endotoxin levels were elevated in all mice (healthy levels should be below detection limit). No significant difference was seen between any of the groups (Figure 41).



Figure 41 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *E. coli* infection model – Serum endotoxin levels

Mice n=5 per group were infected with 1 x 10^7 CFU *E. coli* via intraperitoneal route. 1 and 4 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were culled at seven hours post infection and blood collected for determination of endotoxin concentrations in serum. Plotted as median and IQR. Analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparison test p=0.4.

E. Results Summary

Treatment with a single dose of P4-IVIG one hour post infection lead to significant reductions in CFUs in both blood and organs at seven hours post infection when compared to PBS treated controls but the number of CFUs in the blood were increasing when compared to the 4 hour time point (Figure 23).

A combination treatment of Tazocin (25% of human equivalent dose) and P4-IVIG at one hour post infection lead to a greater decrease in CFUs compared to either treatment alone with mean CFUs of 7.5 x 10^7 for Tazocin alone, 2.5 x 10^7 for P4-IVIG and 8.9 x 10^5 for the combination treatment, compared to 2.7 x 10^8 for untreated (PBS) mice (Figure 26). This in turn translated into a significant increase in mean survival over a 24 hour period post infection rising from 8.4 hours for untreated controls to 19 hours for those treated with P4-IVIG + Tazocin, P4-IVIG and Tazocin alone had mean survival times of 16.8 and 15.8 hours respectively. An increase in the percentage of animals surviving to 24 hours was observed, with survival increasing from 0% for untreated controls to 20% for P4-IVIG + Tazocin, survival for P4-IVIG and Tazocin alone survival was 0% (Figure 28).

To determine if host survival could be improved further, an increased dosing schedule was trialled with the addition of a second treatment dose: the first remaining at one hour post infection with the second at four hours post infection.

Increasing the P4 dosing schedule from a single dose to a double dose did not effect the mean survival time over the 24 hours the mice were monitored

115

but it did effect the survival percentage at 24 hours: P4-IVIG survival increased from 0% to 27%, Tazocin alone from 0% to 11% and P4-IVIG + Tazocin from 20% to 55%, untreated (PBS) survival remained at 0% (Figure 31). The double dose regime also resulted in a greater reduction in mean CFUs in the blood at 7 hours post infection compared with a single dose: Tazocin treatment showing a drop of over 3 logs with a second dose (7.5 x 10^7 to 2.1 x 10^4 CFU/mI), P4-IVIG a modest decrease of just under a log (2.5 x 10^7 to 5.7 x 10^6 CFU/mI) and there was a drop of over 3 logs for P4-IVIG + Tazocin in combination from (8.9 x 10^5 to 816 CFU/mI) (Figure 33).

Treatment with a double dose of P4 peptide in combination with IVIG and Tazocin lead to significantly higher 24 hour survival than treatment with Tazocin alone. However, this combination treatment had equivalent efficacy to Tazocin + IVIG treatment (Figure 31). Between these three treatments there was no significant difference in the CFUs in blood or lungs at seven hours post infection (Figure 33 and Figure 34).

Blood 7hr Log CFU								
Treatment	PBS	Tazocin	P4-IVIG	P4-IVIG + Tazocin	Tazocin IVIG			
Single Dose	8.19	6.31	7.30	5.35	-			
Double Dose	8.50	4.33	6.76	2.91	0.95			
Lung 7hr Log CFU								
Treatment	PBS	Tazocin	P4-IVIG	P4-IVIG + Tazocin	Tazocin IVIG			
Single Dose	4.93	4.32	4.37	1.85	-			
Double Dose	5.44	1.42	5.20	1.10	0.72			

Table 14 Comparison of single and double dose treatment of P4-IVIG in combination with antibiotics- Blood and lung CFUs

Table 14 shows a comparison of CFUs detected in the blood and lungs at seven hours post infection for both single and double doses of treatment. All treatments apart from PBS and P4-IVIG showed a decrease in CFUs. This could suggest that without the antibiotics present a further dose of P4-IVIG does not lead to improvements in bacterial killing, perhaps because the immune response has been exhausted.

Where the three treatments containing Tazocin did differ was the cytokine response to infection; treatment with P4-IVIG +Tazocin resulted in the lowest levels of CXCL1, significantly lover than treatment Tazocin alone (p=0.005). Differences between other pairings of treatment groups were not significant. It should be notes that the level of CXCL1 detected was very high for all treatment groups.

IL-10 levels were significantly higher in PBS and Tazocin treated mice than those treated with Tazocin-IVIG or P4-IVIG. There was no significant difference between IL-10 levels in P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice and any other group, with levels sitting midway between the two high groups and the two low groups.

There was no difference in the levels of C5a between treatment groups, with a large degree of spread in the data. Inflammatory marker data is summarised in Table 15.

117

Treatment	PBS	Tazocin	P4-IVIG + Tazocin	Tazocin + IVIG	P4 + IVIG
Mean CXCL1 ng/ml	243.8	824.0	181.2	378.8	583.8
IL-10 pg/ml	609.2	499.4	257.8	90.01	57.11
C5a pg/ml	40958	54931	44254	51210	33700

Table 15 Summary of CXCL1, IL-10 and C5a mean plasma levels at seven hours post infection for mice treated with a double dose of P4-IVIG and antibiotics in combination

Mice treated with Tazocin or P4-IVIG + Tazocin had a higher percentage of neutrophils in the blood than those treated with PBS (p=0.05 and p=0.0001 respectively) The difference between neutrophil percentages between Tazocin and P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice was 12%, if analysised in isolation this difference was significant (p=0.03 t-test).

Expression of receptors on neutrophils from Tazocin and P4-VIG + Tazocin treated groups showed higher levels of both CD32/16 (FcγRII/III) and CD88 than in PBS treated groups. The levels of CD64 (FcγRI) expressed on neutrophils was not significantly different between groups but was lowest in P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated groups followed by Tazocin treated groups, with the highest expression in the PBS treated groups.

To summarise the double dose of P4-IVIG and Tazocin lead to increased survival and decreased bacterial burden compared to a single dose but was not superior to a double dose of Tazocin and IVIG in combination, which also had high survival over 24 hours (Tazocin-IVIG = 60%, P4-IVIG + Tazocin = 55%) and superior clearance of bacteria.

The difference in the levels of IL-10 and CXCL1 are difficult to interrupt based on a single time point as it is unknown where they are increasing or decreasing as the infection progresses and also how the consumption rate of these molecules is effecting levels detectable in the plasma.

Significant differences in neutrophil percentages and expression of $Fc\gamma R$ and CD88 on neutrophil were only seen between groups that received treatment versus PBS controls which could suggest that these difference reflect a difference in infection severity at the given time point as opposed to a drug induced change in receptor expression.

The severity of the model necessitated early sacrifice (in line with the terms of the Home Office licence), thus limiting the opportunity of dosing. To better assess the efficacy of P4-IVIG a less severe model would be of benefit.

F. Discussion

The model of *E. coli* systemic infection developed for this project, was extremely acute, with quite an aggressive progression into sepsis; CFUs were detectable in the blood within one hour of peritoneal infection and PBS treated animals reached lethargy (humane endpoint of infection) within ten hours.

1. Survival and bacterial burden

Single dose treatment with P4 peptide and IVIG lead to a significant reduction in the number of CFUs in the blood, lungs and spleen at seven hours post infection compared to PBS treated mice however the CFUs recovered from these mice was increasing between four and seven hours post infection. With a bacterial burden of around 10⁷ CFU/ml in the blood at seven hours post infection these mice were unlikely to survive, for this reason antibiotics were introduced into the model. This model of P4-IVIG treatment in combination with antibiotics is also more in line with how future clinical use is envisaged; with P4 therapy being adjunctive to, not replacing, conventional antimicrobial therapies. Tazocin was chosen after consultation with an ICU physician whom indicated that Tazocin would be the antibiotic of choice for an abdominal infection suspected to be due to a Gram-negative pathogen. The dose of 9 mg/mouse (25% of the human equivalent dose) was selected after initial dose testing confirmed that it was insufficient to clear the infection alone therefore still allowing for an effect of P4 therapy to be shown.

Addition of Tazocin to the model had a synergistic effect with P4-IVIG treatment in combination with Tazocin leading to a decline in CFUs greater

120

than either of the two separately, with significantly fewer CFUs recovered with P4-IVIG + Tazocin than from treatment with Tazocin alone.

This combination treatment also leads to improvements in survival, all mice treated with Tazocin alone reached lethargy (humane endpoint) with 16 hours post infection, all mice treated with P4-IVIG with 24 hours, whilst 40% of mice treated with the combination of P4-IVIG + Tazocin survived to 24 hours.

At the end of these experiments it was observed that the number of CFUs recovered from Tazocin and P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice at the time of death where not as high as would be expected considering the degree of lethargy and were considerably lower than those treated with PBS or P4-IVIG. Alongside this, the rapid onset of symptoms during infection led to the suspicion that endotoxins (LPS) might be playing a significant role in the pathophysiology of the infection.

A second dose was added to the treatment schedule in an attempt to improve outcomes in the model, along with the Tazocin + IVIG, this group was added due to the suspicion that LPS was contributing significantly to the pathophysiology during infection.

Treatment with all three drug combinations that included Tazocin: Tazocin, Tazocin + IVIG and P4-IVIG + Tazocin led to significantly lower numbers of CFUs in the blood, lungs and spleen when compared to PBS treat mice. There wasn't however a statistically significant difference in the number of CFUs recovered the three groups. There was a difference in 24 hour survival time between Tazocin and P4-IVIG + Tazocin in combination. However, this

121

difference, albeit non-significant, was also evident when treating with Tazocin and IVIG in combination. There was no difference in survival time between P4-IVIG + Tazocin and Tazocin + IVIG.

The reason for a poor survival despite significant reductions in CFUs with Tazocin, P4-IVIG + Tazocin and Tazocin + IVIG treatment was likely due to animal suffering from septic shock. In septic shock patients suffer from intractable vasodilation, microvascular thrombosis, increased adhesion of leukocytes to venules and increased vascular permeability as a result of excessive inflammation, coagulation dysfunction and endothelial damage; all of which lead to impaired tissue perfusion and organ failure (138). These patients would receive interventions to support their failing physiology such as intravenous fluids, vasopressors, inotropic drugs and mechanical ventilation; these measures would be difficult to implement in animal models (181).

2. Inflammatory Markers

a) CXCL1

All mice had very high levels of CXCL1, which has been shown to be essential to survival in polymicrobial sepsis models (cecal ligation and puncture) (169). The levels of CXCL1 were slightly lower in P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice than in the other groups, although this difference was only significant between P4-IVIG + Tazocin and Tazocin alone. The difference in median values was ten fold between the two groups. This difference could be interpreted in a number of ways; in experiments with human epithelial cells in tissue culture P4 was shown to decrease the expression of IL-8 (human homolog of CXCL1), so one could conclude that the lower levels of CXCL1 are due to direct modulation of cytokine production, this unlikely to be the case though as there was no reduction seen in mice treated with just P4-IVIG (182). An alternative hypothesis is that there is less CXCL1 because there is a lower bacterial burden in this group, again this is unlikely as the Tazocin + IVIG group, which showed the lowest bacterial burden still had very high levels of CXCL1. Another possibility is that IL-10-mediated attenuation of CXCL1 production, this has been observed in with LPS induced CXCL1 and Candida albicans infection, where IL-10 destabilises CXCL1 mRNA and *de novo* synthesis of the protein (183-185). This could be possible as the P4-IVIG + Tazocin treatment group had relatively high of IL-10 and a similar bacterial burden to the Tazocin + IVIG group which had lower IL-10 and higher CXCL1. However the Tazocin only treated group had the second highest level of IL-10 and the highest level of CXCL1. The final theory to explain the lower levels of CXCL1 in the P4-IVIG + Tazocin is that it is bound to the CXCR2 receptor on neutrophils and that the higher proportion of neutrophils in the blood of P4-IVIG + Tazocin has resulted in a higher turnover of the cytokine. This could also help explain the disparity between the high neutrophil levels and low CXCL1 in this group. All of these theories may contribute to the lower CXCL1 levels in P4-IVIG + Tazocin but to help delineate which factors are important more time points would be needed in order to establish the temporal order of cytokine production and their effects.

b) IL-10

The highest levels of IL-10 were seen in PBS treated and Tazocin treated mice. High levels of IL-10 in the PBS treated mice seems logical as with high CFUs you would expect high LPS. In the Tazocin treated mice there was also high IL-10 despite these mice having significantly lower numbers of CFUs, this could due to treatment with Tazocin leading to endotoxcin release (112, 186). The P4-IVIG and Tazocin-IVIG group had significantly lower levels of IL-10 than the PBS and Tazocin treated groups, despite the P4-IVIG group higher numbers bacterial and the Tazocin treated group having the possibility of antibiotic-induced endotoxcin release. One possible theory that could explain the lower levels of IL-10 is that the IVIG is mopping up the LPS, the problem with this being the IVIG has been shown to increase IL-10 production by macrophages in response to LPS (187). The intermediate levels of IL-10 in P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice are also difficult to explain, neutrophils can be induced to produce IL-10 after direct contact with LPSstimulated regulatory T-cells and this group did have the highest proportions of neutrophils (188).

124

With the protective role IL-10 can play in sepsis in mind it would be important to establish the timing of IL-10 induction and cell types producing IL1-0 in this model as well as levels of IL-10 before and after treatment to determine how the various treatments are effecting production (173, 174).

c) C5a

C5a has a very short *in vivo* half-life (2-3 mins) which is thought to be due to the rapid binding and internalisation through C5a receptors so plasma levels of C5a may not reflect the levels being produced *(189)* (190). There was little difference in plasma C5a between group however the PBS group had significantly lower levels of CD88, which could suggest that it was being produced at higher quantities but had a higher turnover rate.

3. Cell populations

a) Neutrophil percentages

Neutrophil percentages were significantly higher in Tazocin and P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice compared to those treated with PBS, with the highest levels being in the P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated group. The factors driving this increase in neutrophils is not clear from this study as the levels of CXCL1 were lowest in the this group and there were no significant differences in the levels of C5a. In further studies it would be important to investigate a broader range of neutrophil chemoattractants as well as cytokines involved in stimulating production of neutrophils such as GM-CSF and G-CSF to see how P4 treatment affects these.

b) FcyR expression

Expression of receptors on neutrophils from Tazocin and P4-VIG + Tazocin treated groups showed a pattern of receptor expression that is indicative of a lower severity of infection compared with the PBS treated group: higher levels of CD32/16 (FcγRII/III), which suggests a more mature neutrophil population and lower levels of CD64 (FcγRI) which suggests the infection is less severe than in PBS treated mice at this time point (178). Decreased CD64 expression could also be interpreted as indirect evidence of increased phagocytosis as the receptor is internalised during phagocytosis (191). CD64 expression also deceases during maturation in the bone marrow, so high levels could again suggest that the PBS treated neutrophils are less mature and those treated with Tazocin and P4-IVIG + Tazocin. Whether these changes can be attributed directly to augmentation of receptor expression by the P4 peptide or are the result of a lower infectious burden is less clear.

c) CD88

Mice treated with Tazocin or P4-IVIG and Tazocin had higher levels of CD88 on their neutrophil. Reduced expression of CD88 during infection has been shown to correlate with increased infection severity and can be used as prognostic markers for survival in sepsis patients (130). Higher levels of CD88 in the Tazocin and P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated groups could therefore be suggestive of a lower infection severity in these groups.

4. Endotoxcin (LPS)

Endotoxin levels in serum were tested to see if different treatments led to different levels of endotoxin being released into the circulation leading to altered levels of inflammation. No difference in endotoxin levels was observed between any of the treatment groups despite significantly different bacterial loads. Although the LAL assay is very sensitive, serum proteins can interfere with the assay rendering it less reliable, hence more testing would be required to determine whether there is a true difference between endotoxin levels (192).

5. Summary

To summarise P4 treatment in this model of *E. coli* infection was successful to an extent; treating with P4-IVIG lead to a decrease in CFUs detected in mice but significant increases in survival time were only seen with the addition of antibiotics and were not superior to treatment with Tazocin and IVIG in combination. Considering the swift decline of health in animals after infection it may be the case that no intervention could rescue these animals.

Chapter III. *In vivo* murine study of effects of P4 peptide during pulmonary *Klebsiella pneumoniae* infection

A. Introduction

The previous chapter focused on an animal model of *E. coli* infection via the peritoneal route; this infection model gave an acute, very severe infection, this chapter goes on to look at P4 therapy in the treatment of *K. pneumoniae* pulmonary infection. *K. pneumoniae* was chosen as the pathogen as it is the second most common cause of Gram negative bloodstream infection after *E. coli*, accounts for 10% of hospital acquired bacterial pneumonias and in regions where it is particularly prevalent (Taiwan and South Africa) it has a higher mortality than *S. pneumoniae* (38-40).

1. Animal Model

For this study an animal model of *K. pneumoniae* respiratory infection (with sepsis secondary to pneumonia) was developed in order to assess treatment efficacy. This model was similar to the *S. pneumoniae* model of invasive pneumococcal disease published by Bangert *et al.* with mortality for untreated subjects at 80-100% and a progression to sepsis between 24 and 30 hours post infection. This model was used for both survival and time pointed experiments. Models utilised also assessed the efficacy of P4 treatment as an adjunctive therapy in combination with antibiotic treatment.

2. Cell surface marker and cytokines

Tissue and blood from time pointed experiments were collected for flow cytometry analysis of cell surface markers and measurement of cytokines in order to monitor the effect of the effect of treatment on the immune response to infection. The same cell surface and inflammatory markers were used as in Chapter II.

B. Methods and Materials

1. Media preparation

a) Blood Agar

400 ml of distilled water was mixed with 16 g of blood agar base 2 (Oxoid CM0271) before autoclaving at 121°C for 15 minutes. Once the agar had cooled to approximately 56°C, 20 ml of defibrinated horse blood (Oxoid SR0050) was added to give a final concentration of 5% blood agar and then poured into sterile petri dishes. Plates were stored at 4°C until use.

b) Brain Heart Infusion Broth

400 ml of distilled water was mixed with 14 g of brain heart infusion (BHI) broth powder (Oxoid CM1135) before autoclaving at 121°C for 15 minutes. BHI broth was cooled before use and stored at room temperature.

For BHI with serum – an aliquot of heat inactivated foetal bovine serum (FBS – Sigma F9665) was thawed and added to broth aseptically at the appropriate concentration.

2. Bacterial strain and inoculum preparation

K. pneumoniae ATCC 43816, a serotype 2 strain was purchased from LGC Standards, UK.

Infections were carried out with mid-log cultures. Strains were streaked on to 5 % blood agar plates from frozen stocks and incubated at 37°C for 16-18 hours. The following day universal tubes containing 5 ml of BHI broth were

inoculated from the plate and incubated at 37° C, 200 rpm for 16-18 hours. Following the 16-18 hour incubation 500 µl was subcultured into 20 ml of LB broth and adjusted to an OD₆₀₀ of 0.1. The culture was incubated at for 37° C, 200 rpm for 1-2 hours until reaching an OD₆₀₀ of 0.5, cultures were centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 minutes, the supernatant discarded and the pellet resuspended in PBS, this was repeated and the culture then resuspended at 2 x 10⁶ CFU per ml. Doses were plated onto 5 % blood agar to confirm inoculum CFUs .

3. Mouse Strains

Female CD-1 mice aged between 6-7 weeks were used for all experiments.

4. Infection and monitoring

The prepared inoculum was administered by intranasal instillation of 50 µl dose distributed evenly between the two nares (detailed in section II.B). Mice were monitored at regular intervals from administration of infectious dose. Animals were culled when they reached ++ lethargy (details of scoring in methods in section II.B).

5. P4 treatment

P4 peptide and IVIG were administered at 24 and 30 hours post infection via a 50 μ I intravenous injection into the tail vein at a concentration of 2 mg/ml dissolved in DEPC treated water. IVIG was administered by a 100 μ I intraperitoneal injection of Gamunex-C (Grifols, Spain), 100 mg of protein per ml. Control animals received an injection of equivalent volume of sterile PBS.

6. Antibiotic treatment

Tazocin (Pfizer, USA) – piperacillin/tazobactam – was used in experiments at a dose of 9 mg/mouse, which equated to ¼ of the human equivalent dose. Tazocin was injected via the tail vein, 50 µl dissolved in DEPC treated water at the same time points as P4 treatment. Control animals received an injection of equivalent volume of sterile PBS.

Animal procedures, tissue collection, CFUs and flow cytometry were performed as detailed in section II.B

C. Results

1. Survival

The efficacy of P4 treatment in combination with the antibiotic (Tazocin) was investigated during severe pneumonia (with secondary sepsis) caused by *K. pneumoniae*. Disease progression during this infection model is similar to that of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* so I used the same dosing schedule described by Bangert *et al.* (167). Doses of P4, IVIG and Tazocin were administered at 24 and 30 hours post infection, with P4 and Tazocin both being given intravenously and IVIG via intraperitoneal injection. Survival was monitored over a seven day period with surviving mice being culled at this point to confirm clearance of infection.

The P4-IVIG + Tazocin group showed 70% survival at day seven compared with 20% for PBS and Tazocin groups and 30% for P4-IVIG and Tazocin-IVIG groups (Figure 42).

The mean survival time (p=0.04) Mean survival times for P4-IVIG + Tazocin were significantly longer compared to PBS treated mice (PBS mean survival = 78.3 hours, P4-IVIG + Tazocin mean survival time = 148.2 hours, p<0.05). Survival times for Tazocin (98.2 horus), Tazocin + IVIG (95.4 hours) and P4-IVIG (93.8 hours) were not significantly higher than PBS treated mice (Figure 43).



Figure 42 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model - Survival

Mice n=10 per group were infected with 1 x 10^5 CFU *K. pneumoniae* via intranasal instillation. 24 and 30 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were monitored for signs of disease and culled when they reached ++ lethargic.





Mice n=10 per group were infected with 1 x 10⁵ CFU *K. pneumoniae* via intranasal instillation. 24 and 30 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were monitored for signs of disease and culled when they reached ++ lethargic. Survival time in hours with mean and SEM. Analysed by one-way ANOVA test, p=0.0482 and Bonferroni's post test * = p<0.05.

2. Bacterial Burden

36 hours was chosen as the time point to assess bacterial burden as it is the last point at which there is 100% survival in all treatment groups.

Both P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice (median CFUs = 0.0, IQR = $0 - 1.1 \times 10^4$) and those treated with Tazocin alone (median CFUs = 2.4×10^3 , IQR = $3 \times 10^2 - 8 \times 10^3$) showed significant reductions in blood CFUs compared with PBS treated mice (median CFUs = 1.6×10^5 , IQR = $2.0 \times 10^4 - 3.6 \times 10^6$) (Figure 44- top).

Both P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice (median CFUs = 3.333×10^5 , IQR = $1.3 \times 10^5 - 7.5 \times 10^5$) and those treated with Tazocin alone (median CFUs = 4.0×10^5 , IQR = $3.8 \times 10^4 - 3.8 \times 10^6$) also showed significant reductions in lung CFUs compared with PBS treated mice (median CFUs = 1.3×10^7 , IQR = $7.3 \times 10^6 - 1.6 \times 10^8$) (Figure 44 - bottom).





Mice n=10 per group were infected with 1 x 105 CFU *K. pneumoniae* via intranasal instillation. 24 and 30 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 μ I of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 μ I of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume.

Top:Mice were monitored for signs of disease and culled at 36 hours post infection. Blood was collected for determination of CFUs. Analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparison test p=0.002, *** p<0.0001, * p<0.05. Bottom: Lung tissue was collected for determination of CFUs. Analysed by Kruskal-

Bottom: Lung tissue was collected for determination of CFUs. Analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparison test p=0.0002, *** p<0.0001, ** p<0.005.

3. Inflammatory Markers

a) Plasma

No significant differences were observed in CXCL1 (p=0.5), MIP-2 (p=0.2), or C5a (p=0.7) concentrations in plasma between the three groups. Plasma IL-10 concentration was also measured but was below the level of detection of the assay (2 pg/ml) (Figure 45 and Figure 46).





Mice n=10 per group were infected with 1 x 10^5 CFU *K. pneumoniae* via intranasal instillation. 24 and 30 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were monitored for signs of disease and culled at 36 post infection. Blood was collected for determination of plasma cytokine concentrations. Plotted as median and IQR. Analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparison test -CXCL1 p=0.5, MIP-2 p=0.2



Figure 46 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model – Inflammatory markers in plasma (C5a)

Mice n=10 per group were infected with 1 x 10^5 CFU *K. pneumoniae* via intranasal instillation. Twenty-four and 30 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were monitored for signs of disease and culled at 36 post infection. Blood was collected for determination of plasma cytokine concentrations. Plotted as median and IQR. Analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparison p=0.7

b) Lungs

.No significant differences were seen between CXCL1 concentrations in the lungs (p=0.2) however there was a difference for MIP-2. The levels of MIP-2 in the lungs were significantly higher in PBS treated mice compared to those treated with Tazocin (p=0.005), there was not significant difference between the levels in P4-IVIG + Tazocin and the other two groups (Figure 47).

Tazocin treated mice had significantly higher levels of C5a (mean C5a = 373 pg/ml) than those treated with PBS (mean C5a = 181 pg/ml p<0.05), they also had higher levels than P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice (mean C5a = 256 pg/ml) but this difference was not statistically significant (Figure 48).

IL-10 concentrations in the lung, levels were significantly lower (p<0.05) in both P4-IVIG + Tazocin (mean IL-10 = 854 pg/ml) and Tazocin (mean IL-10 = 875 pg/ml) treated mice when compared to PBS (mean IL-10 = 2747 pg/ml) treated mice (Figure 49).



Lung MIP-2



Mice n=10 per group were infected with 1 x 10^5 CFU *K. pneumoniae* via intranasal instillation. 24 and 30 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were monitored for signs of disease and culled at 36 post infection. Lung tissue was collected for determination of cytokine concentrations. Plotted as mean and SEM. Analysed by one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni post test –CXCL1 *p*=0.2, MIP-2 *p*=0.003 ** *p*<0.005.



Figure 48 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model – lung (C5a)

Mice n=10 per group were infected with 1 x 10^5 CFU *K. pneumoniae* via intranasal instillation. 24 and 30 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were monitored for signs of disease and culled at 36 and 48 hours post infection. Lung tissue was collected for determination of cytokine concentrations. Plotted as mean and SEM. Analysed by one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni post test *p*=0.03, * p<0.05.



Figure 49 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model – Lung IL-10

Mice n=10 per group were infected with 1 x 10^5 CFU *K. pneumoniae* via intranasal instillation. 24 and 30 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were monitored for signs of disease and culled at 36 and 48 hours post infection. Lung tissue was collected for determination of cytokine concentrations. Plotted as mean and SEM. Analysed by one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni post test p=0.006 * p<0.05.
4. Cell populations and receptor expression

a) Neutrophils

Neutrophils were defined as CD45+, CD11b+ and Gr-1+ cells, neutrophil percentages were calculated as percentage of all CD45+ cells.

A higher percentages of neutrophils were detected in the blood of P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice (mean = 44.13 %) at 36 hours post infection compared to Tazocin (mean - 27.55 %) and PBS (mean = 30.33 %) treated mice (both p<0.005) (Figure 50, top panel). Percentages of neutrophils found in the lung tissue at 36 hours post infection showed no significant difference between treatment groups (p=0.2145) (Figure 50, bottom panel).



Figure 50 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model – percentage neutrophils in blood and lungs

Mice n=5 per group were infected with 1 x 10^5 CFU *K. pneumoniae* via intranasal instillation. 24 and 30 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were monitored for signs of disease and culled at 36 post infection.

Top: Blood was collected, red blood cells lysed and cells stained for subsequent analysis by flow cytometry, neutrophils were isolated as CD45+, Gr-1+ and CD11b+ cells. Plotted as mean and SEM. Analysed by one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni post test p=0.0008, ** p<0.005.

Bottom: Lung tissue was collected, processed to a single cell suspension, red blood cells lysed and cells stained for subsequent analysis by flow cytometry, neutrophils were isolated as CD45+, Gr-1+ and CD11b+ cells. Plotted as median and IQR. Analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test p=0.2

b) Receptor expression

The expression of cell surface receptors on neutrophils in the blood at 36 hours post infection was measured. No difference was observed in the expression of CD64 (Fc γ RI) (p=0.8) or CD88 (p=0.7) although a statistically significant difference (p=0.02) was observed for CD32/16 (Fc γ RII/III); P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice had higher levels of expression than Tazocin or PBS (p=0.05) treated mice (mean MFI for P4-IVIG + Tazocin = 17277, Tazocin = 13337 and PBS = 11581) (Figure 51 and Figure 52).

Receptors CD11b (MAC-1, CR3) and CD35/21 (CR1/2) were also measured but displayed no difference in expression between groups (p= 0.8 and p=0.1 respectively).



Figure 51 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model – blood neutrophil receptor expression (FcγR)

Mice n=10 per group were infected with 1 x 10^5 CFU *K. pneumoniae* via intranasal instillation. 24 and 30 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were monitored for signs of disease and culled at 36 hours post infection. Blood was collected, red blood cells lysed and cells stained for subsequent analysis by flow cytometry. Analysed by one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni post test –CD64 (FcγRI) p=0.8, CD32/16 (FcγRII/III) p=0.02, * p<0.05.



Figure 52 Double dose P4 therapy with antibiotics in *K. pneumoniae* infection model – blood neutrophil receptor expression C5aR

Mice n=10 per group were infected with 1 x 10^5 CFU *K. pneumoniae* via intranasal instillation. 24 and 30 hours post infection mice were treated I.V. with 50 µl of P4 peptide (2 mg/ml) and/or Tazocin (9 mg/mouse), I.P. with 100 µl of IVIG (100 mg/ml). Control mice received PBS injections of equal volume. Mice were monitored for signs of disease and culled at 36 post infection. Blood was collected, red blood cells lysed and cells stained for subsequent analysis by flow cytometry. Analysed by one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni post test p=0.7.

D. Results Summary

Treatment with a double dose of P4-IVIG + Tazocin led to higher percentage survival (70%) over 7 days than treatment with Tazocin alone (20%) and Tazocin+ IVIG (30%). Mean survival time was also significantly longer in P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice compared with PBS treated mice (p<0.05).

When CFUs were compared for P4-IVIG + Tazocin, Tazocin and PBS, treatment with both P4-IVIG + Tazocin and Tazocin alone led to a significant reduction in CFUs compared to control group. While decreases were similar in the lungs, the P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated group showed a far greater decrease in CFUs in the blood with 50 % of combination treated mice having no detectable CFUs in the blood at 36 hours.

These three treatments showed no difference in plasma cytokine levels the levels however the level of C5a in the lungs were significantly higher for mice treated with Tazocin alone and the levels of IL-10 in the lung were highest for mice treated with PBS.

The percentage of neutrophils found in the blood of P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice was significantly higher than for untreated controls and those treated with Tazocin alone.

Expression of receptors on neutrophils from all groups showed similar levels of both CD64 and CD88 but differed in their expression of CD32/16. No differences were observed in receptor expression levels in the lung nor were there any difference in neutrophil percentage observed.

150

E. Discussion

1. Survival and bacterial burden

Treatment with P4 peptide, IVIG and Tazocin lead to an increase in host survival (70%) when compared to both infected but non-treated control (20%) mice and those that received Tazocin (20%) or Tazocin in combination with IVIG (30%). Along with an increase in survival, mice treated with P4-IVIG + Tazocin in combination, saw a significant reduction in CFUs, this reduction in the lungs was similar to those treated with Tazocin alone but reductions in the blood were considerably higher with 50% of mice having no CFUs detectable at 36 hours post infection. This reduction in CFUs in blood is likely related to the increase in circulating neutrophils along with their higher level of CD32/16 expression.

2. Inflammatory Markers

a) Plasma

No differences were observed in the levels of cytokine in the plasma of mice at 36 hours post infection. Whether differences would have be observed at an earlier time point, closer to the treatment times, is something that should be considered for further studies.

b) Lungs

Differences were observed in the levels of MIP-2, C5a and IL-10 in lung. The levels of CXCL1 in the lungs were not significantly different between treatment groups.

PBS treated mice had significantly higher levels of MIP-2 compared with Tazocin treated mice. This higher level of MIP-2 is likely due to a higher bacterial burden in the lung.

Levels of C5a in the lung were highest for Tazocin treated mice, why this would be is unclear, expression of CD88 on lung neutrophils doesn't suggest higher binding of C5a in the PBS or P4-IVIG treatment groups.

The concentration of IL-10 in the lungs of PBS treated mice was significantly higher than in either Tazocin or P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice. *K. pneumoniae* capsule is known to induce IL-10 during pulmonary infection so the higher levels of bacteria in the lung of PBS treated mice could account for the higher levels of IL-10 (193).

3. Cell populations

a) Neutrophils percentages

As seen with the pneumococcal models of invasive disease there was not a significant increase in lung neutrophils with intravenous P4 treatment (167).

There was however a significantly higher percentage of neutrophils in the blood with P4-IVIG + Tazocin treatment compared with treatment with Tazocin or PBS. This higher proportion of neutrophils in the blood probably helped contribute to the reduction in CFUs seen in the blood.

b) FcyR expression

No differences were observed in the FcγR expression in the lung neutrophils. There was however a difference in the CD32/16 (FcγRII/III) expression in the

152

blood neutrophils, P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice had significantly higher levels of CD32/16 than PBS treated mice and higher expression than mice treated with Tazocin although this difference was not statistically significant. Higher levels of CD32/16 suggest more functionally mature cells and the potential for higher rates of phagocytosis, which is in line with the lower bacterial burden in the blood of these mice; over 50% of the mice had no detectable CFUs in the blood at 36 hours post infection.

c) CD88

No difference in CD88 expression was observed in either lung or blood neutrophils. This fits with the low levels of C5a found in the plasma and lung.

4. Summary

In summary treatment with P4-IVIG and Tazocin in combination was a successful treatment in the *K. pneumoniae* infection model where, unlike in the *E. coli* infection model, the combined therapy was superior to Tazocin-IVIG treatment both in terms of survival and bacterial clearance.

Chapter IV. *Ex vivo* study of the effect of P4 peptide on neutrophils of patients with severe community acquired pneumonia

Introduction Α.

1. **Community Acquired Pneumoniae (CAP)**

Lower respiratory tract infections (LRTIs) and pneumonia are a major cause of mortality or morbidity across the globe; especially prevalent in low and middle-income countries, and the leading infectious cause of death in highincome countries (194, 195). As well as high costs in terms of health, LTRIs are also a substantial economic burden on healthcare systems with European inpatient care costs for community acquired pneumonia (CAP) alone estimated at over €5 billion per year (196).



Pathogen Detected

Figure 53 Pathogen Detection among U.S. Adults with Community-Acquired Pneumonia Requiring Hospitalization, 2010–2012. From Jain et al. 2015 (37).

Streptococcus pneumoniae is the most common cause of bacterial CAP

requiring hospitalisation in recent reports from the US (Figure 53)(37).

The etiology of CAP varies greatly between regions and age groups, and is also influenced greatly by socioeconomic factors. Risk factors for CAP in adult populations include: including age (>65 years <5 years), smoking, alcoholism, immunosuppressive conditions, and other chronic conditions such as COPD, cardiovascular disease, cerebrovascular disease, chronic liver or renal disease, diabetes mellitus and dementia (197).

Severe CAP accounts for 6% of UK intensive care unit (ICU) admissions with mortality estimated at 35%, representing half of all CAP deaths. Overall hospital mortality sits at 50%, with an increasing incidence due to an aging population and rising antimicrobial resistance this is set to rise (198).

Like sepsis, alternative treatments are need for the treatment of severe CAP.

Previous work, which has shown P4 peptide to be an effective treatment for pneumococcal pneumoniae in murine models as well as its capacity to augment phagocytosis in both peripheral blood neutrophil and alveolar macrophages from differing populations of healthy volunteers(162, 167). This study, for the first time, is moving on from animal models and healthy human subjects to looks at P4 augmentation of phagocytic responses in peripheral blood neutrophils and alveolar macrophages from patients admitted to the intensive care unit (ICU) with a primary diagnosis of CAP.

2. Opsonophagocytosis killing assay

The primary endpoint of this study was the opsonophagocytosis killing assay (OPK). This assay was developed by the Centre for Disease Control and Protection CDC and was used to measure killing by phagocytic cells of

intravenous IgG (IVIG) opsonised pneumococci with and without P4 stimulation (199).

3. Clinical data

In addition to the functional assays performed with patient cells, clinical data such as microbiology results, haematological and physiological measures were collected for each patient in order to see if there was any relationship between these measures and the cellular response to P4 peptide.

4. Cell surface marker and serum cytokines

Cell surface markers and serum cytokine levels were measured for each patient in order to see if there was any relationship between these measures and the cellular response to P4 peptide.

5. P4 stimulation

Ex vivo stimulation of peripheral blood neutrophils was performed to determine the effects of P4 peptide exposure on cell surface marker expression as well and the secretion of cytokines.

B. Methods and Materials:

1. Ethics Statement

We obtained national research ethics approval (12/NW/0730) for this study. Informed consent was obtained from patients.

2. Power calculations

It was calculated that 20 samples (α =0.05, β =0.05) would be required to demonstrate a 25.5% increase in bacterial killing based on previously published data using human alveolar macrophages (162).

3. Patients

Patients were recruited between March 2013 – March 2014 from Aintree University Hospital and The Royal Liverpool University Hospital.

Study inclusion criteria:

- I. Adults (>18years)
- Admitted to critical care with a diagnosis of severe communityacquired pneumonia (CAP) in accordance with British Thoracic Society Guidelines (136).

CAP was defined as: symptoms and signs consistent with an acute lower respiratory tract infection and new radiographic shadowing for which there was no other explanation. CAP was the primary reason for admission to ICU in all recruited patients.

Exclusion criteria:

- I. Hospital admission within past 14 days
- II. Pregnancy
- III. immunocompromise (e.g. HIV Infection or chemotherapy).

4. Healthy Volunteers

Healthy volunteers were recruited to serve as technical controls and consented for both bronchoalveolar lavage and blood sampling.

Inclusion criteria:

- Adults aged 18-65 years. Age chosen to minimise risk of bronchoscopy.
- II. Fluent spoken English.

Exclusion criteria:

- Asthma or pre-existing lung disease requiring regular immunoregulatory treatment or having any recent ill health
- II. Cigarette smoking of greater than 10 pack years (20 cigarettes per day for 10 years)
- III. Chronic illness
- IV. Pregnancy

5. Sampling

All patients were recruited within 48 hours of admission to ICU and sampled within 7 days of recruitment. When research bronchoscopy was performed, blood samples were taken immediately prior to bronchoalveolar lavage. Venous blood samples were collected into 9 ml lithium heparin vacutainers.

Blood was transported from the hospital to the lab at room temperature in order to maintain optimal neutrophil viability. Research bronchoscopy was restricted to mechanically ventilated patients to avoid acute hypoxia in patients dependent on supportive oxygen therapy.

Healthy human volunteer bronchoscopy was undertaken using published technique (200). This technique was used with modifications for intubated critical care patients. Briefly, patients were given adequate intravenous sedation (usually a combination of propofol and alfentanil), 100% oxygen and monitored closely for the duration of the procedure. Experienced critical care physicians undertook bronchoscopy via the endotracheal tube to enable anticipation and prompt management of any complications. Bronchoalveolar lavage samples were transported from the hospital to the lab on ice.

6. Data collection

Relevant patient data was collected prospectively using an *a priori* case report form. This data included basic demographic details, clinical markers of severity, microbiology data and patient outcome measures.

7. Pneumococcal Stocks

Frozen pneumococcal stocks were prepared for use in OPK assays. Serotype 2, strain D39 was streaked on to 5% blood agar plates and incubated 16-18 hours at 37°C in gas jars.

The following day universal tubes containing 5 ml of BHI broth were inoculated with D39 from the agar plates and incubated statically for 16-18 hours. The culture was then centrifuged at 3000 g for 10 minutes, the

160

supernatant discarded and the pellet resuspended in 1 ml of 20% serum BHI broth and diluted to give a 10ml culture at OD₅₀₀ of 0.7. This was incubated until the culture reached an OD₅₀₀ of 1.2-1.4 (max 6 hour growth). This culture was then aliquoted into 2 ml screw top tubes and frozen at -80°C. Between 24 and 48 hours after freezing aliquots were thawed and the CFU determined by Miles and Misra.

8. Blood Cell Isolation

Cells were isolated from blood by dextran sedimentation followed by centrifugation over a Histopaque 1077 (Sigma-Aldrich, UK).

Blood was transferred from vacutainers (3 x 9 ml lithium heparin) into a 50 ml centrifuge tube containing 50 μ l of heparin sodium salt (5 units/ μ l), (Sigma-Aldrich, UK). The blood was then mixed 2:1 with 6% dextran (MW >500,000, Fisher, UK) and left for 20-30 minutes at room temperature for the red blood cells to sediment (see Figure 54, section A).



Figure 54 Blood cell isolation – dextran sedimentation and density centrifugation

After 20-30 minutes there should be two distinct phases; a dark red lower phase containing the red blood cells and a pale pink upper phase rich in leukocytes (see Figure 54 section B).

The upper phase was collected and layered over 7 ml of Histopaque 1077 in a 15 ml centrifuge tube (see Figure 54, section C), 2 -3 tubes were needed per patient. Samples were then centrifuging at room temperature, 700g for 30 minutes with no brake.The neutrophil (PMNs) and monocyte fractions were collected into separate 50 ml centrifuge and washed in Hank's Buffered Salt Solution without Magnesium or Calcium (HBSS-/-), residual red blood cells were lysed with BD Pharm Lyse (BD Biosciences, USA) as per the manufacturer's instructions. Cells were then counted with a haemocytometer and viability assessed by trypan blue exclusion.

9. Alveolar Macrophage Isolation

BAL samples were passed through a 100 μ m cell strainer (BD Bioscience, Germany) before centrifuging at 400g, 4°C. BAL sample supernatants were aspirated and aliquoted for storage at -70°C. Cell pellets were washed and counted before resuspending in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FBS, penicillin and streptomycin. Cells were seeded into flat bottom 96 well plates at a density of 1 x 10⁵ alveolar macrophages per well. Cells were incubated at 37°C, 5% CO₂ for two hours to allow alveolar macrophages to adhere before washing with PBS three times to remove non-adherent cells and antibiotic containing media.

10. Opsonisation of pneumococci

Pneumococcal stocks were thawed, washed twice by centrifuging at 13,000 rpm, discarding the supernatant and resuspending in +/+ HBSS, 5% FBS to give a final concentration of 5 x 10^4 CFU/ml (alveolar macrophage assays used 5 x 10^5 CFU/ml). IVIG (Gamunex-C, Grifols, Spain) was diluted 1:1 in +/+ HBSS, 5% FBS and then mixed with the diluted pneumococci 1:1 for opsonisation - 20 minutes, 37°C at 100rpm. The final concentration of IVIG in the assay is 1:16 which equates to 0.5 µg of protein. Un-opsonised controls used incubated as above in +/+ HBSS, 5% FBS at the same dilution.

11. Opsonophagocytosis Assay - neutrophils

Isolated neutrophils were seeded into 96 well U bottomed plates at a density of 5 × 10⁴ neutrophils per well were incubated with 5 × 10² opsonised *S. pneumoniae* (20 µl per well of the pneumococci and IVIG mix from Opsonisation of pneumococci), 10 µl baby rabbit complement (Mast Group, UK), and P4 solution (10 µg/well) for 45 minutes at 37°C, 175rpm. CFU were determined following incubation by Miles and Misra. Wells not being treated with P4 received DEPC-treated water. Wells containing no neutrophils, nonopsonised pneumococci and heat-inactivated complement were used as further controls. Killing index was calculated as 1 – dose well/OPA well (dose well - opsonised *S. pneumoniae* and complement, OPA well - phagocytes, opsonised *S. pneumoniae* and complement +/- P4 peptide)

12. Opsonophagocytosis Assay – alveolar macrophages

Alveolar macrophages were seeded into 96 well flat bottomed plates (as detailed in Alveolar Macrophage Isolation) at a density of 1×10^5 /well. After washing 5 × 10³ opsonised *S. pneumoniae* (20 µl per well of the pneumococci and IVIG mix from Opsonisation of pneumococci) were added to wells along with 10 µl of 3-4 week baby rabbit complement and P4 solution (20 µg/well) for 45 minutes at 37°C, 100rpm. CFU were determined following incubation by Miles and Misra. Control wells received DEPC-treated water. Wells containing no macrophages, non-opsonised pneumococci and heat-inactivated complement were used as further controls. Results of OPK assays were expressed as percentage killing index.

This was calculated as:

$$100 - \left(\frac{OPK \ Well}{Dose \ Well} \ x100\right)$$

Dose well - opsonised S. pneumoniae and complement

OPK well - phagocytes, opsonised *S. pneumoniae* and complement +/- P4 peptide.

13. P4 Stimulation

Isolated neutrophils were resuspended in RPMI 1640 (Life Technologies, USA) supplemented with 10% FBS (Sigma-Aldrich, UK) and seeded into 96 well plates at a density of 2 x 10^5 cells per well. P4 peptide was added to wells at a concentration of 20 µg/well. Control wells were made up to equal volume with DEPC-treated water. Cells were incubated at 37°C, 30rpm for

45 minutes and 6 hours at which point cell were centrifuged at 300g, supernatants collected (stored at -70°C) and cell stained for cell surface markers following the procedure detailed below.

14. Flow-cytometry

Cell suspensions were stained for 20 minutes at 4°C (detailed in section II.B.4.b. The following antibodies were used:

Ebioscience, UK

- CD64 (FcγRI, 10.0-FITC)
- CD32 (FcγRII, 6C4-APC)
- CD16 (FcγRIII, CB16-PeCy7)
- CD11b (CR3/Mac-1, CBRM1/5-PE)

Biolegend, USA

- CD88 (C5aR, S5/1-PeCy7)
- CD35 (CR1, E11-FITC)
- CD66b (CEACAM1, G10F5-PE)
- CD181 (IL-8RA, 8F1/CXCR1-FITC)

All cells were incubated with Trustain FcX Fc receptor blocking solution (Biolegend, USA) prior to staining with the exception those being stained with for CD64, CD32 and CD16. Isotype controls were used to exclude non specific binding. Acquisition was carried out using an Accuri C6 (BD Biosciences, USA) flow cytometer, and analysis was performed using FlowJo 8.7 for Macintosh (Tree Star).

15. Cytokines

Serum was collected from each patient in 7.5 ml S-Monovette Z serum tubes (Sarstedt, Germany), tubes were centrifuged at 2000 g for 10 minutes and the serum aliquoted for storage at -70°C.

IL-6, IL-8 and IL-10 levels were measured using Ready-SET-Go ELISAs (Ebioscience, UK) performed as per manufacturer's instructions. Plates were read with a FLUOStar Omega plate reader and analysised with the MARS Data Analysis interface (BMG Labtech, Germany).

16. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with Prism 5 (Graphpad Software, USA), individual tests are noted in figure legends.

C. Results

1. Healthy Controls

Five healthy controls were recruited and OPK assays performed on their neutrophils throughout the study to help ensure all reagents were functioning as expected for the length of the study.

The neutrophil OPK showed a statistically significant increase in killing index with P4 treatment (p=0.04), mean killing was 11% at baseline and increased to 28% with P4 treatment (Figure 55).

The alveolar macrophage OPK showed an increase in mean killing from 24% at baseline to 52% with P4 treatment however was no statistically significant (p=0.1) (Figure 55).



Healthy Alveolar Macrophage



Figure 55 OPKs from blood neutrophils and alveolar macrophages of healthy volunteers

Killing index of untreated and P4 treated peripheral blood neutrophils (top) and alveolar macrophages (bottom) from health controls. Neutrophils p=0.04, alveolar macrophages p=0.1 paired t-test.

2. Patient Characteristics

25 patients with community-acquired pneumonia (as defined by British Thoracic Society criteria [2]) were recruited into the study. All patients had severe pneumonia requiring admission to critical care for organ support and met the criteria for sepsis (see introduction). Table 16 depicts characteristics for 23 patients (two patients were excluded due to technical failure in testing) in our cohort.

Samples were taken at a mean of 52 hours from admission (range 13-110 hours) and processing began within one hour of sample collection. Fifteen (65%) patients were male, median age 54 (IQR 44-72) and median Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II (APACHE II – disease severity score for ICU calculated within 24 hours of admission) score 15, IQR 11-24 (Table 16).

The was no relationship between APACHE II score and response to P4 peptide in the OPK assay observed in our cohort although there was a trend towards a higher Sequential Organ Failure Assessment score (SOFA – scoring system used to track organ function in ICU, ranges from 0-24) in patients that did not respond to P4 in the OPK assay (mean SOFA score responders =5, mean SOFA score non responders = 8) (Figure 60).

The 28 day survival for our cohort was 19/23 (17% mortality), of the four patients who died within 28 days, three died in the ICU. Ten patients had a causative organism identified (three blood culture positive). The most commonly isolated organism was *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (n=3, 1 blood culture, 2 urinary antigen) (Table 16).

169

Major co-morbidities included: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (8/23), ischaemic heart disease (6/23) and diabetes mellitus (4/23).

Antimicrobial therapy for the majority of patients was a combination of either Piperacillin/Tazobactam (Tazocin) or benzylpenicillin combined with clarithromycin (Table 16).

ID	Age	Microbiology	APACHE II	Antimicrobial therapy	SOFA (Sampling)	Co-morbidities	28 Day Survival
А	83	E. coli	24	PIP/TAZ, CLAR	10	Asthma, IHD, AF	YES
В	30	S. milleri	11	PIP/TAZ. CLAR	7	Trisomy 21	YES
C	12	Neg	8		1	SLE DVT	VES
<u> </u>	42	Neg	0		<u>+</u>	<u> </u>	115
D	37	H. influenza	8	Co-amoxiclav, CLAR	0	IVDU, Hepatitis C, DVT	YES
F	49	Neg	26	BPC, CLAR	6	COPD, IBD	YES
F	54	Legionella	15	CLAR	2	IBD	NO
G	73	Influenza A	24	PIP/TAZ, Tamiflu, CLAR	8	HTN, Breast cancer (treated)	YES
н	47	Neg	14	CLAR. BPC. Tamiflu	2	T2DM. IHD. CKD3	YES
		-0				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
1	50	S. pneumoniae	18	Not completed	5	Alcoholism	YES
J	78	S. pneumoniae	14	CLAR, BPC	9	Nil significant	YES
к	61	Neg	9	PIP/TAZ, CLAR	3	COPD, RA	NO
		-0					
L	72	Neg	22	Ciprofloxacin, PIP/TAZ	9	T2DM, mild dementia	YES
М	60	Neg	15	CLAR, BPC	2	COPD, AS	YES

Table 16 – Patient Characteristics – Orange = Responders, Blue = Non responders

ID	Age	Microbiology	APACHE II	Antimicrobial therapy	SOFA (Sampling)	Co-morbidities	28 Day
N	39	Neg	13	CLAR, BPC	5	Asthma, T2DM, HTN	YES
0	31	Parainfluenza type 1	14	PIP/TAZ, Teicoplanin	4	Quadriplegic	YES
Р	69	Neg	25	CLAR, BPC	12	IHD, Peripheral neuropathy	YES
Q	75	Neg	25	BPC, CLAR	9	AS, HTN, Stroke	NO
R	44	S. pneumoniae	8	PIP/TAZ, CLAR	3	COPD, IVDU, Asthma	YES
S	72	S. pneumoniae	24	BPC	10	Asthma, HTN Asbestosis, IHD	YES
т	48	Neg	25	CLAR, BPC	6	Paraplegic	YES
U	75	Neg	6	CLAR Vancomycin	10	COPD, HTN, Laryngeal cancer	YES
V	69	E. coli	13	PIP/TAZ, CLAR,	14	COPD, ALD (Child C)	NO
W	49	Neg	2	CLAR, BPC	3	Sleep Apnoea, T2DM, HTN	YES

APACHE II - Acute physiology and chronic	Co-morbidities:	
health evaluation II	AF – Atrial fibrillation	HTN – Hypertension
SOFA – Sequential organ failure	ALD – Alcoholic liver disease	IBD – Inflammatory bowel disease
assessment	AS – Aortic stenosis	IHD – Ischaemic heart disease
Antimicrobial therapy:	CKD – Chronic kidney disease	IVDU – Intravenous drug user
BPC – Benzylpenicillin	COPD – Chronic obstructive pulmonary	RA – Rheumatoid arthritis
CLAR – Clarithromycin	disease	SLE – Systemic lupus erythematosus
PIP/TAZ –Tazocin	DVT – Deep vein thrombosis	T2DM – Type 2 Diabetes mellitus

3. Opsonophagocytosis Assays

Blood neutrophil OPKs were completed in 23/25 patients (2 excluded due to technical failure). Fourteen (60%) samples responded to P4 peptide stimulation (fold increase > 1) (Figure 56).

Treatment with P4 peptide compared to carrier control led to significantly improved *ex vivo* neutrophil phagocytic killing of pneumococci with a mean killing index of 32% vs. 20% (mean difference 11.2%, C.I. 4.4-18.0, p=0.002) (Figure 57).



Figure 56 – Fold increase in killing index of peripheral blood neutrophils treated with P4 peptide

Fold increase in killing index of P4 treated neutrophils when compared to untreated neutrophils for each of the 23 ICU patients. 56% (14/23) patients showed an increase in killing when treated with P4 peptide. Dotted line indicates a fold increase of 1, patients with a fold increase of 1 or less are considered non responders and are highlighted in blue (O-W), responders are highlighted in orange (A-N). Letters on the X axis correspond with the ID column in Table 16.



Figure 57 – Difference in killing index between P4 treated peripheral blood neutrophils and untreated neutrophils

Difference in killing index between P4 treated and untreated peripheral blood neutrophils for each of the 23 ICU patients recruited (P4 killing index minus untreated killing index in each patient recovered neutrophil sample). 56% (14/23) patients showed an increase in killing when exposed to P4 peptide. Letter on the X axis correspond with the ID column in Table 16. Non responders and are highlighted in blue (O-W), responders are highlighted in orange (A-N). The cut-off for a response was set at a difference in killing index of 5 or more.

Patients were divided into responders and non responders using the cut off of an increase in killing index of 5% or more. Non responders had a mean baseline phagocytosis (OPK killing index with carrier control) of 30% this remained fairly static with P4 treatment killing index at 27%. The mean baseline phagocytosis for responders was 14%, with P4 treatment this increased significantly to 34% (p<0.0001 paired t test) (Figure 58). The difference between the baseline phagocytosis for responders and non responders was approaching significance (p=0.08, Mann Whitney). Figure 59 shows the killing index before and after P4 treatment for each individual patient.



Figure 58 Killing index for peripheral blood neutrophils treated with P4 peptide and untreated neutrophils

Killing index of untreated and P4 treated peripheral blood neutrophils. Patients are divided into responders in orange (increase in killing index of 5 or more with P4 treatment, n=13) and non responders in blue (increase in killing index of less than 5, n=10). Responders showed a significant increase in killing index with P4 treatment (p<0.0001, paired t test). P4 treated groups are indicated by crosshatching on bars.



Figure 59 Killing index for peripheral blood and untreated neutrophils for individual patients neutrophils treated with P4 peptide

Killing index of untreated and P4 treated peripheral blood neutrophils. Patients are divided into responders in orange (increase in killing index of 5 or more with P4 treatment, n=13) and non responders in blue (increase in killing index of less than 5, n=10). When all 23 patients are taken into account treatment with P4 peptide resulted in a significant increase in killing index (p=0.004), Wilcoxon signed rank test.

4. Patient Characteristics – Clinical Parameters

The APACHE II and SOFA scores for patients and the predicted mortality associated with scores. Both the APACHE II and SOFA score are measures used in ICUs to assess disease severity. The APACHE II score is calculated at the time of admission (or within 24 hours) and is based on 12 physiological parameters as well as patient age. Based on the APACHE II score there was no significant difference in the disease severity for the two groups at admission (Figure 60, top panel).

The SOFA score is calculated sequentially to monitor organ failure and is based on 6 scores assessing function in the respiratory, cardiovascular, hepatic, coagulation, renal and neurological systems. The non responder group showed a trend towards higher SOFA scores than responders which was approaching significance (p=0.06, t-test) (Figure 60, bottom panel).



Figure 60 APACHE II and time of sampling SOFA scores

APACHE II and SOFA scores for CAP patients recruited to study (n=14 responders - orange circles, n=9 non responders - blue squares). Patients are divided into responders and non responders depending on the response of their peripheral blood neutrophils to P4 peptide in the OPK. Top: The acute physiology and chronic health evaluation II score (APACHE II) was calculated within 24 hours of admission to ICU. There was no significant difference in APACHE II score between groups (t-test). Bottom: The sequential organ failure assessment was calculated at the time of sampling. Non-responders had a higher SOFA score than responders (mean responders =5, mean non responders = 8) these values were approaching significance (p=0.06, t-test).
The time from patient admission to sample collection was kept to a minimum but due to logistical reasons (such as admission at night or delays in acquiring consent) it was not always possible to acquire samples promptly. Sampling times ranged from 13 to 110 hours (mean 52 hours). The sampling time did not correlate with the patient SOFA score in our cohort (Figure 61, Top). The level of response to P4 peptide treatment also did not show a relationship with the time from sampling (Figure 61, Bottom).



Figure 61 Effect of sampling time

Effect of sampling time. Top: Patient SOFA score vs. time of sampling post admission – there was no relationship observed between the patient SOFA score and the time from admission to sampling in this cohort. Bottom: Difference in killing index vs. time of sampling post admission – there was no relationship observed between the difference in killing index and the time from admission to sampling in this cohort.

5. Patient Characteristics – Neutrophils

White blood cell (WBC) and neutrophil counts were performed by the hospital haematology service. When divided into responders and non-responders (Figure 62) there was no difference between the two groups in neutrophil or WBC count (p=0.1 and p=0.1 respectively).

It was shown however that there was a weak (R squared value = 0.3) yet statistically significant (p=0.001) correlation between neutrophil count and the fold increase in killing with P4 peptide treatment in the OPK (Figure 63).

It was noted that the patients with the highest neutrophil counts tended to have some of the lowest baseline phagocytosis values, although not statistically significant in this study (p=0.057).





Neutrophil counts were provided for each patient by the hospital haematology laboratory. Top: Neutrophil count, bottom: white blood cell count (WBC) plotted as median and IQR. There was no statistical difference in neutrophil count between responders and non responders: neutrophil *p*=0.1, WBC *p*=0.1 Mann Whitney test. Patients marked in red had a neutrophil count below the detectable level for the automated counter – these patients have been recorded as having a neutrophil count of 1×10^9 /L for statistical purposes.



Neutrophil Count (10⁹/L)

Figure 63 Neutrophil count vs fold increase in killing index

Neutrophil count plotted against fold increase in neutrophil killing. Dotted red line indicates a fold increase of 1, pink band indicates the normal/health range for neutrophil count. R squared value = 0.3, p=0.0019. Patients marked in red had a neutrophil count below the detectable level for the automated counter - these patients have been recorded as having a neutrophil count of 1x10⁹/L for statistical purposes.

6. Patient Characteristics - Cytokines

Serum cytokine levels for each patient were measured by ELISA. The detection threshold for the ELISA kits used was 2 pg/ml, where patients had cytokine levels lower than the threshold of detection they were recorded as 1 pg/ml for statistical purposes. Patients were divided into responders and non responders for the analysis of serum cytokines.

Responders had lower levels of IL-8 (median 11 pg/ml vs 88 pg/ml) and IL-10 (median 1 pg/ml vs 8.62 pg/ml) than non responders (p=0.03 and p=0.01 respectively, Mann Whitney) (Figure 64).



Figure 64. Patient serum cytokines – IL-8 and IL-10

Serum cytokine levels for each of the 23 ICU patients recruited divided in respoders (orange circle) and non-responders (blue squares). * = p<0.05 Mann Whitney test. Top- Serum IL-8 levels for individual patients, 5/23 patients had IL-8 levels below the detectable level (2 pg/ml) and were recorded as 1 pg/ml for statistical purposes. Median IL-8 level for responders was 11 pg/ml vs 88 pg/ml for non-responders (p=0.03, Mann Whitney test). Bottom- Serum IL-10 levels for individual patients, 13/23 patients had IL-10 levels below the dtectable level (2 pg/ml) and were recorded as 1 pg/ml for statistical purposes. Median IL-10 levels for individual patients, 13/23 patients had IL-10 levels below the dtectable level (2 pg/ml) and were recorded as 1 pg/ml for statistical purposes. Median IL-10 level for responders was 1 pg/ml (11/14 < 2 pg/ml) vs 8.62 pg/ml for non-responders (p=0.01, Mann Whitney test).





Serum cytokine levels for each of the 23 ICU patients recruited divided in respoders (orange circle) and non-responders (blue squares). Top: Serum IL-6 levels for individual patients – there was no statistical difference between patient levels for responders vs non responders (median 92 vs 108 pg/ml, p=0.8, Mann Whitney test). Bottom: Serum INF- γ levels for individual patients – there was no statistical difference between patient levels for a difference between patient levels for responders vs non responders (median 9.2 vs 10.8, Mann Whitney test). Bottom: Serum INF- γ levels for individual patients – there was no statistical difference between patient levels for responders vs non responders (median 1.0 vs 70 pg/ml, p=0.7, Mann Whitney test).

Figure 66 shows there was a weak yet significant negative correlation between serum IL-8 level and neutrophil count (R squared value = 0.2, p=0.02). IL-8 was also observed to have a positive relationship with the baseline level of phagocytosis, the higher the IL-8 the higher the baseline killing, although not significant for the cohort as whole (p=0.05) this relationship was significant when only the non responders were taken into account (R squared value =0.4, p=0.04).



Figure 66 Patient neutrophil count vs. serum IL-8 Neutrophil count for each patient was plotted against their serum IL-8 level. R squared value = 0.2, p=0.02. Patients marked in red had a neutrophil count below the detectable level for the automated counter – these patients have been recorded as having a neutrophil count of 1x10⁹/L for statistical purposes – both were non responders. 7/23 patients had IL-8 levels below the detectable level (2 pg/ml) and were recorded as 1 pg/ml for statistical purposes.

7. FcyR Expression

The expression of CD64, CD32 and CD16 (FcγR I, II and III) on peripheral blood neutrophils was measured before as a baseline measurement and after a 45 minute stimulation with P4 peptide. There was no difference in baseline level of expression between responder and non responder group for any of the three receptors (Figure 67).

CD32 expression on peripheral blood neutrophils of responders was shown to decrease by 46% from its baseline value when incubated with P4 peptide (p<0.01, Dunn's multiple comparison following Friedmans test), there was no significant change in CD32 expression in the non responder group (Figure 68).

There was also no difference in observed in CD64 or CD16 after incubation with P4 peptide (Figure 69).



Figure 67 Fc gamma receptor expression - CD64 (Fc γ RI), CD32 (Fc γ RIIA/B)and CD16 (Fc γ RIII)

Fc gamma receptor expression on neutrophils from patients (n=9 responders, n=7 non responders, n=7 patients lacked sufficient neutrophil numbers for testing or the sample was received too late for testing) using flow cytometry. There was no significant difference between the two groups in the expression level of CD64 p=0.4, CD32 p=0.6 or CD16 p=0.4, - Mann Whitney test.



Figure 68 Effect of P4 on expression of CD32 on peripheral blood neutrophils Peripheral blood neutrophils were isolated from CAP patients before incubating for 45 minutes in the presence of the P4 peptide. Cells were washed, stained with anti-CD32 (Fc γ RIIA/B) antibodies and expression levels determined by flow cytometry. Patients are divided into responders (orange, n=8) and non responders (blue, n=7). The responders showed a statistically significant drop from their baseline CD32 expression after P4 treatment (responders *p* =0.03, non responders *p*=0.1, Friedman test, **= *p*<0.01 Dunn's Multiple Comparison test). The responders saw a mean drop from baseline of 46%. Untreated neutrophils showed a drop from baseline of 27%.



Figure 69 Effect of P4 on expression of CD64 (FcyRI) and CD16 (FcyRIII) on peripheral blood neutrophils

Peripheral blood neutrophils were isolated from CAP patients before incubating for 45 minutes in the presence of the P4 peptide. Cells were washed, stained with anti-CD64 and CD16 antibodies and expression levels determined by flow cytometry. Patients are divided into responders (orange, n=8) and non responders (blue, n=7). There was no significant difference in expression after treatment.

8. Complement receptor expression

No difference was observed in the expression of CD35 (CR1) or CD11b (CR3) between groups at baseline or after incubation with P4 peptide (Figure 70 and Figure 71).



Figure 70 Complement receptor expression – CD35 and CD11b (CR1 and CR3)

Complement receptor expression on neutrophils from patients (n=9 responders, n=7 non responders, n=7 patients lacked sufficient neutrophil numbers for testing or the sample was received too late for testing) using flow cytometry. There was no significant difference between the two groups in the expression level of CD35 p=0.4 or CD11b p=0.1 Mann Whitney test.



Figure 71 Effect of P4 on expression of CD35 and CD11b on peripheral blood neutrophils

Peripheral blood neutrophils were isolated from CAP patients before incubating for 45 minutes in the presence of the P4 peptide. Cells were washed, stained with anti-CD35 (CR1) and CD11b (CR3) antibodies and expression levels determined by flow cytometry. Patients are divided into responders (orange, n=8) and non responders (blue, n=7). There was no significant difference in expression after treatment.

CD66b is a marker of neutrophil activation, Figure 72 shows no difference was observed in the expression of CD66b between groups at baseline or after stimulation with P4 peptide as shown in Figure 73. Although it is of note that the non responder with the highest MFI (over 30,000) was the patient that had reduced killing in response to the P4 peptide which could suggest that there is of neutrophil activation after which P4 may have a negative effect on killing.



Figure 72 CD66b (CEACAM8) expression

CD66b (CEACAM8) expression on neutrophils from patients (n=9 responders, n=7 non responders, n=7 patients lacked sufficient neutrophil numbers for testing or the sample was received too late for testing) using flow cytometry. There was no significant difference between the two groups in the expression level p=0.6 Mann Whitney test.



Figure 73 Effect of P4 on expression of CD66b on peripheral blood neutrophils Peripheral blood neutrophils were isolated from CAP patients before incubating for 45 minutes in the presence of the P4 peptide. Cells were washed, stained with anti-CD66b antibodies and expression levels determined by flow cytometry. Patients are divided into responders (orange, n=8) and non responders (blue, n=7). There was no significant difference in expression after treatment.

9. IL-8R expression

Expression of the IL-8R on neutrophils isolated from the CAP patients was measured at baseline and after 45 minutes of stimulation with the P4 peptide. No difference was observed between responders and non responders in their baseline levels of IL-8R expression (Figure 77).

After 45 minutes of treatment of with P4 peptide both groups saw a significant decline in the expression of the IL-8R on the cell surface. Responders saw a drop of 53% whilst non responders saw a drop of 33% (p<0.001 and p<0.01 respectively) (Figure 74).



Figure 74 IL-8 receptor (CXCR1) expression

IL-8 receptor (CXCR1) expression on neutrophils from patients (n=9 responders, n=7 non responders, n=7 patients lacked sufficient neutrophil numbers for testing or the sample was received too late for testing) using flow cytometry. There was no significant difference between the two groups in the expression level. Mann Whitney test p=0.7.



Figure 75 Effect of P4 peptide on IL-8R expression on peripheral blood neutrophils

Peripheral blood neutrophils were isolated from CAP patients before incubating for 45 minutes in the presence of the P4 peptide. Cells were washed, stained with anti-IL-8R α (CD181/CXCR1) antibodies and expression levels determined by flow cytometry. Patients are divided into responders (orange, n=8) and non responders (blue, n=7). Both the responders and non responders showed a statistically significant drop from their baseline IL-8R expression after P4 treatment (responders p < 0.0001, non responders p < 0.001, Friedman test, ***= p < 0.001, **= p < 0.01 Dunn's Multiple Comparison test).

10. CD88 Expression

Expression of the CD88 on neutrophils isolated from the CAP patients was measured at baseline and after 45 minutes of stimulation with the P4 peptide. No difference was observed between responders and non responders in their baseline levels of CD88 expression (Figure 76). After 45 minutes of treatment of with P4 peptide both groups saw a significant decline in the expression of the CD88 on the cell surface. Responders saw a drop of 36% whilst non responders saw a drop of 10% (p<0.01 and p<0.05 respectively) (Figure 77).



Figure 76 CD88 expression

CD88 expression neutrophils from patients (n=9 responders, n=7 non responders, n=7 patients lacked sufficient neutrophil numbers for testing or the sample was received too late for testing) using flow cytometry. There was no significant difference between the two groups in the expression level.



Figure 77 Effect of P4 peptide on CD88 expression on peripheral blood neutrophils

Peripheral blood neutrophils were isolated from CAP patients before incubating for 45 minutes in the presence of the P4 peptide. Cells were washed, stained with anti-CD88 antibodies and expression levels determined by flow cytometry. Patients are divided into responders (orange, n=8) and non responders (blue, n=7). Both the responders and non responders showed a statistically significant drop from their baseline CD88 expression after P4 treatment (responders *p* <0.00, non responders *p*<0.01, Friedman test, **= *p*<0.01, *= *p*<0.05 Dunn's Multiple Comparison test). The responders saw a mean drop from baseline of 36% whilst the non responders saw a drop of 10%. Untreated neutrophils showed a drop from baseline of 20% and an increase of 9% for responders and non responders respectively.

11. Alveolar Macrophages

Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) samples were collected from 3/23 patients in the study. Low sample numbers were due to the patients only receiving a research lavage if they needed one clinically. This meant lavages were often missed due to them being performed at short notice or overnight.

Of the three BAL samples collected OPKs were performed successfully on two. The first sample received the bacterial dose (500 CFUs per well) was too low to show a difference between groups as the macrophages were very active, subsequent assays were performed with a ten fold higher dose.

Figure 78 shows the results of these two OPKs. One patient showed an increase in killing index with P4 treatment from 72% to 93%. This patient was designated the letter S in the neutrophil studies and was a non responder. The other patient, who was designated G in the neutrophils and was a responder failed to show an improvement in killing in the alveolar macrophage OPK with a killing index of 86% at baseline and 89% with P4 treatment.



Figure 78 Alveolar macrophage OPK from CAP patients OPK using alveolar macrophages isolated from patient BAL samples. Patient S is indicated in red and patient G in black.

D. Summary of results

Neutrophils and alveolar macrophages from healthy controls showed increased phagocytosis after treatment with P4 *ex vivo* in line with what as been demonstrated in previous studies (162).

Treatment of patient peripheral blood neutrophils with P4 peptide increases pneumococcal killing in 60% of the severe community-acquired pneumonia patients recruited to our study (p=0.002). A differential effect was observed with some patient neutrophils (40%) not showing a response to P4 peptide treatment in the OPK assay. However, the study was not sufficiently powered enough to fully decipher the reasons for these differences but there was a trend towards both a higher level of infection severity in non-responders (SOFA score p=0.0687) and a higher baseline level of opsonophagocytosis (p=0.0832) reducing the augmentative effect of P4.

There was a weak yet significant correlation between total blood neutrophil count and the difference in pneumococcal killing with P4 treatment (R squared value = 0.3, p=0.0019). Patients' serum cytokine data also showed a significantly higher level of both IL-8 and IL-10 in the serum of non responders (p=0.03 and 0.01 respectively) indicative of both neutrophil recruitment and anti-inflammatory effects.

Cell surface marker data showed no significant difference in the baseline levels of any of the surface receptors measured. When cell surface markers were measured after treatment with P4 there was a statistically significant decrease from baseline levels in CD88 and IL-8R in both P4 peptide responder and non responder groups. CD32 also dropped in expression level with P4 treatment but only in the responder group, non responders maintained baseline values.

E. Discussion

This is the first study to look at the *ex vivo* effects of the P4 peptide on human peripheral blood neutrophils during infection. The OPK assay was used as our end point for assessing efficacy of the peptide in our patient cohort.

1. OPK

A significant increase in pneumococcal killing index was seen for 60% of the patients studied. This is an encouraging result suggesting that P4 treatment could potentially be of benefit to patients suffering from severe CAP and sepsis.

An important factor that must be taken into consideration however is that the OPK assay, being an *ex vivo* assay, may not give the whole picture as to which patients may or may not benefit from P4 treatment. The OPK assay doesn't give a realistic representation of the conditions with the patients as the neutrophil numbers are adjusted to a standard number and the various cytokines, chemokines and other plasma components which could influence neutrophil function are removed. A whole blood phagocytosis assay may reveal differences between patients which aren't seen in the neutrophil OKP used in this study. Another shortfall of this assay is that the protocol used for isolation of neutrophil precludes the isolation of the most immature neutrophils as their low density results in them being deposited in the PBMC fraction after density centrifugation (201). These immature neutrophils have decreased function compared with mature neutrophils and are thought to be

more pro-inflammatory, hence would be an important population to study (202).

2. Receptor expression

a) CD88 and IL-8R

This study looked at cell surface markers on neutrophils isolated from CAP patients and showed decreases in cell surface expression for both CD88 and IL-8R: two receptors important to neutrophil activation and chemotaxis, these changes occurred in both the responder and non responder group (203-205). Due to the short period of P4 stimulation (45 mins) that induced these reductions in receptor expression the most likely explanations are that the receptors were either internalised or cleaved from the cell surface. This could be confirmed by measuring levels of the receptor in the cell culture supernatant or with confocal imaging with fluorescently labelled receptors to capture receptor internalisation. Release of neutrophil elastase (NE) is mediated in part by the binding of C5a to CD88 and results in the cleavage of CD88 from other cells (127). It would be interesting to see if NE had been released into the supernatant in the presence of P4 and whether or not this is affected by the presence of FBS (as a potential source of C5a).

This augmentation of receptor expression helps support the idea of the peptide having effects beyond just enhancing phagocytosis, such as augmenting timing and number of neutrophil infiltrating infection sites with P4 treatment as shown in mouse models of pneumococcal infection treated with P4 (167).

b) FcyR expression

An interesting finding from this study was the effect of P4 on the expression of CD32 (FcγRII) on patient neutrophils, as one would not expect a decline in CD32 to result in increased phagocytosis . CD32B, one of the two isotypes of the CD32 molecules that has an inhibitory function, but it is not normally thought to be expressed by neutrophils though it can be induced under certain conditions (206). The ratio of CD32A:CD32B mRNA has been shown to be important in setting the threshold of activation in neutrophils (207). The antibodies used to detect CD32 in our study cannot distinguish between CD32A and CD32B so it is not possible to say if only one or both of these receptors is being affected by P4 treatment but is definitely a line of research worth pursuing in future studies.

Expression levels of CD64 (FcγRI) and CD16 (FcγRIII) were not significantly different between responders and non responders, nor were any changes in expression observed after stimulation with P4 peptide. As CD64 has very low levels of expression in resting neutrophils it not be possible of P4 to induce further expression in CAP patients as it is already optimally expressed (177). Differences in the level of CD16 between patients may not have been evident because of the inability of the neutrophil separation method used to isolate the immature neutrophils which would have had lower levels of CD16 expression (202).

3. Inflammatory Markers

Another finding, which could be significant when selecting patients who would benefit from P4 therapy, is the relationship between serum IL-8 and IL-

10 levels and response to treatment. Patients with high levels of IL-8 and IL-10 were more likely to be non responders. This could be due to IL-8 priming neutrophils for phagocytosis and would in turn explain the higher baseline level of phagocytosis in non responders (208). Alternatively IL-10 has been shown to induce a refractory period in neutrophils during which activation in response to bacterial stimuli is blocked after an initial exposure to the stimuli in the presence of IL-10, which could explain why the non responders failed to show a improvement in phagocytosis with P4 peptide treatment (209). The interplay between IL-8, IL-10 and P4 treatment is worth investigating further to examine whether these cytokines are having an effect on the ability of P4 to increase phagocytic activity.

4. Effect of time

If P4 therapy went through to clinical trials, its use is envisage as it being administered in a similar time frame to initial antibiotic treatment in sepsis i.e. within the first hours of sepsis being suspected. In this study samples were received from 13 to 110 hours after admission. No effect of time was observed in either the patient response to the drug or in severity of disease in patients.

5. Alveolar macrophages

The results of the alveolar macrophage OPK have too small a sample size to draw any definitive conclusions as to whether P4 can improve phagocytosis by macrophages in the lungs of CAP patients but they do highlight that it is possible that patients who don't show a response to P4 in their blood neutrophils could still benefit from P4 administration directly into the lungs.

6. Summary

In summary this study has shown that treatment with P4 may have benefits for patients with severe CAP but as improvements in phagocytosis were not seen in all patients it would be important to investigate further what factors determine whether or not the neutrophils respond to treatment; patient plasma IL-8 and IL-10 levels may be worth investigating further which patients would benefit from P4. This study also showed that treatment with P4 did alter expression of CD32, CD88 and the IL-8R – it would be essential to investigate further what the effect of alter the cell surface expression of these receptors has during infection.

Chapter V. Mechanism of P4

action

A. Introduction

The working theory on the mechanism of P4 action is that it increases the levels of $Fc\gamma R$ expression on phagocytic cells, which in turn leads to an increase in phagocytosis (167). This chapter looks at the effect of P4 on naïve mice *in vivo* and *ex vivo*.

1. P4 treatment of naïve mice in vivo

Mice were treat with P4 for 24 hours before being culled and their neutrophils analysed by flow cytometry to look at the effects of P4 on expression of CD88, CD35/21 (CR1/2) and IL-8R.

2. P4 treatment of naïve mouse neutrophils ex vivo

Neutrophils isolated from naïve mouse bone marrow were treated with P4 in OPKs. Expression of CD64 and CD32/16 was measured after P4 treatment.

B. Method and Materials

1. P4 treatment of naïve mice *in vivo*

Female CD-1 mice aged 6-8 weeks were treatment with P4 peptide and then culled after 24 hours and blood collected for flow cytometry analysis.

P4 peptide, dissolved in DEPC treated water, was administered via a 50 μ l intravenous injection into the tail vein at a concentration final concentration per mouse of 1 μ g, 10 μ g and 100 μ g. Control animals received an injection of equivalent volume of sterile PBS.

2. P4 treatment of naïve mice ex vivo

a) Tissue collection and neutrophil isolation

Naïve mice were culled by cervical dislocation after which the femurs and tibias were collected and washed in 70% ethanol. The epiphyses were removed and the bone marrow flushed out of with a needle and syringe containing RPMI 1640 supplemented with 2 mM EDTA and 10% FBS.

Cells were pelleted by centrifuging at 400 g, the supernatant removed and red blood cells lysed in 0.2% saline. Cells were pelleted again by centrifuging at 400 g, the supernatant removed and cells resuspended in 2 ml of RPMI 1640 supplemented with 2% EDTA and 10% FBS.

Histopaque 1119 and histopaque 1077 were layered over one another (histopaque 1077 on top), 2 ml of each, in a 15 ml centrifuge tube. The cell suspension was then layered on top of the histopaque and the tubes centrifuged at 800 g for 30 mins with no brake. The PBMC fraction was

discarded and the neutrophil fraction collected. Neutrophils were counted with a haemocytometer and viability assessed via trypan blue exclusion.

b) OPK and P4 treatment

OPKs were performed as described in section IV.B.11. Neutrophils were resuspended in RPMI to give a concentration of 1.7×10^6 cells/ml. Neutrophils were seeded into 96 well plates, 180 µl per well. Wells were treated with either: P4 20 µl of 3 mg/ml dissolved in DEPC treated water or with DEPC treated water. Cells were incubated for 1 hour at 37 °C, 5% CO₂.

c) Receptor Expression

Cells for receptor expression analysis were treated with P4 and DEPC treated water. The antibodies detailed in Table 17 with corresponding isotype controls were used for flow cytometry analysis of mouse tissue and leukocytes. Antibodies were used at a dilution of 1:250. Staining procedure is detailed in section II.B.4.b. Sample acquisition was performed on the FACS Calibur (BD Biosciences, USA) and analysis was performed with FlowJo 8.7 (Tree Star, USA).

Biolegend Product Code	Description
101325	APC anti-mouse CD16/32
139303	PE anti-mouse CD64 (FcγRI)
123417	APC/Cy7 anti-mouse CD21/CD35 (CR2/CR1)
149307	PerCP/Cy5.5 anti-mouse CD182 (CXCR2)
108405	FITC anti-mouse Ly-6G/Ly-6C (Gr-1)

Table 17 Mouse flow o	ytometry antibodies
-----------------------	---------------------
C. Results

1. P4 treatment of naïve mice in vivo

Previous studies have shown the significant increases in the expression of FcγRs in naïve mice treated with P4 but no studies have looked at other receptors (167). CD88, CD35/21 (CR1/2) and CD182 (CXCR2) were chosen because of the evidence that complement may be an important factor in P4 function; OPK assays without complement present fail to show an improvement in phagocytosis with P4 treatment (162). CD182 (CXCR2) was chosen because of the differences observed in the human *ex vivo* CAP study in IL-8R expression with P4 treatment.

Figure 79 shows the expression of CD88 on neutrophils form mice treated *in vivo* for 24 hours with P4 peptide. The figure shows a dose dependent increase in CD88 expression with the highest expression found with 100 μ g of P4 per mouse. The difference in expression was significantly different for control vs. 100 μ g of P4 (*p*=0.005).

Figure 80 shows the expression of CD35/21 on neutrophils form mice treated *in vivo* for 24 hours with P4 peptide. Levels of CD35/21 expression with P4 treatment saw a 2 fold increase at a P4 concentration of 1 μ g and a modest increase with 100 μ g, these values were approaching significance (*p*=0.05).

Figure 81 shows significantly higher expression of CD182 with 1 μ g treatment with P4. Increases were not observed with 10 or 100 μ g treatments.



Figure 79 Effect of P4 on expression of CD88 on neutrophils of naïve mice Mice n=3-5 per group with injected intravenously with 50 µl of either P4 or PBS. Mice were culled 24 hours after treatment and blood was collected, red blood cells were lysed and cells stained with anti-Gr-1, CD11b and CD88 antibodies for subsequent analysis by flow cytometry. Neutrophils were identified as GR-1+, CD11b+ cells. Plotted as mean and SEM, analysed by one-way ANOVA p=0.0074, **p<0.005



Figure 80 Effect of P4 on expression of CD35/21 (CR1/2) on neutrophils of naïve mice

Mice n=3-5 per group with injected intravenously with 50 μ l of either P4 or PBS. Mice were culled 24 hours after treatment and blood was collected, red blood cells were lysed and cells stained with anti-Gr-1, CD11b and CD35/21 antibodies for subsequent analysis by flow cytometry. Neutrophils were identified as GR-1+, CD11b+ cells. Plotted as mean and SEM, analysed by one-way ANOVA *p*=0.05



naïve mice

Mice n=3-5 per group with injected intravenously with 50 µl of either P4 or PBS. Mice were culled 24 hours after treatment and blood was collected, red blood cells were lysed and cells stained with anti-Gr-1, CD11b and CD182 antibodies for subsequent analysis by flow cytometry. Neutrophils were identified as GR-1+, CD11b+ cells. Plotted as mean and SEM, analysed by one-way ANOVA *p*=0.03, **p*<0.05

2. P4 treatment of bone marrow neutrophils form naïve mice *ex vivo*

As neutrophils are released in high numbers from the bone marrow during infection it was important to establish whether these neutrophils respond to P4 treatment. Figure 82 shows the difference in killing index with P4 treat of neutrophils isolated from the bone marrow of naïve mice. The neutrophils showed a significant increase in killing with P4 treatment (p=0.007). It was not possible to compare killing between blood and bone marrow neutrophils because the yields from neutrophils isolation from mouse blood is too low to per an OPK assay with.



Figure 82 Difference in killing index with P4 treatment - naïve bone marrow neutrophils

Killing index of naïve bone marrow neutrophils in OPK assay with and without P4 treatment. The neutrophils from the bone marrow of 7 mice were isolated and individual OPKs performed for each mouse. Analysed by paired t-test p=0.0075.

Figure 83 and Figure 84 show the effect of P4 treatment on expression of CD64 (Fc γ RI) and Cd32/16 (Fc γ RII/III) on neutrophils isolated from the bone marrow of naïve mice. Significant increases in CD64 were seen with P4 treatment (*p*=0.03), a 2 fold increase in expression was observed. Increases in the expression of CD32/16 were only seen in 3/6 mice with P4 treatment (*p*=0.4). Why the neutrophils from some mice appeared to have a response to P4 with regards to CD32/16 expression whilst others did not is unclear.



Figure 83 Effect of P4 treatment on expression of CD64 (FcγRI) on naïve bone marrow neutrophils

The bone marrow from 6 mice was collected and neutrophils isolated, neutrophils were treated with P4 or DEPC treated water for 1 hour before cells were stained with CD64 antibodies for subsequent analysis by flow cytometry. Analysed by paired t-test p=0.03.



Figure 84 Effect of P4 treatment on expression of CD32/16 (FcyRII/III) on naïve bone marrow neutrophils

The bone marrow from 6 mice was collected and neutrophils isolated, neutrophils were treated with P4 or DEPC treated water for 1 hour before cells were stained with CD32/16 antibodies for subsequent analysis by flow cytometry. Analysed by paired t-test p=0.4

D. Results summary

1. P4 treatment of naïve mice *in vivo*

Treat of naïve mice *in vivo* with P4 resulted in significant increases expression of CD88 in a dose dependent manner. Increases in CD182 (CXCR2) and CD35/21 (CR1/2) were also observed but unlike CD88 the highest expression was observed with 1 μ g treatment and no dose dependent relationship was seen.

2. P4 treatment of bone marrow neutrophils form naïve mice *ex vivo*

OPKs with bone marrow neutrophils from naïve mice resulted in significant increases in killing index with P4 treatment.

Ex vivo treatment with P4 of bone marrow neutrophils from naïve mice resulted in significant increases in CD64 after 1 hour. Differences in CD32/16 expression were observed in some mice but not others and overall was not significant.

E. Discussion

1. P4 treatment of naïve mice in vivo

Increased expression of receptors in naïve mice, other the CD32/16, has not previously been shown (167). The ability of P4 to modulate the expression of other receptors is an important finding with regards the mechanism of P4 function. CD88 showed significant increases in expression after treatment with P4 and the fact that these changes in expression in detectable 24 hours after treatment with P4 peptide suggests that the effects of P4 on cells could be long lasting. It would be interesting to see how long the effects of P4 last in cells and how they change over time as this could effect the dosing schedules used in treatment. C5a is an extremely potent neutrophil chemoattractant so increased expression of the receptor could explain increases in neutrophils seen during infection with P4 treatment. Increases in CD182 could also contribute to increases in neutrophils. Binding of C5a to the CD88 has also been shown to play a role in regulation of CD16 expression, so chances is CD16 expression could also be a result of changes in the expression CD88 (115).

Significant increases in CD182 expression were also observed after P4 treat, however they did not display a dose dependent effect with the highest expression being in the group treated with 1 μ g of P4. CD32/16 expression showed increases close to significance (*p*=0.0515) with P4 treatment but like the results seen for CD182 expression, levels were highest with 1 μ g of P4. With this in mind, further studies should be performed looking at the dose dependent effects of P4 on receptor expression.

2. P4 treatment of bone marrow neutrophils form naïve mice ex vivo

The ability of neutrophils isolated from the bone marrow of naïve mice to respond to P4 in the OPK, which resulted in a significant increase in killing index with P4 treatment, is important as during infection large numbers of immature neutrophils are released from the bone marrow and in sepsis have been show to have reduced function compared with mature neutrophils normally found in circulation (202). This result should be followed up with studies of the effect of P4 peptide on neutrophil function during infection.

The neutrophils showed significant increases in expression of CD64 with P4 treatment. Baseline levels were very low in untreated cells, which helps support the theory that CD64 is not increased with P4 treatment during infection because it is already optimally expressed.

Expression of CD32/16 was not significantly increased in all mice treated with P4, the mice with the lowest levels of CD32/16 without treatment with P4 failed to show increases in expression whilst those with higher expression levels did show an increase. As an increase in expression this rapid is likely to be due to transport of intracellular stores of receptors to the cell surface it would be interesting to see if this mice had differed in the levels of stored receptors with the cell and hence were not capable of increasing their surface expression.

Chapter VI. Discussion

and Future work

A. Discussion

1. Animal models

The two animal models utilised in this study yielded very different results, which are briefly summarised in Table 18. The *E. coli* infection model was far more severe than the *K. pneumoniae* infection model, with control animals progressing to their humane endpoint within eight to ten hours of infection whilst controls in the *K. pneumoniae* model started showing signs of severe infection from 36 hours onwards and the mean survival time for controls was 78 hours.

The inflammatory response observed in the *E.coli* model was also markedly higher than in the *K. pneumoniae* model with CXCL1 levels in plasma almost 300 fold higher and C5a levels 100 fold higher in *E. coli* infected mice. This excessive inflammatory response probably led to the very rapid decline in host survival in the *E. coli* infection model and therefore to see a protective effect of P4 treatment on mouse survival time would have needed some form of physiological support (such as fluid resuscitation, vasopressors and inotropic drugs), which is difficult to implement in animal models. Given the very rapid progression of infection it is likely that the high levels of inflammation was driven by high levels of LPS in *E. coli* infected mice. The infectious dose in the *E. coli* model was 100 fold higher than in the *K. pneumoniae* so it is possible that the initial inoculum contained substantial amounts of free LPS. In pilot experiments to set the dose for the *E. coli* model mice cleared the infection with doses of 10^6 CFUs/mouse and less. In future studies it would be interesting to establish whether there is a high

concentration of LPS in the dose and if removal of this could improve survival in the model.

The relatively slow progression of the *K. pneumoniae* infection allowed a larger window within which treatment could be administered i.e. treatment could be given before there was widespread inflammation in the model which could possibly counter the effects of P4 treatment.

Another difference between the two models which may explain disparities in the results in the relation to Tazocin + IVIG treatment is the site of infection in relation to site of administration of IVIG: in the E. coli model the infectious dose and the IVIG were both given via intraperitoneal injection whilst in the K. pneumoniae model the infectious dose was given via the intranasal route and the IVIG via intraperitoneal injection. With the IVIG being administered directly into the initial site of infection in E. coli, improvements were seen in survival time of Tazocin + IVIG treated mice when compared to treatment with Tazocin alone. This could be because by administering the IVIG in close proximity to the infection site it was better able to slow the dissemination of infection from the peritoneum into the blood. These differences in survival were not observed between Tazocin and Tazocin + IVIG treated mice in the K. pneumoniae model where IVIG would have had to cross into the blood before circulating into the lungs. Which leads to the question as to whether Tazocin + IVIG treatment in E. coli infected mice would have still given a survival advantage over Tazocin alone if it had been administered through an alternative route such as intravenously, as it would be in humans. It was not possible to test this theory in the mice, as intravenous injection of IVIG (as in human studies) is not well tolerated by the mice.

The *K. pneumoniae* infection model showed good efficacy of P4 treatment with P4-IVIG + Tazocin treatment resulting in 70% survival compared with 20% survival in Tazocin treated groups and 30% survival in Tazocin + IVIG treated groups. This increase in survival was likely due to the lower numbers of CFUs in mice treated with P4 compared to control. Increases in CD32/16 (FcγRII/III) expression in mice treated with P4 supports what has previously been published on the effects of P4 treatment on neutrophils and are likely to have resulted in in the lower numbers of CFUs (167).

Whether P4 treatment provides a benefit in *E. coli* infection is not as clear cut; survival times and CFUs recovered from tissue were not significantly different for both P4-IVIG + Tazocin and Tazocin + IVIG treated mice. Cytokines and neutrophil receptor expression also did not differ significantly with P4-IVIG + Tazocin compared to mice treated with just Tazocin. To better establish whether P4 treatment is beneficial in *E. coli* infection, a less severe model, that more closely replicates the human progression to sepsis and allows longer survival times, such as a cecal ligation and puncture model could be used (210).

	E. coli	K. pneumoniae
Infection Route	Intraperitoneal	Intranasal
Inoculum per mouse (CFUs)	10 ⁷	10 ⁵
Dosing schedule post infection	1 and 4 hours	24 and 30 hours
Mean survival time of PBS control	8 hours	78 hours
Survival percentage in P4-IVIG + Tazocin	55% at 24 hours	70% at 7 days
Time pointed cull	7 hours	36 hours
Plasma Cytokines – PBS control	Very High CXCL1 Very High C5a High IL-10	High CXCL1 High C5a No detectable IL-10
Plasma Cytokines – P4-IVIG + Tazocin	Very High CXCL1 Lower levels of C5a Intermediate IL-10	High CXCL1 High C5a No detectable IL-10
Neutrophil percentage	Elevated in Tazocin and P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice	Elevated P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice only
CD64 expression on neutrophils	No difference	No difference
CD32/16 expression on neutrophils	Elevated in Tazocin and P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice	Elevated in P4-IVIG + Tazocin only
CD88 expression on neutrophils	Elevated in Tazocin and P4-IVIG + Tazocin treated mice	No difference

Table 18 Comparison of *E. coli* and *K. pneumoniae* in vivo models

2. Ex vivo CAP study

The *ex vivo* study on the effects of P4 on neutrophils from patients with severe CAP showed that treatment with P4 significantly increased phagocytosis, with 60% of the patients in the study showed an increase in killing. The patient sample size of this study limited further conclusions such as which patients would benefit from P4 treatment, although the difference in SOFA scores between responders and non responders suggested that P4 efficacy declines as infection severity increases and hence the timing of treatment with P4 will likely have a major influence on treatment success. This relationship between infection severity and P4 efficacy was also demonstrated in the *E. coli* infection models, where it is likely that the rapid progression of the infection masked any benefits of P4 treatment.

The group of patients that did not respond to P4 treatment in the OPK had significantly higher levels of IL-8 and IL-10 in their plasma than those that did show a significant response. Further work to establish if and how IL-8 and IL-10 affect the ability of P4 to augment neutrophil function may help to advance understanding of P4's mechanism of action. High levels of IL-8 may mean that the neutrophils are already optimally primed to respond to infection whereas high levels of IL-10 are known to attenuate neutrophil responses to stimuli such as LPS and this function may not be able to be recovered with P4 treatment (208, 209, 211).

The results from the alveolar macrophage OPKs highlight that phagocytes from different sites (e.g. the lung and blood) may respond differently to P4

232

treatment, so for some patients administration of P4 directly into the lungs may be beneficial.

Changes to the expression of CD88 in both the animal models and the CAP patients and changes to IL-8R expression in the CAP patients suggest that there is more to the P4 mechanism than just increasing phagocytosis from augmentation of Fc γ Rs. The fact that these changes were observed in naïve mice treated with P4 and not just during infection supports the idea that P4 may be directly impacting on the expression of CD88 and IL-8Rs and that this is not just a by product of reduced infection severity. The implications of these changes in receptor expression on neutrophil responses to infection need further investigation.

3. Future Work

P4 has received funding through the MRC in the form of a Developmental Pathway Funding Scheme grant to further development of P4 as a therapeutic. As part of this grant P4 is currently undergoing toxicity testing (results due September 2016), which will hopefully lead to phase I and II clinical trials. With the possibility of P4 being administered to human subjects in mind, further work should be performed to better understand the mechanism of action of P4. The rapid nature of the up-regulation of Fc γ Rs by P4 in vitro supports the idea that the receptors are being released from intracellular stores but how this is triggered remains elusive (162).

Preliminary work utilising fluorescently labelled was performed to investigate the binding of P4 to cell surfaces and the possibility of the peptide being internalised within the cell (data in appendix). The experiments utilised flow cytometry and confocal microscopy to investigate the fate of P4 during cellpeptide interactions and showed that P4 binds to cell surfaces and suggested that around 13% of P4 that binds to cells is internalised. As part of this project PK/PD studies were also attempted, using HPLC to measure P4 levels in plasma, these were unsuccessful with no P4 being detected in mice 3 minutes (shortest time it was feasible to inject P4, anaesthetise mouse and collect blood) after injection. The fact that the peptide binds to cell surfaces and that some it is subsequently internalised may explain why PK/PD measurements were unsuccessful.

Whether internalisation of P4 is necessary for P4 function is unknown. To better understand P4 function it would be important to know if P4 is entering cells and if so through what mechanism. P4 has an isoelectric point of 9, which makes it a cationic peptide. Cationic peptides can enter cells through a receptor independent manner as shown in Figure 85.



Figure 85 Direct translocation of cationic peptide Examples of the proposed mechanisms for direct translocation. (A) Inverted micelle formation. (B) Pore-formation. (C) Adaptive translocation. From Bechara *et al.* 2013 (212)

Each of these models is dependent on the net positive charge of the peptide disrupting the normal functioning of the cell membrane (212). The confocal images of fluorescent P4 in macrophages however show the peptide in spherical bodies within the cell, which suggests that direct translocation of the peptide may not be the route through which P4 enters cells and that a form of endocytosis may be more likely and could be confirmed with assays utilising endocytosis inhibitors. The fact that these confocal images do not show entry of peptide into all cells should be investigated further to confirm that uptake is definitely occurring and whether internalisation of P4 is important to P4 function or if binding of P4 to the cell surface is sufficient for the peptide to take its effect.

The work performed so far with fluorescently labelled P4 (fP4) is preliminary and there are many more ways that fP4 could be utilised to answer questions about the mechanism of function of P4. One way it could be utilised is to investigate the fate of the peptide *in vivo*; using small animal imaging systems that can detect fluorescent compounds in live animals the peptide could be tracked within the mouse to answers questions such as do neutrophils treated with P4 show different patterns of migration within the mouse and how long these cells and the peptide itself persists.

As severe infections occur disproportionately in those under 5 years, the elderly and immune-compromised patients it is important that studies investigate the efficacy of P4 in these populations are performed. Aging is known to result in a reduction in neutrophil function whilst maintaining normal neutrophil numbers, so a treatment, which could possibly enhance neutrophil function, could be of great benefit to elderly patients (213).

235

Using P4 to treat fungal infections would also be of interest, severe fungal infections are increasing in prevalence and are an import cause of infection in ICUs (214). Given the difference in the way neutrophils process fungal hyphae compared with smaller pathogens it would be important to see if P4 had an effect of the interaction between neutrophils and fungi (93). Patients with fungal infections are also often immune-compromised; HIV infected patients, those receiving chemotherapy and recipient of solid organ transplants are at particular risk of fungal infection and antifungal drugs often have high host toxicity so alternative treatment options would be of great benefit to these patients (215, 216).

Appendix

A. Fluorescent P4 – Methods and Materials

Fluorescently labelled P4 peptide was purchased from Peptide Synthetics (UK). The peptide was synthesised with an additional lysine residue labelled with TAMRA added to the C-terminal.

1. Peptide binding

Mouse neutrophils were isolated from bone marrow and treated with fluorescently labelled P4 as described in Chapter V.B.2. Treated cells were centrifuged at 300 g to pellet cells, the supernatant was discarded and the cells incubated for 5 mins with either PBS or trypsin. Cells were pelleted gain, the supernatant discarded and resuspended in RPMI before analysing by flow cytometry.

2. Confocal imaging

Confocal studies used J774 macrophages as strongly adherent cells were needed, when attempted with neutrophils the cells were too loosely adhered to allow proper focusing of the microscope.

Macrophages were seeded into 35 mm glass bottom tissue culture dishes at a density of 10⁶ cells per dish. After allowing to adhere for 2 hours cells were treated with fluorescently labelled P4 for 20 minutes. Cells were washed with PBS 3 times before imaging with LMS 510 multiphoton microscope.

B. Results

1. Fluorescent P4 – flow cytometry

What happens to P4 once it comes into contact with cells has not previously been studied. The following experiments were designed to explore the fate of P4 after contact with cells. Cells were washed with trypsin to remove surface bound peptide from cell before flow cytometry to establish whether P4 is entering cells or remains bound to cell surfaces.

The top pane of Figure 86 shows fluorescence levels in neutrophils treated with fluorescently labelled P4, which have been washed in either PBS or trypsin. The bottom pane shows fluorescence levels in neutrophils treated with non fluorescent P4 and neutrophils treated with fluorescent P4 then washed in trypsin. Washing with trypsin led to a significant reduction in the fluorescence of neutrophils treated with fluorescent P4 (p=0.008). However the levels of fluorescence in trypsin treated neutrophils was still significantly higher than those treated with non fluorescent P4 (p=0.0313). Levels of fluorescence in trypsin washed cells were 13% of the levels of neutrophils washed in PBS. This suggests that some of the fluorescence could not be removed by the trypsin and perhaps had been internalised with the cells.



Figure 86 Binding of fluorescent P4 to naïve mouse bone marrow neutrophils The bone marrow from 6 mice was collected and neutrophils isolated, neutrophils were treated with fluorescent P4, normal P4 or DEPC treated water for 1 hour. Cells were then washed in either trypsin or PBS and the fluorescence of cells measured by flow cytometry. Top: Fluorescent P4 -PBS washed vs. trypsin washed. Bottom: Cells treated with non fluorescent P4 vs. fluorescent P4 washed in trypsin. Analysed by paired t-test top p=0.008 and bottom p=0.03

2. Fluorescent P4 – confocal imaging

Imaging of cells treated with fluorescent P4 was performed to further establish the fate of P4 when it comes into contact with cells.

Figure 87 shows images of J774 macrophages treated for 20 mins with fluorescently labelled P4. Distinct spherical areas of fluorescent P4 (red) can be seen with the cells.

Figure 88 shows sequential Z-stacks at a distance of 1 μ m between each image from A-D. The appearance of P4 (red) in sequential cuts through the cell suggests that the fluorescence is internalised within the cell.



Figure 87 Live confocal imaging of J774 macrophages treated with fluorescently labelled P4

J774 macrophages were treated with P4 peptide for 20 mins, the cells were then washed with PBS before being imaged. P4 is shown in red.



Figure 88 Live confocal imaging of J774 macrophages treated with fluorescently labelled P4 – Z stacks

Live confocal image of J774 macrophage treated for 20 mins with fluorescently labelled P4 (red). Images A-D show sequential Z-stacks 1 µm apart.

C. Discussion

Bone marrow neutrophils from naïve mice bound P4 peptide as evidenced by increases in fluorescence in cells treated with fluorescently P4, 87% of this fluorescence was removed by treatment with trypsin but levels of fluorescence were still significantly higher than in cells treated with non-fluorescent P4. This suggests the around 13% of the peptide may be internalised by the cells.

Images of J774 macrophages suggest that the P4 peptide is internalised by cells within 20 mins of treatment with P4 peptide. It is noted however that not all cells within frame showed uptake of P4 peptide.

References

1. Majno G. The Ancient Riddle of $\tilde{\sigma}$ ηψιζ (Sepsis). Journal of Infectious Diseases. 1991;163(5):937-45.

2. Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour C, et al. THe third international consensus definitions for sepsis and septic shock (sepsis-3). JAMA. 2016;315(8):801-10.

3. Daniels R. Surviving the first hours in sepsis: getting the basics right (an intensivist's perspective). Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 2011;66(suppl 2):ii11-ii23.

4. <u>http://www.hscic.gov.uk/</u>. Sepsis annual inpatient measure 2013-14 [cited 2016 June 16th]. Available from: <u>http://www.hscic.gov.uk/article/2021/Website-</u> <u>Search?q=sepsis+annual+inpatient+measure&go=Go&area=both</u>.

5. Jawad I, Lukšić I, Rafnsson SB. Assessing available information on the burden of sepsis: global estimates of incidence, prevalence and mortality. Journal of Global Health. 2012;2(1):010404.

6. Fleischmann C, ThomasñRueddel DO, Hartmann M, Hartog CS, Welte T, Heublein S, et al. Hospital Incidence and Mortality Rates of Sepsis: An Analysis of Hospital Episode (DRG) Statistics in Germany From 2007 to 2013. Dtsch Arztebl International. 2016;113(10):159-66.

7. Moss M. Epidemiology of Sepsis: Race, Sex, and Chronic Alcohol Abuse. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2005;41(Supplement 7):S490-S7.

8. Padkin A, Goldfrad C, Brady AR, Young D, Black N, Rowan K. Epidemiology of severe sepsis occurring in the first 24 hrs in intensive care units in England, Wales, and Northern Ireland. Crit Care Med. 2003;31(9):2332-8.

9. Tan SS, Bakker J, Hoogendoorn ME, Kapila A, Martin J, Pezzi A, et al. Direct Cost Analysis of Intensive Care Unit Stay in Four European Countries: Applying a Standardized Costing Methodology. Value in Health. 2012;15(1):81-6.

10. Tiru B, DiNino EK, Orenstein A, Mailloux PT, Pesaturo A, Gupta A, et al. The Economic and Humanistic Burden of Severe Sepsis. PharmacoEconomics. 2015;33(9):925-37.

11. Burchardi H, Schneider H. Economic Aspects of Severe Sepsis. PharmacoEconomics. 2004;22(12):793-813.

12. Rocheteau P, Chatre L, Briand D, Mebarki M, Jouvion G, Bardon J, et al. Sepsis induces long-term metabolic and mitochondrial muscle stem cell

dysfunction amenable by mesenchymal stem cell therapy. Nature Communications. 2015;6:10145.

13. Yende S, Iwashyna TJ, Angus DC. Interplay between sepsis and chronic health. Trends in molecular medicine. 2014;20(4):234-8.

14. Götz T, Günther A, Witte OW, Brunkhorst FM, Seidel G, Hamzei F. Long-term sequelae of severe sepsis: cognitive impairment and structural brain alterations – an MRI study (LossCog MRI). BMC Neurology. 2014;14:145-.

15. Jones TK, Fuchs BD, Small DS, Halpern SD, Hanish A, Umscheid CA, et al. Post–Acute Care Use and Hospital Readmission after Sepsis. Annals of the American Thoracic Society. 2015;12(6):904-13.

16. Martin GS. Sepsis, severe sepsis and septic shock: changes in incidence, pathogens and outcomes. Expert review of anti-infective therapy. 2012;10(6):701-6.

17. Martin GS, Mannino DM, Eaton S, Moss M. The Epidemiology of Sepsis in the United States from 1979 through 2000. New England Journal of Medicine. 2003;348(16):1546-54.

18. Allocati N, Masulli M, Alexeyev MF, Di Ilio C. Escherichia coli in Europe: An Overview. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2013;10(12):6235-54.

19. Foxman B. The epidemiology of urinary tract infection. Nat Rev Urol. 2010;7(12):653-60.

20. Kalra OP, Raizada A. Approach to a Patient with Urosepsis. Journal of Global Infectious Diseases. 2009;1(1):57-63.

21. Foxman B. Urinary tract infection syndromes: occurrence, recurrence, bacteriology, risk factors, and disease burden. Infectious disease clinics of North America. 2014;28(1):1-13.

22. Camacho-Gonzalez A, Spearman PW, Stoll BJ. Neonatal Infectious Diseases: Evaluation of Neonatal Sepsis. Pediatric clinics of North America. 2013;60(2):367-89.

23. WHO. MCEE-WHO methods and data sources

for child causes of death 2000-2015 2016 [cited 2016 June 20th]. Available from:

http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global_burden_disease/ChildCOD_method_20 00_2015.pdf?ua=1.

24. Belderbos ME, Levy O, Stalpers F, Kimpen JL, Meyaard L, Bont L. Neonatal Plasma Polarizes TLR4-Mediated Cytokine Responses towards Low IL-12p70 and High IL-10 Production via Distinct Factors. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(3):e33419.

25. Levy O. Innate immunity of the newborn: basic mechanisms and clinical correlates. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007;7(5):379-90.

26. Carr R. Neutrophil production and function in newborn infants. British journal of haematology. 2000;110(1):18-28.

27. van den Berg JP, Westerbeek EA, van der Klis FR, Berbers GA, van Elburg RM. Transplacental transport of IgG antibodies to preterm infants: a review of the literature. Early human development. 2011;87(2):67-72.

28. Hogasen AK, Overlie I, Hansen TW, Abrahamsen TG, Finne PH, Hogasen K. The analysis of the complement activation product SC5 b-9 is applicable in neonates in spite of their profound C9 deficiency. Journal of perinatal medicine. 2000;28(1):39-48.

29. Kaper JB, Nataro JP, Mobley HL. Pathogenic Escherichia coli. Nature reviews Microbiology. 2004;2(2):123-40.

30. Hoffman JA, Wass C, Stins MF, Kim KS. The capsule supports survival but not traversal of Escherichia coli K1 across the blood-brain barrier. Infect Immun. 1999;67(7):3566-70.

31. Dietzman DE, Fischer GW, Schoenknecht FD. Neonatal Escherichia coli septicemia--bacterial counts in blood. The Journal of pediatrics. 1974;85(1):128-30.

32. Stoll BJ, Hansen NI, Sanchez PJ, Faix RG, Poindexter BB, Van Meurs KP, et al. Early onset neonatal sepsis: the burden of group B Streptococcal and E. coli disease continues. Pediatrics. 2011;127(5):817-26.

33. van Herk W, Stocker M, van Rossum AM. Recognising early onset neonatal sepsis: An essential step in appropriate antimicrobial use. The Journal of infection. 2016.

34. Moss M. Epidemiology of sepsis: race, sex, and chronic alcohol abuse. Clin Infect Dis. 2005;41 Suppl 7:S490-7.

35. Friedrich AK, Cahan M. Intraabdominal infections in the intensive care unit. Journal of intensive care medicine. 2014;29(5):247-54.

36. Sartelli M, Catena F, Ansaloni L, Coccolini F, Corbella D, Moore EE, et al. Complicated intra-abdominal infections worldwide: the definitive data of the CIAOW Study. World Journal of Emergency Surgery. 2014;9(1):1-10.

37. Jain S, Self WH, Wunderink RG, Fakhran S, Balk R, Bramley AM, et al. Community-Acquired Pneumonia Requiring Hospitalization among U.S. Adults. New England Journal of Medicine. 2015;373(5):415-27.

38. Jones RN. Microbial etiologies of hospital-acquired bacterial pneumonia and ventilator-associated bacterial pneumonia. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;51 Suppl 1:S81-7.

39. Ko W-C, Paterson DL, Sagnimeni AJ, Hansen DS, Von Gottberg A, Mohapatra S, et al. Community-Acquired Klebsiella pneumoniae Bacteremia: Global Differences in Clinical Patterns. Emerging infectious diseases. 2002;8(2):160-6.

40. Lin YT, Jeng YY, Chen TL, Fung CP. Bacteremic community-acquired pneumonia due to Klebsiella pneumoniae: clinical and microbiological characteristics in Taiwan, 2001-2008. BMC infectious diseases. 2010;10:307.

41. Wang H, Gu X, Weng Y, Xu T, Fu Z, Peng W, et al. Quantitative analysis of pathogens in the lower respiratory tract of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. BMC pulmonary medicine. 2015;15:94.

42. Siu LK, Yeh KM, Lin JC, Fung CP, Chang FY. Klebsiella pneumoniae liver abscess: a new invasive syndrome. The Lancet Infectious diseases. 2012;12(11):881-7.

43. Fazili T, Sharngoe C, Endy T, Kiska D, Javaid W, Polhemus M. Klebsiella pneumoniae Liver Abscess: An Emerging Disease. The American journal of the medical sciences. 2016;351(3):297-304.

44. Shon AS, Bajwa RPS, Russo TA. Hypervirulent (hypermucoviscous) Klebsiella pneumoniae. Virulence. 2013;4(2):107-18.

45. Russo TA, Shon AS, Beanan JM, Olson R, MacDonald U, Pomakov AO, et al. Hypervirulent K. Pneumoniae Secretes More and More Active Iron-Acquisition Molecules than ?Classical? K. Pneumoniae Thereby Enhancing its Virulence. PLoS ONE. 2011;6(10):e26734.

46. Hsu CR, Lin TL, Chen YC, Chou HC, Wang JT. The role of Klebsiella pneumoniae rmpA in capsular polysaccharide synthesis and virulence revisited. Microbiology. 2011;157(Pt 12):3446-57.

47. Li W, Sun G, Yu Y, Li N, Chen M, Jin R, et al. Increasing Occurrence of Antimicrobial-Resistant Hypervirulent (Hypermucoviscous) Klebsiella pneumoniae Isolates in China. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2014;58(2):225-32.

48. Chambers HF. The changing epidemiology of Staphylococcus aureus? Emerging infectious diseases. 2001;7(2):178-82.

49. Harbarth S, Theuretzbacher U, Hackett J. Antibiotic research and development: business as usual? Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 2015;70(6):1604-7.

50. Silver LL. Challenges of Antibacterial Discovery. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. 2011;24(1):71-109.

51. Bhullar K, Waglechner N, Pawlowski A, Koteva K, Banks ED, Johnston MD, et al. Antibiotic Resistance Is Prevalent in an Isolated Cave Microbiome. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(4):e34953.

52. Kollef MH, Sherman G, Ward S, Fraser VJ. Inadequate antimicrobial treatment of infections: a risk factor for hospital mortality among critically ill patients. Chest. 1999;115(2):462-74.

53. Kumar A, Ellis P, Arabi Y, Roberts D, Light B, Parrillo JE, et al. Initiation of inappropriate antimicrobial therapy results in a fivefold reduction of survival in human septic shock. Chest. 2009;136(5):1237-48.

54. Liu Y-Y, Wang Y, Walsh TR, Yi L-X, Zhang R, Spencer J, et al. Emergence of plasmid-mediated colistin resistance mechanism MCR-1 in animals and human beings in China: a microbiological and molecular biological study. The Lancet Infectious Diseases.16(2):161-8.

55. McGann P, Snesrud E, Maybank R, Corey B, Ong AC, Clifford R, et al. Escherichia coli Harboring mcr-1 and blaCTX-M on a Novel IncF Plasmid: First report of mcr-1 in the USA. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 2016.

56. Spanu T, De Angelis G, Cipriani M, Pedruzzi B, D'Inzeo T, Cataldo MA, et al. In Vivo Emergence of Tigecycline Resistance in Multidrug-Resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae and Escherichia coli. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 2012;56(8):4516-8.

57. Cavaillon J-M, Legout S. Centenary of the death of Elie Metchnikoff: A visionary and an outstanding team leader. Microbes and Infection.

58. Tak T, Tesselaar K, Pillay J, Borghans JAM, Koenderman L. What's your age again? Determination of human neutrophil half-lives revisited. Journal of Leukocyte Biology. 2013;94(4):595-601.

59. Pillay J, den Braber I, Vrisekoop N, Kwast LM, de Boer RJ, Borghans JA, et al. In vivo labeling with 2H2O reveals a human neutrophil lifespan of 5.4 days. Blood. 2010;116(4):625-7.

60. Lakshman R, Finn A. Neutrophil disorders and their management. Journal of Clinical Pathology. 2001;54(1):7-19.

61. Estcourt LJ, Stanworth SJ, Hopewell S, Doree C, Trivella M, Massey E. Granulocyte transfusions for treating infections in people with neutropenia or neutrophil dysfunction. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2016(4).

62. Craig A, Mai J, Cai S, Jeyaseelan S. Neutrophil Recruitment to the Lungs during Bacterial Pneumonia. Infection and Immunity. 2009;77(2):568-75.

63. Buscher K, Wang H, Zhang X, Striewski P, Wirth B, Saggu G, et al. Protection from septic peritonitis by rapid neutrophil recruitment through omental high endothelial venules. Nat Commun. 2016;7.

64. Kadioglu A, De Filippo K, Bangert M, Fernandes VE, Richards L, Jones K, et al. The integrins Mac-1 and alpha4beta1 perform crucial roles in

neutrophil and T cell recruitment to lungs during Streptococcus pneumoniae infection. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2011;186(10):5907-15.

65. Sadik CD, Kim ND, Luster AD. Neutrophils cascading their way to inflammation. Trends in Immunology. 2011;32(10):452-60.

66. Heit B, Robbins SM, Downey CM, Guan Z, Colarusso P, Miller BJ, et al. PTEN functions to 'prioritize' chemotactic cues and prevent 'distraction' in migrating neutrophils. Nat Immunol. 2008;9(7):743-52.

67. Yao Y, Matsushima H, Ohtola JA, Geng S, Lu R, Takashima A. Neutrophil Priming Occurs in a Sequential Manner and Can Be Visualized in Living Animals by Monitoring IL-1 β Promoter Activation. The Journal of Immunology. 2015;194(3):1211-24.

68. Rainard P, Riollet C, Poutrel B, Paape MJ. Phagocytosis and killing of Staphylococcus aureus by bovine neutrophils after priming by tumor necrosis factor-alpha and the des-arginine derivative of C5a. American journal of veterinary research. 2000;61(8):951-9.

69. Condliffe AM, Kitchen E, Chilvers ER. Neutrophil priming: pathophysiological consequences and underlying mechanisms. Clinical science (London, England : 1979). 1998;94(5):461-71.

70. Sengeløv H, Follin P, Kjeldsen L, Lollike K, Dahlgren C, Borregaard N. Mobilization of granules and secretory vesicles during in vivo exudation of human neutrophils. The Journal of Immunology. 1995;154(8):4157-65.

71. Ward RA, Nakamura M, McLeish KR. Priming of the Neutrophil Respiratory Burst Involves p38 Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase-dependent Exocytosis of Flavocytochrome b 558-containing Granules. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2000;275(47):36713-9.

72. Lominadze G, Powell DW, Luerman GC, Link AJ, Ward RA, McLeish KR. Proteomic Analysis of Human Neutrophil Granules. Molecular & Cellular Proteomics. 2005;4(10):1503-21.

73. Dang PM-C, Dewas C, Gaudry M, Fay M, Pedruzzi E, Gougerot-Pocidalo M-A, et al. Priming of Human Neutrophil Respiratory Burst by Granulocyte/Macrophage Colony-stimulating Factor (GM-CSF) Involves Partial Phosphorylation of p47 phox. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1999;274(29):20704-8.

74. Dewas C, Dang PM-C, Gougerot-Pocidalo M-A, El-Benna J. TNF- α Induces Phosphorylation of p47phox in Human Neutrophils: Partial Phosphorylation of p47phox Is a Common Event of Priming of Human Neutrophils by TNF- α and Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor. The Journal of Immunology. 2003;171(8):4392-8.

75. Ward RA, Nakamura M, McLeish KR. Priming of the neutrophil respiratory burst involves p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase-dependent

exocytosis of flavocytochrome b558-containing granules. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2000;275(47):36713-9.

76. Honda F, Kano H, Kanegane H, Nonoyama S, Kim ES, Lee SK, et al. The kinase Btk negatively regulates the production of reactive oxygen species and stimulation-induced apoptosis in human neutrophils. Nat Immunol. 2012;13(4):369-78.

77. El-Benna J, Dang PM, Gougerot-Pocidalo MA. Priming of the neutrophil NADPH oxidase activation: role of p47phox phosphorylation and NOX2 mobilization to the plasma membrane. Seminars in immunopathology. 2008;30(3):279-89.

78. DeLeo FR, Renee J, McCormick S, Nakamura M, Apicella M, Weiss JP, et al. Neutrophils exposed to bacterial lipopolysaccharide upregulate NADPH oxidase assembly. J Clin Invest. 1998;101(2):455-63.

79. Borregaard N. Neutrophils, from Marrow to Microbes. Immunity. 2010;33(5):657-70.

80. Mócsai A, Ligeti E, Lowell CA, Berton G. Adhesion-Dependent Degranulation of Neutrophils Requires the Src Family Kinases Fgr and Hck. The Journal of Immunology. 1999;162(2):1120-6.

81. Nauclér C, Grinstein S, Sundler R, Tapper H. Signaling to localized degranulation in neutrophils adherent to immune complexes. Journal of Leukocyte Biology. 2002;71(4):701-10.

82. Soehnlein O, Oehmcke S, X, Rothfuchs AG, Frithiof R, van Rooijen N, et al. Neutrophil degranulation mediates severe lung damage triggered by streptococcal M1 protein. European Respiratory Journal. 2008;32(2):405-12.

83. Yousefi S, Gold JA, Andina N, Lee JJ, Kelly AM, Kozlowski E, et al. Catapult-like release of mitochondrial DNA by eosinophils contributes to antibacterial defense. Nature medicine. 2008;14(9):949-53.

84. von Kockritz-Blickwede M, Goldmann O, Thulin P, Heinemann K, Norrby-Teglund A, Rohde M, et al. Phagocytosis-independent antimicrobial activity of mast cells by means of extracellular trap formation. Blood. 2008;111(6):3070-80.

85. Schorn C, Janko C, Latzko M, Chaurio R, Schett G, Herrmann M. Monosodium urate crystals induce extracellular DNA traps in neutrophils, eosinophils, and basophils but not in mononuclear cells. Frontiers in immunology. 2012;3:277.

86. Kisseleva T, von Kockritz-Blickwede M, Reichart D, McGillvray SM, Wingender G, Kronenberg M, et al. Fibrocyte-like cells recruited to the spleen support innate and adaptive immune responses to acute injury or infection. Journal of molecular medicine (Berlin, Germany). 2011;89(10):997-1013.

87. Chow OA, von Kockritz-Blickwede M, Bright AT, Hensler ME, Zinkernagel AS, Cogen AL, et al. Statins enhance formation of phagocyte extracellular traps. Cell host & microbe. 2010;8(5):445-54.

88. Bartneck M, Keul HA, Zwadlo-Klarwasser G, Groll J. Phagocytosis independent extracellular nanoparticle clearance by human immune cells. Nano letters. 2010;10(1):59-63.

89. Rada B, Jendrysik MA, Pang L, Hayes CP, Yoo DG, Park JJ, et al. Pyocyanin-enhanced neutrophil extracellular trap formation requires the NADPH oxidase. PLoS One. 2013;8(1):e54205.

90. von Köckritz-Blickwede M, Blodkamp S, Nizet V. Interaction of Bacterial Exotoxins with Neutrophil Extracellular Traps: Impact for the Infected Host. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2016;7:402.

91. Jenne Craig N, Wong Connie HY, Zemp Franz J, McDonald B, Rahman Masmudur M, Forsyth Peter A, et al. Neutrophils Recruited to Sites of Infection Protect from Virus Challenge by Releasing Neutrophil Extracellular Traps. Cell host & microbe. 2013;13(2):169-80.

92. Yousefi S, Mihalache C, Kozlowski E, Schmid I, Simon HU. Viable neutrophils release mitochondrial DNA to form neutrophil extracellular traps. Cell death and differentiation. 2009;16(11):1438-44.

93. Branzk N, Lubojemska A, Hardison SE, Wang Q, Gutierrez MG, Brown GD, et al. Neutrophils sense microbial size and selectively release neutrophil extracellular traps in response to large pathogens. Nature immunology. 2014;15(11):1017-25.

94. Ammollo CT, Semeraro N, Carratù MR, Colucci M, Semeraro F. Histones Differentially Modulate the Anticoagulant and Profibrinolytic Activities of Heparin, Heparin Derivatives, and Dabigatran. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. 2016;356(2):305-13.

95. Czaikoski PG, Mota JM, Nascimento DC, Sonego F, Castanheira FV, Melo PH, et al. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Induce Organ Damage during Experimental and Clinical Sepsis. PLoS One. 2016;11(2):e0148142.

96. Freeman SA, Grinstein S. Phagocytosis: receptors, signal integration, and the cytoskeleton. Immunol Rev. 2014;262(1):193-215.

97. Champion JA, Mitragotri S. Role of target geometry in phagocytosis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2006;103(13):4930-4.

98. Beningo KA, Wang Y-I. Fc-receptor-mediated phagocytosis is regulated by mechanical properties of the target. Journal of Cell Science. 2002;115(4):849-56.

99. Zhang Y, Hoppe AD, Swanson JA. Coordination of Fc receptor signaling regulates cellular commitment to phagocytosis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2010;107(45):19332-7.

100. Sanchez-Mejorada G, Rosales C. Signal transduction by immunoglobulin Fc receptors. J Leukoc Biol. 1998;63(5):521-33.

101. Ghazizadeh S, Fleit HB. Tyrosine phosphorylation provides an obligatory early signal for Fc gamma RII-mediated endocytosis in the monocytic cell line THP-1. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 1994;152(1):30-41.

102. Sobota A, Strzelecka-Kiliszek A, Gładkowska E, Yoshida K, Mrozińska K, Kwiatkowska K. Binding of IgG-Opsonized Particles to FcγR Is an Active Stage of Phagocytosis That Involves Receptor Clustering and Phosphorylation. The Journal of Immunology. 2005;175(7):4450-7.

103. Tzircotis G, Braga Vm Fau - Caron E, Caron E. RhoG is required for both FcgammaR- and CR3-mediated phagocytosis. (1477-9137 (Electronic)).

104. Groves E, Dart A, Covarelli V, Caron E. Molecular mechanisms of phagocytic uptake in mammalian cells. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences. 2008;65(13):1957-76.

105. Chimini G, Chavrier P. Function of Rho family proteins in actin dynamics during phagocytosis and engulfment. Nat Cell Biol. 2000;2(10):E191-E6.

106. Steinberg BE, Grinstein S. Pathogen destruction versus intracellular survival: the role of lipids as phagosomal fate determinants. The Journal of Clinical Investigation. 2008;118(6):2002-11.

107. Scott CC, Botelho JR, Grinstein S. Phagosome Maturation: A Few Bugs in the System. The Journal of Membrane Biology. 2003;193(3):137-52.

108. Vieira OV, Botelho RJ, Grinstein S. Phagosome maturation: aging gracefully. The Biochemical journal. 2002;366(Pt 3):689-704.

109. Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Fc[gamma] receptors as regulators of immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8(1):34-47.

110. Fanciulli M, Vyse TJ, Aitman TJ. Copy number variation of Fc gamma receptor genes and disease predisposition. Cytogenetic and genome research. 2008;123(1-4):161-8.

111. Alemán OR, Mora N, Cortes-Vieyra R, Uribe-Querol E, Rosales C. Differential Use of Human Neutrophil Fcγ Receptors for Inducing Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation. Journal of Immunology Research. 2016;2016:2908034.

112. Schwab I, Nimmerjahn F. Intravenous immunoglobulin therapy: how does IgG modulate the immune system? Nat Rev Immunol. 2013;13(3):176-89.

113. Driessen G, van der Burg M. Educational paper. European Journal of Pediatrics. 2011;170(6):693-702.

114. Dunkelberger JR, Song W-C. Complement and its role in innate and adaptive immune responses. Cell Res. 2009;20(1):34-50.

115. Rhein LM, Perkins M, Gerard NP, Gerard C. FcγRIII Is Protective against Pseudomonas aeruginosa Pneumonia. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology. 2008;38(4):401-6.

116. Hotchkiss RS, Monneret G, Payen D. Sepsis-induced immunosuppression: from cellular dysfunctions to immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013;13(12):862-74.

117. Boomer JS, To K, Chang KC, Takasu O, Osborne DF, Walton AH, et al. Immunosuppression in Patients Who Die of Sepsis and Multiple Organ Failure. Jama. 2011;306(23):2594-605.

118. Xiao W, Mindrinos MN, Seok J, Cuschieri J, Cuenca AG, Gao H, et al. A genomic storm in critically injured humans. The Journal of Experimental Medicine. 2011;208(13):2581-90.

119. Boomer JS, To K, Chang KC, Takasu O, Osborne DF, Walton AH, et al. Immunosuppression in Patients Who Die of Sepsis and Multiple Organ Failure. JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association. 2011;306(23):2594-605.

120. Otto GP, Sossdorf M, Claus RA, Rödel J, Menge K, Reinhart K, et al. The late phase of sepsis is characterized by an increased microbiological burden and death rate. Critical Care. 2011;15(4):R183-R.

121. Torgersen C, Moser P, Luckner G, Mayr V, Jochberger S, Hasibeder WR, et al. Macroscopic postmortem findings in 235 surgical intensive care patients with sepsis. Anesthesia and analgesia. 2009;108(6):1841-7.

122. Karlsson S, Ruokonen E, Varpula T, Ala-Kokko TI, Pettila V. Longterm outcome and quality-adjusted life years after severe sepsis. Crit Care Med. 2009;37(4):1268-74.

123. Arens C, Bajwa SA, Koch C, Siegler BH, Schneck E, Hecker A, et al. Sepsis-induced long-term immune paralysis - results of a descriptive, explorative study. Critical care (London, England). 2016;20(1):93.

124. Drifte G, Dunn-Siegrist I Fau - Tissieres P, Tissieres P Fau - Pugin J, Pugin J. Innate immune functions of immature neutrophils in patients with sepsis and severe systemic inflammatory response syndrome. (1530-0293 (Electronic)).
125. Lu X, Lv C, Qu Y, Luo Y, Lin B, Zhan L, et al. Sepsis-induced impairment of neutrophil chemotaxis on a microfluidic chip. Immunology Letters. 2016;173:55-60.

126. Jones CN, Moore M, Dimisko L, Alexander A, Ibrahim A, Hassell BA, et al. Spontaneous Neutrophil Migration Patterns during Sepsis after Major Burns. PLoS ONE. 2014;9(12):e114509.

127. van den Berg CW, Tambourgi DV, Clark HW, Hoong SJ, Spiller OB, McGreal EP. Mechanism of neutrophil dysfunction: neutrophil serine proteases cleave and inactivate the C5a receptor. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2014;192(4):1787-95.

128. Conway Morris A, Kefala K, Wilkinson TS, Dhaliwal K, Farrell L, Walsh T, et al. C5a mediates peripheral blood neutrophil dysfunction in critically ill patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2009;180(1):19-28.

129. Morris AC, Brittan M, Wilkinson TS, McAuley DF, Antonelli J, McCulloch C, et al. C5a-mediated neutrophil dysfunction is RhoA-dependent and predicts infection in critically ill patients. Blood. 2011;117(19):5178-88.

130. Xu R, Lin F, Bao C, Huang H, Ji C, Wang S, et al. Complement 5a receptor-mediated neutrophil dysfunction is associated with a poor outcome in sepsis. Cell Mol Immunol. 2016;13(1):103-9.

131. Flierl MA, Stahel PF, Rittirsch D, Huber-Lang M, Niederbichler AD, Hoesel LM, et al. Inhibition of complement C5a prevents breakdown of the blood-brain barrier and pituitary dysfunction in experimental sepsis. Critical care (London, England). 2009;13(1):R12.

132. Laudes IJ, Chu JC, Sikranth S, Huber-Lang M, Guo RF, Riedemann N, et al. Anti-c5a ameliorates coagulation/fibrinolytic protein changes in a rat model of sepsis. The American journal of pathology. 2002;160(5):1867-75.

133. Huber-Lang MS, Sarma JV, McGuire SR, Lu KT, Guo RF, Padgaonkar VA, et al. Protective effects of anti-C5a peptide antibodies in experimental sepsis. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2001;15(3):568-70.

134. Wang JF, Li JB, Zhao YJ, Yi WJ, Bian JJ, Wan XJ, et al. Up-regulation of programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 on neutrophils may be involved in sepsis-induced immunosuppression: an animal study and a prospective case-control study. Anesthesiology. 2015;122(4):852-63.

135. Remington LT, Sligl WI. Community-acquired pneumonia. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2014;20(3):215-24.

136. Levy ML, Le Jeune I, Woodhead MA, Macfarlaned JT, Lim WS. Primary care summary of the British Thoracic Society Guidelines for the management of community acquired pneumonia in adults: 2009 update. Endorsed by the Royal College of General Practitioners and the Primary

Care Respiratory Society UK. Primary care respiratory journal : journal of the General Practice Airways Group. 2010;19(1):21-7.

137. Dellinger RP, Levy Mm Fau - Rhodes A, Rhodes A Fau - Annane D, Annane D Fau - Gerlach H, Gerlach H Fau - Opal SM, Opal Sm Fau - Sevransky JE, et al. Surviving Sepsis Campaign: international guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock, 2012. 2013(1432-1238).

138. Gupta RG, Hartigan SM, Kashiouris MG, Sessler CN, Bearman GML. Early goal-directed resuscitation of patients with septic shock: current evidence and future directions. Critical Care. 2015;19(1):286.

139. Kumar A, Roberts D, Wood KE, Light B, Parrillo JE, Sharma S, et al. Duration of hypotension before initiation of effective antimicrobial therapy is the critical determinant of survival in human septic shock. Crit Care Med. 2006;34(6):1589-96.

140. Ranieri VM, Thompson BT, Barie PS, Dhainaut JF, Douglas IS, Finfer S, et al. Drotrecogin alfa (activated) in adults with septic shock. The New England journal of medicine. 2012;366(22):2055-64.

141. Damiani E, Donati A, Serafini G, Rinaldi L, Adrario E, Pelaia P, et al. Effect of Performance Improvement Programs on Compliance with Sepsis Bundles and Mortality: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies. PLoS ONE. 2015;10(5):e0125827.

142. Hutchins NA, Unsinger J, Hotchkiss RS, Ayala A. The new normal: immunomodulatory agents against sepsis immune suppression. Trends in Molecular Medicine. 2014;20(4):224-33.

143. Annane D, Bellissant E, Bollaert PE, Briegel J, Keh D, Kupfer Y. Corticosteroids for treating sepsis. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2015(12):Cd002243.

144. Deshpande A, Pasupuleti V, Rothberg MB. Statin therapy and mortality from sepsis: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. The American journal of medicine. 2015;128(4):410-7.e1.

145. Meisel C, Schefold Jc Fau - Pschowski R, Pschowski R Fau -Baumann T, Baumann T Fau - Hetzger K, Hetzger K Fau - Gregor J, Gregor J Fau - Weber-Carstens S, et al. Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor to reverse sepsis-associated immunosuppression: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled multicenter trial. (1535-4970 (Electronic)).

146. NIH. GM-CSF to Decrease ICU Acquired Infections 2016 [cited 2016 June 28th]. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/archive/NCT02361528.

147. NIH. A Study of IL-7 to Restore Absolute Lymphocyte Counts in Sepsis Patients (IRIS-7-B) 2016 [cited 2016 June 28th]. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT02640807.

148. Chang K, Svabek C, Vazquez-Guillamet C, Sato B, Rasche D, Wilson S, et al. Targeting the programmed cell death 1: programmed cell death ligand 1 pathway reverses T cell exhaustion in patients with sepsis. Critical care (London, England). 2014;18(1):R3.

149. Swaika A, Hammond WA, Joseph RW. Current state of anti-PD-L1 and anti-PD-1 agents in cancer therapy. Molecular Immunology. 2015;67(2, Part A):4-17.

150. Casadevall A. Antibody-based therapies for emerging infectious diseases. Emerging infectious diseases. 1996;2(3):200-8.

151. Casadevall A, Scharff MD. Serum therapy revisited: animal models of infection and development of passive antibody therapy. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1994;38(8):1695-702.

152. Hey A. History and Practice: Antibodies in Infectious Diseases. Microbiology spectrum. 2015;3(2):Aid-0026-2014.

153. Negi V-S, Elluru S, SibÉRil S, Graff-Dubois S, Mouthon LUC, Kazatchkine DM, et al. Intravenous Immunoglobulin: An Update on the Clinical Use and Mechanisms of Action. Journal of Clinical Immunology. 2007;27(3):233-45.

154. Vassilev T, Bauer M. Passive immunotherapy of sepsis with intravenous immune globulin: not all IVIg preparations are created equal. Critical Care. 2012;16(1):407-.

155. Shankar-Hari M, Spencer J, Sewell WA, Rowan KM, Singer M. Benchto-bedside review: Immunoglobulin therapy for sepsis - biological plausibility from a critical care perspective. Critical Care. 2012;16(2):206-.

156. Soares MO, Welton NJ, Harrison DA, Peura P, Shankar- Hari M, Harvey SE, et al. An evaluation of the feasibility, cost and value of information of a multicentre randomised controlled trial of intravenous immunoglobulin for sepsis (severe sepsis and septic shock): incorporating a systematic review, meta-analysis and value of information analysis. Health technology assessment (Winchester, England). 2012;16(7):1-186.

157. Rajam G, Sampson J, Carlone GM, Ades EW. An augmented passive immune therapy to treat fulminant bacterial infections. Recent patents on anti-infective drug discovery. 2010;5(2):157-67.

158. Rajam G, Anderton JM, Carlone GM, Sampson JS, Ades EW. Pneumococcal surface adhesin A (PsaA): a review. Critical reviews in microbiology. 2008;34(3-4):131-42.

159. Romerosteiner S, Caba J, Rajam G, Langley T, Floyd A, Johnson S, et al. Adherence of recombinant pneumococcal surface adhesin A (rPsaA)-coated particles to human nasopharyngeal epithelial cells for the evaluation of anti-PsaA functional antibodies. Vaccine. 2006;24(16):3224-31.

160. Rajam G, Phillips DJ, White E, Anderton J, Hooper CW, Sampson JS, et al. A functional epitope of the pneumococcal surface adhesin A activates nasopharyngeal cells and increases bacterial internalization. Microb Pathog. 2008;44(3):186-96.

161. Melnick N, Rajam G, Carlone GM, Sampson JS, Ades EW. Evaluation of a Novel Therapeutic Approach to Treating Severe Pneumococcal Infection Using a Mouse Model. Clinical and Vaccine Immunology. 2009;16(6):806-10.

162. Bangert M, Wright AK, Rylance J, Kelly MJ, Wright AD, Carlone GM, et al. Immunoactivating peptide p4 augments alveolar macrophage phagocytosis in two diverse human populations. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2013;57(9):4566-9.

163. Rajam G, Skinner J, Melnick N, Martinez J, Carlone GM, Sampson JS, et al. A 28-aa pneumococcal surface adhesin A-derived peptide, P4, augments passive immunotherapy and rescues mice from fatal pneumococcal infection. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2009;199(8):1233-8.

164. Rajam G, Bangert M, Hammons GM, Melnick N, Carlone GM, Sampson JS, et al. P4 Peptide Therapy Rescues Aged Mice from Fatal Pneumococcal Sepsis. Clinical and Vaccine Immunology. 2010;17(11):1823-4.

165. Rajam G, Hammons GM, Carlone GM, Sampson JS, Ades EW. A Novel Innate Immune-Enhancement Strategy Combined with IVIG Rescues Mice from Fatal Staphylococcus aureus Septicemia. International journal of microbiology. 2011;2011:725483.

166. Weeks JN, Boyd KL, Rajam G, Ades EW, McCullers JA. Immunotherapy with a combination of intravenous immune globulin and p4 peptide rescues mice from postinfluenza pneumococcal pneumonia. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2011;55(5):2276-81.

167. Bangert M, Bricio-Moreno L, Gore S, Rajam G, Ades EW, Gordon SB, et al. P4-Mediated Antibody Therapy in an Acute Model of Invasive Pneumococcal Disease. Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2012;205(9):1399-407.

168. Venet F, Gebeile R, Bancel J, Guignant C, Poitevin-Later F, Malcus C, et al. Assessment of plasmatic immunoglobulin G, A and M levels in septic shock patients. International Immunopharmacology. 2011;11(12):2086-90.

169. Jin L, Batra S, Douda DN, Palaniyar N, Jeyaseelan S. CXCL1 Contributes to Host Defense in Polymicrobial Sepsis via Modulating T Cell and Neutrophil Functions. The Journal of Immunology. 2014;193(7):3549-58.

170. Ertel W, Keel M, Steckholzer U, Ungethum U, Trentz O. Interleukin-10 attenuates the release of proinflammatory cytokines but depresses splenocyte functions in murine endotoxemia. Archives of surgery (Chicago, III : 1960). 1996;131(1):51-6.

171. Interleukin 10 protects mice from lethal endotoxemia. The Journal of Experimental Medicine. 1993;177(4):1205-8.

172. Marchant A, Bruyns C, Vandenabeele P, Ducarme M, Gerard C, Delvaux A, et al. Interleukin-10 controls interferon-gamma and tumor necrosis factor production during experimental endotoxemia. Eur J Immunol. 1994;24(5):1167-71.

173. Song GY, Chung CS, Chaudry IH, Ayala A. What is the role of interleukin 10 in polymicrobial sepsis: anti-inflammatory agent or immunosuppressant? Surgery. 1999;126(2):378-83.

174. Latifi SQ, O'Riordan MA, Levine AD. Interleukin-10 Controls the Onset of Irreversible Septic Shock. Infection and Immunity. 2002;70(8):4441-6.

175. Fujii S Fau - Hitomi Y, Hitomi Y. New synthetic inhibitors of C1r, C1 esterase, thrombin, plasmin, kallikrein and trypsin. (0006-3002 (Print)).

176. Ueda T, Aoyama-Ishikawa M, Nakao A, Yamada T, Usami M, Kotani J. A simple scoring system based on neutrophil count in sepsis patients. Medical Hypotheses. 2014;82(3):382-6.

177. Farias MG, de Lucena NP, Dal Bo S, de Castro SM. Neutrophil CD64 expression as an important diagnostic marker of infection and sepsis in hospital patients. (1872-7905 (Electronic)).

178. Davis BH, Olsen SH, Ahmad E, Bigelow NC. Neutrophil CD64 Is an Improved Indicator of Infection or Sepsis in Emergency Department Patients. Archives of Pathology & Laboratory Medicine. 2006;130(5):654-61.

179. Hsu K-H, Chan M-C, Wang J-M, Lin L-Y, Wu C-L. Comparison of Fcγ receptor expression on neutrophils with procalcitonin for the diagnosis of sepsis in critically ill patients. Respirology (Carlton, Vic). 2011;16(1):152-60.

180. Holzheimer RG. Antibiotic induced endotoxin release and clinical sepsis: a review. Journal of chemotherapy (Florence, Italy). 2001;13 Spec No 1(1):159-72.

181. Gupta RG, Hartigan SM, Kashiouris MG, Sessler CN, Bearman GM. Early goal-directed resuscitation of patients with septic shock: current evidence and future directions. Critical care (London, England). 2015;19:286.

182. Rajam G, Phillips D, White E, Anderton J, Hooper C, Sampson J, et al. A functional epitope of the pneumococcal surface adhesin A activates nasopharyngeal cells and increases bacterial internalization. Microbial pathogenesis. 2008;44(3):186-96.

183. Kim HS, Armstrong D Fau - Hamilton TA, Hamilton Ta Fau - Tebo JM, Tebo JM. IL-10 suppresses LPS-induced KC mRNA expression via a translation-dependent decrease in mRNA stability. (0741-5400 (Print)).

184. Biswas R, Datta S Fau - Gupta JD, Gupta Jd Fau - Novotny M, Novotny M Fau - Tebo J, Tebo J Fau - Hamilton TA, Hamilton TA. Regulation of chemokine mRNA stability by lipopolysaccharide and IL-10. (0022-1767 (Print)).

185. Kim HS, Shin DH, Kim SK. Effects of interleukin-10 on chemokine KC gene expression by mouse peritoneal macrophages in response to Candida albicans. Journal of Korean Medical Science. 1999;14(5):480-6.

186. Crosby HA, Bion JF, Penn CW, Elliott TS. Antibiotic-induced release of endotoxin from bacteria in vitro. J Med Microbiol. 1994;40(1):23-30.

187. Kozicky LK, Zhao ZY, Menzies SC, Fidanza M, Reid GS, Wilhelmsen K, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin skews macrophages to an antiinflammatory, IL-10-producing activation state. J Leukoc Biol. 2015;98(6):983-94.

188. Lewkowicz N, Mycko MP, Przygodzka P, Cwiklinska H, Cichalewska M, Matysiak M, et al. Induction of human IL-10-producing neutrophils by LPS-stimulated Treg cells and IL-10. Mucosal Immunol. 2016;9(2):364-78.

189. Lee H, Whitfeld PL, Mackay CR. Receptors for complement C5a. The importance of C5aR and the enigmatic role of C5L2. Immunol Cell Biol. 2008;86(2):153-60.

190. Webster RO, Larsen GL, Henson PM. In vivo clearance and tissue distribution of C5a and C5a des arginine complement fragments in rabbits. J Clin Invest. 1982;70(6):1177-83.

191. Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Fc-receptors as regulators of immunity. Advances in immunology. 2007;96:179-204.

192. Marshall JC, Walker PM, Foster DM, Harris D, Ribeiro M, Paice J, et al. Measurement of endotoxin activity in critically ill patients using whole blood neutrophil dependent chemiluminescence. Critical Care. 2002;6(4):342-8.

193. Yoshida K, Matsumoto T, Tateda K, Uchida K, Tsujimoto S, Yamaguchi K. Induction of interleukin-10 and down-regulation of cytokine production by Klebsiella pneumoniae capsule in mice with pulmonary infection. J Med Microbiol. 2001;50(5):456-61.

194. WHO. The top 10 causes of death. 2013

195. Murray CJL, Vos T, Lozano R, Naghavi M, Flaxman AD, Michaud C, et al. Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. The Lancet. 2012;380(9859):2197-223.

196. Welte T, Torres A, Nathwani D. Clinical and economic burden of community-acquired pneumonia among adults in Europe. Thorax. 2012;67(1):71-9.

197. Torres A, Peetermans WE, Viegi G, Blasi F. Risk factors for community-acquired pneumonia in adults in Europe: a literature review. Thorax. 2013;68(11):1057-65.

198. Woodhead M, Welch Ca Fau - Harrison DA, Harrison Da Fau - Bellingan G, Bellingan G Fau - Ayres JG, Ayres JG. Community-acquired pneumonia on the intensive care unit: secondary analysis of 17,869 cases in the ICNARC Case Mix Programme Database. Critical Care. 2006(1466-609X (Electronic)).

199. Romero-Steiner S, Frasch CE, Carlone G, Fleck RA, Goldblatt D, Nahm MH. Use of opsonophagocytosis for serological evaluation of pneumococcal vaccines. Clinical and vaccine immunology : CVI. 2006;13(2):165-9.

200. Collins AM, Rylance J, Wootton DG, Wright AD, Wright AKA, Fullerton DG, et al. Bronchoalveolar Lavage (BAL) for Research; Obtaining Adequate Sample Yield. 2014(85):e4345.

201. van den Akker EL, Baan CC, van den Berg B, Russcher H, Joosten K, Hokken-Koelega AC, et al. Ficoll-separated mononuclear cells from sepsis patients are contaminated with granulocytes. Intensive care medicine. 2008;34(5):912-6.

202. Drifte G, Dunn-Siegrist I, Tissieres P, Pugin J. Innate immune functions of immature neutrophils in patients with sepsis and severe systemic inflammatory response syndrome. Crit Care Med. 2013;41(3):820-32.

203. Stillie R, Farooq SM, Gordon JR, Stadnyk AW. The functional significance behind expressing two IL-8 receptor types on PMN. Journal of Leukocyte Biology. 2009;86(3):529-43.

204. Ward P. The harmful role of c5a on innate immunity in sepsis. Journal of innate immunity. 2010;2(5):439-45.

205. Ward P, Gao H. Sepsis, complement and the dysregulated inflammatory response. Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine. 2009;13(10):4154-60.

206. Belostocki K, Pricop L, Redecha PB, Aydin A, Leff L, Harrison MJ, et al. Infliximab treatment shifts the balance between stimulatory and inhibitory Fcgamma receptor type II isoforms on neutrophils in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2008;58(2):384-8.

207. van Mirre E, Breunis WB, Geissler J, Hack CE, de Boer M, Roos D, et al. Neutrophil responsiveness to IgG, as determined by fixed ratios of mRNA levels for activating and inhibitory FcgammaRII (CD32), is stable over time and unaffected by cytokines. Blood. 2006;108(2):584-90.

208. Stillie R, Farooq SM, Gordon JR, Stadnyk AW. The functional significance behind expressing two IL-8 receptor types on PMN. J Leukoc Biol. 2009;86(3):529-43.

209. Martire-Greco D, Rodriguez-Rodrigues N, Landoni VI, Rearte B, Isturiz MA, Fernández GC. Interleukin-10 controls human peripheral PMN activation triggered by lipopolysaccharide. Cytokine. 2013;62(3):426-32.

210. Dejager L, Pinheiro I, Dejonckheere E, Libert C. Cecal ligation and puncture: the gold standard model for polymicrobial sepsis? Trends Microbiol. 2011;19(4):198-208.

211. Nasser MW, Raghuwanshi SK, Grant DJ, Jala VR, Rajarathnam K, Richardson RM. Differential activation and regulation of CXCR1 and CXCR2 by CXCL8 monomer and dimer. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2009;183(5):3425-32.

212. Bechara C, Sagan S. Cell-penetrating peptides: 20 years later, where do we stand? FEBS Letters. 2013;587(12):1693-702.

213. Butcher SK, Chahal H, Nayak L, Sinclair A, Henriquez NV, Sapey E, et al. Senescence in innate immune responses: reduced neutrophil phagocytic capacity and CD16 expression in elderly humans. J Leukoc Biol. 2001;70(6):881-6.

214. Delaloye J, Calandra T. Invasive candidiasis as a cause of sepsis in the critically ill patient. Virulence. 2014;5(1):161-9.

215. Schmiedel Y, Zimmerli S. Common invasive fungal diseases: an overview of invasive candidiasis, aspergillosis, cryptococcosis, and Pneumocystis pneumonia. Swiss medical weekly. 2016;146:w14281.

216. Campoy S, Adrio JL. Antifungals. Biochemical pharmacology. 2016.